
No securities regulatory authority has expressed an opinion about these securities and it is an offence to claim otherwise.  

This prospectus supplement (the “Prospectus Supplement”), together with the short form base shelf prospectus dated December 5, 2019 to which it relates, as amended or 
supplemented (the “Base Shelf Prospectus”), and each document deemed to be incorporated by reference into this Prospectus Supplement and the Base Shelf Prospectus, 
as amended or supplemented (collectively, the “Prospectus”), constitutes a public offering of these securities only in those jurisdictions where they may be lawfully offered 
for sale and only by persons permitted to sell such securities. 

The securities offered under the Prospectus have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “U.S. Securities Act”) 
or the securities laws of any state of the United States. Accordingly, these securities may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit 
of any, U.S. persons (as such term is defined in Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act), except pursuant to transactions exempt from registration under the U.S. 
Securities Act and applicable state securities laws. This short form prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy any of these securities 
within the United States. See “Plan of Distribution”. 

Information has been incorporated by reference in the Prospectus from documents filed with securities commissions or similar authorities in Canada. Copies of the 
documents incorporated herein by reference may be obtained on request without charge from the secretary of WPT Industrial Real Estate Investment Trust at its head 
offices located at 199 Bay Street, Suite 4000, Toronto, ON, M5L 1A9, Canada, telephone (612) 800-8503, Attention: Chief Operating Officer, General Counsel & 
Secretary and are also available electronically at www.sedar.com (“SEDAR”).

PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT 
TO THE SHORT FORM BASE SHELF PROSPECTUS DATED DECEMBER 5, 2019 

New Issue February 20, 2020 

WPT INDUSTRIAL REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST 

US$203,052,500 

14,150,000 Subscription Receipts 
each representing the right to receive one Unit 

The Prospectus qualifies the distribution (the “Offering”) of 14,150,000 subscription receipts (the “Subscription Receipts”) of WPT 
Industrial Real Estate Investment Trust (the “REIT”) at a price of US$14.35 per Subscription Receipt (the “Offering Price”). Each 
Subscription Receipt will entitle the holder thereof to receive one trust unit of the REIT (each, a “Unit”) upon completion of the Acquisition 
(as defined herein) by the REIT without payment of any additional consideration or any further action on the part of the holder. The Offering 
is being made pursuant to an underwriting agreement dated February 20, 2020 (the “Underwriting Agreement”) among the REIT and a 
syndicate of underwriters co-led by Desjardins Securities Inc., BMO Nesbitt Burns Inc. and RBC Dominion Securities Inc. (together, the 
“Co-Lead Underwriters”), with Desjardins Securities Inc., BMO Nesbitt Burns Inc. and RBC Dominion Securities Inc. acting as joint 
bookrunners, and including CIBC World Markets Inc., National Bank Financial Inc., Scotia Capital Inc., TD Securities Inc., Canaccord 
Genuity Corp., Industrial Alliance Securities Inc. and Morgan Stanley Canada Limited (collectively, the “Underwriters”).  

The proceeds from the sale of the Subscription Receipts, net of 50% of the fee payable to the Underwriters (together with Earned Interest 
(as defined herein), the “Escrowed Funds”), will be delivered to and held by Computershare Trust Company of Canada, as subscription 
receipt agent (the “Subscription Receipt Agent”), as agent and bailee on behalf of the holders of Subscription Receipts, and will be invested 
in a U.S. dollar account of a Canadian chartered bank (and other approved investments) pending the earlier of: (a) the satisfaction or waiver 
of all conditions precedent to the Acquisition (as defined herein) in accordance with the terms of the Acquisition Agreement (as defined 
herein), without amendment or waiver in a manner that would be materially adverse to the terms and conditions upon which the REIT is 
effecting the Acquisition, unless the consent of the Co-Lead Underwriters and AIMCo (as defined herein) is given to such amendment or 
waiver other than (i) the payment of the consideration to be paid for the Acquisition for which the Escrowed Funds and the proceeds of the 
Concurrent Private Placement (as defined herein) are required, and (ii) such conditions precedent that by their nature are to be satisfied at 
the time of the completion of the Acquisition (collectively, the “Escrow Release Conditions”) and the delivery of an escrow release notice 
(the “Escrow Release Notice”) by the REIT to the Subscription Receipt Agent and the Co-Lead Underwriters, and (b) the occurrence of a 
Termination Event (as defined herein). Upon the satisfaction of the Escrow Release Conditions and delivery of the Escrow Release Notice 
prior to the occurrence of a Termination Event: (1) one Unit will be automatically issued in exchange for each Subscription Receipt, without 
payment of additional consideration or any further action on the part of the holder; (2) the Subscription Receipt Adjustment Payment (as 
defined herein), if any, less applicable withholding taxes, if any, will become payable in respect of each Subscription Receipt; and (3) the 
Escrowed Funds (less the remaining 50% of the Underwriters’ Fee (as defined herein) payable and less amounts required to pay the 
Subscription Receipt Adjustment Payment) will be released to the REIT which will then be utilized to fund a portion of the purchase price 
of the Acquisition and the REIT’s expenses of the Acquisition.  

If (a) the completion of the Acquisition does not occur on or before 5:00 p.m. (Toronto time) on June 30, 2020, (b) the REIT delivers to the 
Underwriters and the Subscription Receipt Agent a notice, executed by the REIT, declaring that the Acquisition Agreement has been 
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terminated or that the REIT will not be proceeding with the Acquisition, or (c) the REIT formally announces to the public by way of a press 
release that it does not intend to proceed with the Acquisition (each, a “Termination Event”), each Subscription Receipt will entitle the 
holder thereof to receive an amount equal to the aggregate of (i) the Offering Price, (ii) the pro rata share of the interest or other income 
actually earned on the investment of the Escrowed Funds in respect of the Subscription Receipt from, and including, the date of the Offering 
Closing (as defined herein) to, but excluding, the date of the Termination Event (the “Earned Interest”), and (iii) the pro rata share of the 
interest in respect of the Subscription Receipt that would have otherwise been earned on the 50% of the Underwriters’ Fee (as defined 
herein) paid to the Underwriters on the Offering Closing as if such 50% of the Underwriters’ Fee had been held in escrow as part of the 
Escrowed Funds and not paid to the Underwriters (the “Deemed Interest”), less applicable withholding taxes, if any. In the event that the 
gross proceeds of the Offering are required to be remitted to purchasers of the Subscription Receipts, the REIT will pay an amount equal to 
50% of the Underwriters’ Fee payable with respect to the Offering plus the Deemed Interest such that all of the gross proceeds of the 
Offering would be refunded to purchasers of the Subscription Receipts. See “Description of the Subscription Receipts”.  

The REIT is an unincorporated, open-ended real estate investment trust governed by the laws of the Province of Ontario pursuant to an 
amended and restated declaration of trust dated April 26, 2013, as further amended or amended and restated from time to time (the 
“Declaration of Trust”). The currently issued and outstanding Units are listed and posted for trading on the Toronto Stock Exchange (the 
“TSX”) in U.S. dollars under the symbol “WIR.U” and in Canadian dollars under the symbol “WIR.UN”. The TSX has conditionally 
approved the listing of the Subscription Receipts and the Units issuable upon exchange of the Subscription Receipts (and the Option 
Subscription Receipts (as defined herein) and the Option Units (as defined herein)) to be distributed under the Prospectus on the TSX. 
Listing is subject to the REIT fulfilling all of the listing requirements of the TSX on or before the third business day preceding the Closing 
Date (as defined herein). The closing price of the Units on the TSX on February 14, 2020, the last trading day prior to the announcement 
of the Offering was US$14.73 and Cdn$19.57. The closing price of the Units on the TSX on February 19, 2020, the last trading day prior 
to the filing of this Prospectus Supplement, was US$14.52 and Cdn$19.25. There is currently no market through which the Subscription 
Receipts may be sold and purchasers may not be able to resell Subscription Receipts purchased hereunder. This may affect the 
pricing of the Subscription Receipts in the secondary market, the transparency and availability of trading prices, the liquidity of 
the Subscription Receipts and the extent of issuer regulation. See “Risk Factors”.

Price: US$14.35 per Subscription 
Receipt 

Price to the 
Public(1) Underwriters’ Fee 

Net Proceeds to 
the REIT(2)

Per Subscription Receipt ................................... US$14.35 US$0.574 US$13.776
Total(3) ............................................................... US$203,052,500 US$8,122,100 US$194,930,400

Notes: 

(1) The Offering Price was determined by negotiation among the REIT and the Co-Lead Underwriters, on their own behalf and on behalf of the other Underwriters. 

(2) After deducting the cash fee payable to the Underwriters (the “Underwriters’ Fee”), but before deducting expenses of the Offering estimated at US$852,000 
(excluding interest, if any, on the Escrowed Funds and transaction costs associated with the Acquisition), which, together with the Underwriters’ Fee, will be paid 
from the proceeds of the Offering. The Underwriters’ Fee is payable as to 50% upon the Offering Closing and 50% upon completion of the Acquisition. If the 
Acquisition is not completed, the Underwriters’ Fee will be reduced to the amount payable upon the Offering Closing. 

(3) The REIT has granted to the Underwriters an option (the “Over-Allotment Option”), exercisable at their sole discretion in whole or in part at any one time up to 
the earlier of (a) 30 days after the Offering Closing, and (b) the occurrence of a Termination Event, to purchase up to an additional 2,122,500 Subscription Receipts 
(the “Option Subscription Receipts”) at the Offering Price (equal to 15% of the aggregate number of Subscription Receipts sold pursuant to the Offering) and on 
the same terms as set forth above for the purpose of covering the Underwriters’ over-allocation position, if any, and consequent market stabilization. If the Over-
Allotment Option is exercised in whole or in part following completion of the Acquisition, an equal number of Units (the “Option Units”, and together with the 
Option Subscription Receipts, the “Option Securities”) will be issuable, at a price of US$14.35 per Option Unit, in lieu of Option Subscription Receipts. If the 
Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full, the total price to the public, the Underwriters’ Fee and net proceeds to the REIT (before deducting expenses of the 
Offering) will be US$233,510,375, US$9,340,415 and US$224,169,960, respectively. The Prospectus qualifies the distribution of the Over-Allotment Option. A 
purchaser who acquires securities forming part of the Underwriters’ over-allocation position acquires those securities under the Prospectus, regardless of whether 
the over-allocation position is ultimately filled through the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option or secondary market purchases. See “Plan of Distribution”. 

Underwriters’ Position 
Maximum Size or Number of 

Securities Available Exercise Period Exercise Price 

Over-Allotment Option Option to purchase up to 
2,122,500 Subscription Receipts 

Earlier of (a) 30 days from the 
Offering Closing, and (b) the 

occurrence of a Termination Event 

The Offering Price 

On February 18, 2020, the Purchaser (as defined herein) announced it would acquire the Acquisition Properties from the Vendor (as 
defined herein) for an aggregate purchase price of approximately US$730,000,000, subject to closing adjustments. The REIT intends to 
use the net proceeds of the Offering (including the net proceeds, if any, of the Over-Allotment Option) to fund a portion of the purchase 
price of the Acquisition and related expenses in connection with the Acquisition. See “The Acquisition” and “Use of Proceeds”. 

The Underwriters, as principals, conditionally offer the Subscription Receipts, subject to the prior sale, if, as and when issued by the 
REIT and accepted by the Underwriters in accordance with the conditions of the Underwriting Agreement referred to under “Plan of 
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Distribution” and subject to the approval of certain Canadian legal matters on behalf of the REIT by Blake, Cassels & Graydon LLP 
and certain United States legal matters on behalf of the REIT by Vinson & Elkins LLP, and certain Canadian legal matters on behalf of 
the Underwriters by McCarthy Tétrault LLP. 

Subject to applicable laws, the Underwriters may, in connection with the Offering, over-allot or effect transactions that stabilize or 
maintain the market price of the Subscription Receipts (or the Units, if the Acquisition is completed during the term of the Over-
Allotment Option) at levels other than those that might otherwise prevail on the open market. Such transactions, if commenced, may be 
discontinued at any time. The Underwriters propose to offer the Subscription Receipts initially at the Offering Price. After the 
Underwriters have made a reasonable effort to sell all of the Subscription Receipts at the Offering Price, the Underwriters may 
subsequently reduce the selling price to investors from time to time in order to sell any of the Subscription Receipts remaining 
unsold. Any such reduction will not affect the proceeds received by the REIT. See “Plan of Distribution”.

Subscriptions for the Subscription Receipts will be received subject to rejection or allotment in whole or in part, and the Underwriters 
reserve the right to close the subscription books at any time without notice. The Offering will be effected only through the book-based 
system administered by CDS Clearing and Depository Services Inc. (“CDS”). Subscription Receipts must be purchased or transferred 
through a CDS participant and all rights of holders of Subscription Receipts must be exercised through, and all payments or other 
property to which such holder is entitled will be made or delivered by, CDS or the CDS participant through which the holder of 
Subscription Receipts holds such Subscription Receipts. Beneficial owners of Subscription Receipts (and Option Securities, if any) will 
not, except in certain limited circumstances, be entitled to receive physical certificates evidencing their ownership of Subscription 
Receipts or Units issuable upon the exchange of Subscription Receipts. See “Description of the Subscription Receipts” and “Plan of 
Distribution”. 

The Offering Closing is expected to take place on February 27, 2020 (or such other date as the REIT and the Underwriters may agree, 
but in any event no later than March 5, 2020) (such actual closing date hereinafter referred to as the “Closing Date”). Closing of the 
Offering is conditional upon completion of the Concurrent Private Placement (as defined herein).

Desjardins Securities Inc., BMO Nesbitt Burns Inc., RBC Dominion Securities Inc., CIBC World Markets Inc., National Bank 
Financial Inc., Scotia Capital Inc. and TD Securities Inc. are affiliates of financial institutions that act as lenders under a 
US$575,000,000 unsecured credit facility, comprised of a US$245,000,000 senior unsecured revolving credit facility (the 
“Revolving Facility”), a US$125,000,000 senior unsecured delayed draw term loan credit facility (the “Term Loan I”), a 
US$80,000,000 senior unsecured delayed draw term loan credit facility (the “Term Loan II”) and a US$125,000,000 senior 
unsecured delayed draw term loan credit facility (the “Term Loan III” and together with Term Loan I, and Term Loan II, the 
“Term Loans”) of the Partnership (as defined herein). In addition, an affiliate of BMO Nesbitt Burns Inc. has also been engaged 
by the REIT to act as broker in connection with the Acquisition. Consequently, the REIT may be considered a “connected 
issuer” to Desjardins Securities Inc., BMO Nesbitt Burns Inc., RBC Dominion Securities Inc., CIBC World Markets Inc., 
National Bank Financial Inc., Scotia Capital Inc. and TD Securities Inc. under applicable Canadian securities legislation. See 
“Relationship Between the REIT and Certain Underwriters” for further information.  

There are certain risks inherent in an investment in the Subscription Receipts, the Units issuable upon exchange of the 
Subscription Receipts and in the activities of the REIT. Prospective investors should carefully consider these risk factors before 
purchasing Subscription Receipts. See “Risk Factors”. 

The REIT has entered into a subscription agreement with Alberta Investment Management Corporation as nominee and bare trustee 
(“AIMCo”) pursuant to which the REIT has agreed to complete a non-brokered private placement of subscription receipts of the REIT 
(the “Concurrent Private Placement”) with AIMCo concurrently with the completion of the Offering. Pursuant to such subscription 
agreement, AIMCo has agreed to purchase 2,578,400 subscription receipts (the “Private Placement Subscription Receipts”) of the 
REIT at a price of US$14.35 per Private Placement Subscription Receipt for gross proceeds to the REIT of US$37,000,040. The 
Prospectus does not qualify the distribution of the Private Placement Subscription Receipts issuable pursuant to the Concurrent Private 
Placement. Completion of the Concurrent Private Placement is subject to a number of conditions including the concurrent closing of the 
Offering and the approval of the TSX. See “Concurrent Private Placement”. 

A return on a purchaser’s investment in Units issuable upon the exchange of Subscription Receipts is not comparable to the return on 
an investment in a fixed income security. The recovery of a purchaser’s initial investment is at risk, and the anticipated return on a 
purchaser’s investment is based on many performance assumptions. Although the REIT intends to make distributions to holders of Units 
(each, a “Unitholder”), these distributions may be reduced or suspended. The actual amount distributed will depend on numerous factors 
including the financial performance of the REIT’s properties, debt covenants and other contractual obligations, working capital 
requirements and future capital requirements, all of which are subject to a number of risks. The market value of the Units may decline 
if the REIT is unable to pay or reduces its distributions in the future, and that decline may be material. It is important for a purchaser of 
Units to consider the particular risk factors, described in the “Risk Factors” section of this Prospectus Supplement (which, for certainty, 
incorporates by reference the information under the heading “Risk Factors” in the Annual Information Form (as defined herein)), which 
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may affect the REIT and its business, the real estate industry and the Offering, and therefore the stability of distributions that a purchaser 
of Units receives. 

Because the REIT is treated as a real estate investment trust for U.S. federal income tax purposes, distributions paid by the REIT to 
Canadian investors that are made out of the REIT’s current or accumulated earnings and profits (as determined under U.S. federal 
income tax principles) generally will be subject to U.S. withholding tax at a rate of 15% for investors that qualify for the benefits under 
the U.S.-Canada Income Tax Convention (1980), as amended (the “Treaty”). To the extent a Canadian taxable investor is subject to 
U.S. withholding tax in respect of distributions paid by the REIT on the Units out of the REIT’s current or accumulated earnings and 
profits, the amount of such tax generally will be eligible for foreign tax credit or deduction treatment, subject to the detailed rules and 
limitations under the Tax Act (as defined herein). Distributions in excess of the REIT’s current and accumulated earnings and profits 
that are distributed to Canadian investors that have not owned (or been deemed to own) more than 10% of the outstanding Units generally 
will not be subject to U.S. withholding tax, although there can be no assurances that withholding on such amounts will not be required. 
The composition of distributions for U.S. federal income tax purposes may change over time, which may affect the after-tax return to 
Unitholders. Qualified residents of Canada that are tax-exempt entities established to provide pension, retirement or other employee 
benefits (including trusts governed by an RRSP, a RRIF or a DPSP but excluding trusts governed by a TFSA, an RESP or an RDSP) 
may be eligible for an exemption from U.S. withholding tax under the Treaty. The foregoing is qualified by the more detailed summary 
in this Prospectus Supplement. See “Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations” and “Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax 
Considerations”. See also “Risk Factors — Tax-Related Risks” in the Annual Information Form.  

The after-tax return from an investment in Units issuable upon the exchange of Subscription Receipts to Unitholders subject to Canadian 
federal income tax will depend, in part, on the composition for Canadian federal income tax purposes of distributions paid by the REIT, 
portions of which may be fully or partially taxable or may constitute tax deferred returns of capital (i.e., returns that initially are non-
taxable but which reduce the adjusted cost base of the Unitholders’ Units). The composition of distributions for Canadian federal income 
tax purposes may change over time, thus affecting the after-tax return to Unitholders. 

The REIT is not a trust company and is not registered under applicable legislation governing trust companies as it does not carry on or 
intend to carry on the business of a trust company. The Subscription Receipts and Units are not “deposits” within the meaning of the 
Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation Act and are not insured under the provisions of that statute or any other legislation. 

The REIT’s head and registered office is located at 199 Bay Street, Suite 4000, Toronto, ON, M5L 1A9, Canada. 
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GENERAL MATTERS 

In this Prospectus Supplement, references to the “REIT” refer to WPT Industrial Real Estate Investment Trust and 
its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis; “Subscription Receipts” means subscription receipts of the REIT being offered 
pursuant to the Prospectus; “Units” means the trust units of the REIT; and “Unitholders” means holders of Units.  

References to Canadian dollars or “Cdn$” are to Canadian currency and references to U.S. dollars, “$” or “US$” 
are to U.S. currency. The price per Subscription Receipt (and Option Securities, if any) being offered pursuant to the 
Prospectus (and the distributions made on Units issuable in exchange for Subscription Receipts and Option Subscription 
Receipts following the Offering Closing) are in U.S. dollars. 

Unless otherwise indicated, the disclosure in this Prospectus Supplement assumes that the Over-Allotment Option 
is not exercised. 

NOTICE CONCERNING FORWARD–LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Prospectus Supplement contains “forward-looking information” as defined under Canadian securities laws 
(collectively, “forward-looking statements”) which reflect management’s expectations regarding objectives, plans, goals, 
strategies, future growth, results of operations, performance, business prospects and opportunities of the REIT. The words 
“plans”, “expects”, “does not expect”, “scheduled”, “estimates”, “intends”, “anticipates”, “does not anticipate”, “projects”, 
“believes”, or variations of such words and phrases (including negative variations) or statements to the effect that certain 
actions, events or results “may”, “will”, “could”, “would”, “might”, “occur”, “be achieved”, or “continue” and similar 
expressions identify forward-looking statements. Some of the specific forward‐looking statements in this Prospectus 
Supplement include, but are not limited to statements regarding the objectives and strategic focus of the REIT, the REIT’s 
intended use of the proceeds of the Offering and the Concurrent Private Placement, the closing of the Offering, the Concurrent 
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Private Placement and the Acquisition on the terms described in this Prospectus Supplement, the anticipated listing of the 
Subscription Receipts to be issued pursuant to the Offering on the TSX, the anticipated listing of the Units issuable upon 
exchange of the Subscription Receipts on the TSX, the REIT's pursuit of acquisition, development and investment 
opportunities, future distributions by the REIT and statements relating to lease terms, termination and future maintenance and 
leasing expenditures. 

Forward‐looking statements are necessarily based on a number of estimates, beliefs and assumptions that are inherently 
subject to significant business, economic and competitive uncertainties and contingencies which could cause actual results to 
differ materially from those that are disclosed in such forward‐looking statements. While considered reasonable by management 
of the REIT as at the date of this Prospectus Supplement, any of these estimates, beliefs or assumptions could prove to be 
inaccurate, and as a result, the forward‐looking statements based on those estimates, beliefs or assumptions could be incorrect. 
The REIT’s estimates, beliefs and assumptions, which may prove to be incorrect, include the various estimates, beliefs and 
assumptions set forth in this Prospectus Supplement, and include but are not limited to, the desirability of investment properties 
in the distribution subsector of the U.S. industrial real estate market to investors, including the industrial investment properties 
in the REIT’s portfolio, key trends and continued and increased demand within the industrial investment property real estate 
market, the future growth potential of the REIT and its properties, anticipated amounts of expenses, results of operations, future 
prospects and opportunities, the demographic and industry trends remaining unchanged, no change in legislative or regulatory 
matters, future levels of indebtedness, the tax laws in both Canada and the U.S. as currently in effect remaining unchanged, 
current levels of volatility in the demand for space in the distribution sub‐segment remaining unchanged, the continued 
availability of capital, the current economic conditions remaining unchanged and increased tenant demand for industrial 
investment properties and declining vacancy rates in the markets in which the REIT’s investment properties are located. 

When relying on forward-looking statements to make decisions, the REIT cautions readers not to place undue 
reliance on these statements, as forward-looking statements involve significant risks and uncertainties and should not be read 
as guarantees of future performance or results, and will not necessarily be accurate indications of whether or not the times at 
or by which such performance or results will be achieved, if achieved at all. A number of factors could cause actual results 
to differ materially from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements, including but not limited to those factors 
discussed or referenced under “Risk Factors”. 

These forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this Prospectus Supplement. Except as expressly 
required by applicable law, the REIT assumes no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement, 
whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. All forward-looking statements in this Prospectus 
Supplement are qualified by these cautionary statements. 

EXCHANGE RATE INFORMATION 

The REIT’s properties are located in the states of California, Florida, Georgia, Illinois, Indiana, Kansas, Kentucky, 
Michigan, Minnesota, Mississippi, Nevada, New Jersey, Ohio, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Tennessee, Texas and Wisconsin. The 
REIT discloses all financial information contained in this Prospectus Supplement in U.S. dollars. The following table sets 
forth, for the periods indicated, the high, low, average and period-ended rates of exchange for US$1.00, expressed in Canadian 
dollars, published by the Bank of Canada. 

Nine months ended September, 30 Year ended December 31 
2019 2018 2019 2018 2017 
Cdn$ Cdn$ Cdn$ Cdn$ Cdn$

Highest rate during the period 1.3600 1.3310 1.3600 1.3642 1.3743
Lowest rate during the period 1.3038 1.2288 1.2988 1.2288 1.2128
Average rate for the period 1.3292 1.2876 1.3269 1.2957 1.2986
Rate at the end of the period 1.3243 1.2945 1.2988 1.3642 1.2545

On February 19, 2020, the daily exchange rate posted by the Bank of Canada for conversion of U.S. dollars into 
Canadian dollars was US$1.00 equals Cdn$1.3231. 

ELIGIBILITY FOR INVESTMENT 

In the opinion of Blake, Cassels & Graydon LLP, Canadian counsel to the REIT, and McCarthy Tétrault LLP, 
Canadian counsel to the Underwriters, based on the current provisions of the Income Tax Act (Canada) (the “Tax Act”) and 
the regulations thereunder, the Subscription Receipts and the Units acquired on the exchange of such Subscription Receipts 
will be qualified investments at the time of acquisition by a trust governed by a registered retirement savings plan (“RRSP”), 
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registered education savings plan (“RESP”), registered retirement income fund (“RRIF”), deferred profit sharing plan, 
registered disability savings plan (“RDSP”) or a tax-free savings account (“TFSA”) (each, an “Exempt Plan”) provided that, 
at the time of the acquisition by the Exempt Plan, (i) in the case of the Subscription Receipts, the Subscription Receipts are 
listed on a “designated stock exchange” (as defined in the Tax Act and which currently includes the TSX), and (ii) in the case 
of the Units, either the Units are listed on a “designated stock exchange” or the REIT qualifies at all times as a “mutual fund 
trust”.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Subscription Receipts or Units are a “prohibited investment” (as defined in the 
Tax Act) for a trust governed by an RRSP, RESP, RRIF, RDSP or TFSA, the annuitant, holder or subscriber thereof will be 
subject to a penalty tax as set out in the Tax Act if such trust acquires Subscription Receipts or Units, as the case may be, 
hereunder. The Subscription Receipts and Units will not be a prohibited investment for a trust governed by an RRSP, RESP, 
RRIF, RDSP or TFSA provided the annuitant of such RRSP or RRIF, the holder of such RDSP or TFSA, or the subscriber 
of such RESP, as the case may be, (i) deals at arm’s length with the REIT for purposes of the Tax Act, and (ii) does not have 
a “significant interest” (as defined in the Tax Act) in the REIT. In addition, Units will not be a “prohibited investment” if the 
Units are “excluded property” as defined in the Tax Act for a trust governed by an RRSP, RESP, RRIF, RDSP or TFSA. 
Prospective purchasers who intend to hold Subscription Receipts or Units in an RRSP, RESP, RRIF, RDSP or TFSA should 
consult their personal tax advisors. 

NON-IFRS MEASURES  

Readers are cautioned that certain terms used in this Prospectus, including documents incorporated by reference, 
such as Funds from Operations (“FFO”), Adjusted Funds from Operations (“AFFO”), Adjusted Cash Flow from Operations 
(“ACFO”) and any related per Unit amounts used by the REIT to measure, compare and explain the operating results and 
financial performance of the REIT do not have any standardized meaning prescribed under International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) and, therefore, should not be construed as alternatives to net income or cash flow from operating activities 
calculated in accordance with IFRS. Such terms do not have a standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and the computation 
of these non-IFRS performance measures may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other publicly 
traded entities. For more information see the REIT’s most recent management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition 
and results of operations incorporated by reference into this Prospectus. 

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 

This Prospectus Supplement is deemed to be incorporated by reference into the Base Shelf Prospectus solely 
for the purpose of the Offering.  

As at the date hereof, the following documents filed with the securities commissions or similar authorities in each 
of the provinces of Canada are specifically incorporated by reference into and form an integral part of the Prospectus: 

(a) the audited consolidated financial statements of the REIT and accompanying notes for the years ended 
December 31, 2018 and 2017, together with the auditor’s report thereon; 

(b) management’s discussion and analysis of the results of operations and financial condition of the REIT for the 
years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 (the “Annual MD&A”); 

(c) the unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements of the REIT and accompanying notes for 
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 (“Interim Financial Statements”); 

(d) management’s discussion and analysis of the results of operations and financial condition of the REIT for the 
three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 (the “Interim MD&A”); 

(e) the annual information form of the REIT dated March 25, 2019 for the year ended December 31, 2018 (the 
“Annual Information Form”); 

(f) the management information circular of the REIT dated April 5, 2019 for the annual meeting of Unitholders 
held on May 9, 2019 (the “Management Information Circular”);  

(g) the business acquisition report of the REIT dated June 10, 2019 and filed on June 11, 2019, relating to the 
acquisition of a portfolio of 13 industrial buildings and three land parcels located in multiple markets in the 
United States (the “Infill Logistics Portfolio”);  
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(h) the material change report of the REIT dated April 15, 2019 announcing the completion of the acquisition of 
the Infill Logistics Portfolio for a purchase price of US$226 million;  

(i) the term sheet dated February 18, 2020, filed on SEDAR in connection with the Offering (the “Term Sheet”);  

(j) the investor presentation dated February 18, 2020, filed on SEDAR in connection with the Offering (the 
“Investment Presentation” and together with the Term Sheet, the “Marketing Materials”); and 

(k) the material change report of the REIT dated February 20, 2020 concerning the Offering, the Concurrent 
Private Placement and the Acquisition.  

Any documents of the types referred to above, any material change reports (but excluding confidential material 
change reports) and business acquisition reports and any other documents of the type described in Item 11 of Form 44-101F1 
— Short Form Prospectus Distributions which are filed by the REIT with the securities commissions or similar authorities 
in the provinces of Canada subsequent to the date of this Prospectus Supplement and prior to the termination of this 
distribution shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference in the Prospectus for the purposes of the Offering. 

Any statement contained in a document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference in the 
Prospectus shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for the purposes of the Offering to the extent that a statement 
contained in this Prospectus Supplement or in any other subsequently filed document which also is, or is deemed to 
be, incorporated by reference in this Prospectus Supplement or in the Base Shelf Prospectus modifies or supersedes 
such statement. The modifying or superseding statement need not state that it has modified or superseded a prior 
statement or include any other information set forth in the document that it modifies or supersedes. The making of a 
modifying or superseding statement shall not be deemed an admission for any purposes that the modified or 
superseded statement, when made, constituted a misrepresentation, an untrue statement of a material fact or an 
omission to state a material fact that was required to be stated or that was necessary to make a statement not 
misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made. Any statement so modified or superseded shall 
thereafter neither constitute, nor be deemed to constitute, a part of the Prospectus, except as so modified or 
superseded. 

MARKETING MATERIALS 

The Marketing Materials are not part of the Prospectus to the extent that the contents of the Marketing Materials 
have been modified or superseded by a statement contained in this Prospectus Supplement or in any subsequently filed 
document incorporate by reference or deemed to be incorporated by reference into the Prospectus. Any template version of 
“marketing materials” (as defined in National Instrument 41-101 — General Prospectus Requirements) filed after the date 
of this Prospectus Supplement and before the termination of the distribution under the Offering (including any amendments 
to, or an amended version of, the Marketing Materials) is deemed to be incorporated into the Prospectus. 

BUSINESS OF THE REIT 

The REIT is an unincorporated, open-ended real estate investment trust established pursuant to a declaration of trust 
under the laws of the Province of Ontario. The REIT acquires, develops, manages and owns industrial properties located in the 
United States, with a particular focus on warehouse and distribution industrial real estate. WPT Industrial, LP (the 
“Partnership”), the REIT’s primary operating subsidiary, indirectly owns a portfolio of properties across 18 states in the United 
States consisting of approximately 23.1 million square feet of gross leasable area, comprised of 76 industrial properties. 

The objectives of the REIT are to: (i) provide Unitholders with an opportunity to invest in a portfolio of institutional-
quality industrial properties in U.S. markets, with a particular focus on warehouse and distribution industrial real estate; (ii) 
provide Unitholders with predictable, sustainable and growing cash distributions on a tax-efficient basis; (iii) enhance the 
value of the REIT’s portfolio and maximize the long-term value of the Units through the active management of the REIT’s 
investment properties; (iv) significantly expand and diversify the asset base of the REIT through strategic acquisitions and 
development of stabilized, high quality and well-located industrial properties located in U.S. markets; and (v) increase 
Unitholder value and returns through leverage gained from management and performance fees generated from third-party 
assets under management. 

The REIT’s portfolio generates cash flow in U.S. dollars and the distributions made on the Units are denominated 
in U.S. dollars. Thus, an investment in the Units provides Canadian investors with direct exposure to U.S. currency. 



5 

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS 

Acquisition and Disposition Activity 

On January 8, 2020, the REIT acquired from a third party, a 100% occupied investment property located in Portland, 
Oregon totaling 126,303 square feet of gross leasable area (“GLA”) for a purchase price of $16,200,000 (exclusive of closing 
and transaction costs). The purchase price was satisfied with funds from the Credit Facility (as defined herein) and cash on 
hand. 

On January 16, 2020, the REIT acquired from a third party, a land parcel in Eagan, Minnesota (the “Eagan 
Development Property”) for a purchase price of US$5,125,000 (exclusive of closing and transaction costs). The REIT 
intends to contribute the Eagan Development Property into a joint venture with one or more institutional investors and develop 
a distribution building totaling 206,384 square feet of GLA on the site.  

On January 27, 2020, the REIT sold the investment property and land parcel located at 4350 and 4400 Baker Road, 
Minnetonka, Minnesota to a third party purchaser for net cash proceeds of US$29,400,000 (inclusive of closing and working 
capital adjustments). Proceeds from the sale were used to partially repay outstanding debt on the Credit Facility.  

On February 5, 2020, the REIT acquired from a third party, a land parcel in Katy (Houston), Texas (the “Houston 
Development Property”) for a purchase price of approximately US$8,700,000 (exclusive of closing and transaction costs). 
The REIT intends to contribute the Houston Development Property into a joint venture with one or more institutional investors 
and develop an industrial building totaling 494,550 square feet of GLA on the site.   

On February 18, 2020, the REIT announced it would indirectly acquire freehold and leasehold interests in a portfolio 
of 26 properties and one land parcel for a purchase price of US$730,000,000. See “The Acquisition”.  

Activities Other than Acquisition and Dispositions  

On October 29, 2019, the REIT issued 6,160,000 Units at a price of US$13.80 per REIT Unit to a syndicate of 
underwriters on a bought deal basis for net cash proceeds to the REIT of approximately US$80,883,000 (the “October 2019 
Offering”) (inclusive of underwriters’ fees and other issuance costs of approximately US$4,125,000). The REIT used the 
funds from the October 2019 Offering to repay a portion of the outstanding balance on the Credit Facility. 

On November 27, 2019, the REIT issued 924,000 Units at a price of US$13.80 per Unit in connection with the 
exercise in full of the over-allotment option relating to the October 2019 Offering. 

On January 15, 2020, the REIT announced a Canadian dollar listing of its Units on the TSX. The Canadian dollar 
denominated Units began trading on the TSX under the symbol “WIR.UN” on January 17, 2020.  

Discussions Regarding Possible Acquisition, Financings, Dispositions and/or Joint Venture Arrangements 

In the normal course, the REIT may have outstanding non-binding letters of intent and/or conditional agreements or 
may otherwise be engaged in discussions with respect to the possible acquisition and financing of new assets, the refinancing 
of existing assets, potential dispositions, establishment of new joint venture arrangements, the viability and status of its 
existing joint venture arrangements and changes to its capital structure. Some of these matters, if they were to progress further, 
may be material to the REIT and, in some cases, may involve the granting of security on existing assets. The REIT expects 
to continue negotiations in respect of these matters during the Offering and will actively pursue or respond to these events 
and opportunities as they become available or otherwise require. However, there can be no assurance that any of these letters, 
agreements, arrangements and/or discussions will result in definitive agreements and, if they do, what the terms or timing of 
any acquisition, financing, refinancing, disposition or other change would be. 

DESCRIPTION OF SUBSCRIPTION RECEIPTS 

The following is a summary of the material attributes and characteristics of the Subscription Receipts and the 
Subscription Receipt Agreement (as defined herein). This summary does not purport to be complete and is subject to, and 
qualified in its entirety by reference to, the terms of the Subscription Receipt Agreement, which will be available under the 
REIT’s SEDAR profile at www.sedar.com.  

Overview
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The Subscription Receipts will be issued at the Offering Closing pursuant to a subscription receipt agreement (the 
“Subscription Receipt Agreement”) to be dated the date of the Offering Closing between the REIT, the Co-Lead 
Underwriters and the Subscription Receipt Agent. The proceeds from the sale of the Subscription Receipts, less 50% of the 
Underwriters’ Fee in respect of the issue and sale of Subscription Receipts pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, will be 
delivered to and held by the Subscription Receipt Agent as agent and bailee on behalf of holders of Subscription Receipts, 
and will be invested in a U.S. dollar account of a Canadian chartered bank (and other approved investments) pending the earlier 
to occur of: (i) the satisfaction of the Escrow Release Conditions and delivery of the Escrow Release Notice; and (ii) the 
occurrence of a Termination Event. Upon the satisfaction of the Escrow Release Conditions and delivery of the Escrow 
Release Notice before the occurrence of a Termination Event: (a) one Unit will be automatically issued in exchange for each 
Subscription Receipt, without payment of additional consideration or any further action on the part of the holder; (b) the 
Subscription Receipt Adjustment Payment, if any, less applicable withholding taxes, if any, will become payable in respect 
of each Subscription Receipt; and (c) the Escrowed Funds (less the remaining 50% of the Underwriters’ Fee and any amount 
required to pay the Subscription Receipt Adjustment Payment) will be released to the REIT, and such released amount will 
then be utilized to fund a portion of the purchase price for the Acquisition and the REIT’s expenses of the Acquisition. The 
“Subscription Receipt Adjustment Payment” is an amount per Subscription Receipt equal to the amount per Unit of any 
cash distributions made by the REIT for which record dates have occurred during the period from and including the Offering 
Closing to and including the date immediately preceding the date upon which Units are issued or deemed to be issued pursuant 
to the Subscription Receipt Agreement. The Escrowed Funds may be subject to a special release to the REIT or, at its 
direction, under other escrow conditions, in order to facilitate the actual completion of the Acquisition. The Subscription 
Receipt Agreement will contain customary anti-dilution provisions with respect to the Subscription Receipts.  

Upon determining that the Escrow Release Conditions have been satisfied and that time of closing of the Acquisition 
Closing (the “Acquisition Closing Time”) will occur on or before June 30, 2020 (the “Deadline”), the REIT will execute 
and deliver to the Subscription Receipt Agent and the Co-Lead Underwriters a notice of the Acquisition Closing Time, and 
will issue and deliver the Units (one Unit for each Subscription Receipt then outstanding) to the Subscription Receipt Agent. 
If the Acquisition Closing Time occurs on or before the Deadline, holders of Subscription Receipts will automatically receive 
one Unit in exchange for each Subscription Receipt held without any further action on the part of the holder and become 
entitled to receive from the Subscription Receipt Agent, without duplication, on or about the third business day following the 
date of the Acquisition Closing, an amount representing the Subscription Receipt Adjustment Payment, if any, less applicable 
withholding taxes, if any, for each Subscription Receipt so held. The Subscription Receipt Adjustment Payment payable to a 
holder of a Subscription Receipt will first be paid out of the holder’s pro rata share of Earned Interest (provided such amount 
shall not exceed the Subscription Receipt Adjustment Payment payable to such holder), and if the Earned Interest is 
insufficient to pay the Subscription Receipt Adjustment Payment to such holder, the amount of such shortfall will be released 
to such holder from the Escrowed Funds and treated as a reduction in the purchase price of the Units issuable to such holder 
pursuant to the Subscription Receipts held by such holder. To the extent that the Subscription Receipt Adjustment Payment 
includes amounts calculated in respect of cash distributions on the Units for which record dates have occurred (during the 
period from and including the Offering Closing to and including the date immediately preceding the date Units are issued or 
deemed to be issued pursuant to the Subscription Receipt Agreement) and have not yet been paid, such amounts shall not be 
payable to holders of Subscription Receipts, unless the REIT otherwise elects, until the date that such related cash 
distributions are paid to Unitholders. If the Acquisition Closing Time occurs on or before the Deadline, the REIT shall be 
entitled to receive the Escrowed Funds (including all Earned Interest in excess of the Subscription Receipt Adjustment 
Payment, if applicable, but less the remaining 50% of the Underwriters’ Fee) from the Subscription Receipt Agent. Promptly 
following the Acquisition Closing Time, the REIT will issue a press release announcing that the Acquisition Closing has 
occurred and that the Units have been issued.  

If a Termination Event occurs, the REIT will immediately notify the Subscription Receipt Agent and the Co-Lead 
Underwriters, and promptly issue a press release specifying the Termination Event. Upon the occurrence of a Termination 
Event, the subscription evidenced by each Subscription Receipt will be automatically terminated and cancelled and each 
Subscription Receipt will entitle the holder thereof to receive an amount equal to the Offering Price and his or her pro rata
share of the Earned Interest and Deemed Interest, less applicable withholding taxes, if any. For greater certainty and without 
duplication of the foregoing, because 50% of the Underwriters’ Fee will be paid by the REIT to the Underwriters from the 
proceeds from the sale of the Subscription Receipts at the Offering Closing, the REIT will, following a Termination Event, 
be responsible to pay to the Subscription Receipt Agent an amount equal to 50% of the Underwriters’ Fee plus the Deemed 
Interest such that each holder of a Subscription Receipt shall receive an amount equal to the Offering Price and his or her pro 
rata share of the Earned Interest and Deemed Interest, less any applicable withholding taxes. The obligation to make the 
payment of the amounts specified above will be satisfied by mailing payment by cheques payable to the holders of 
Subscription Receipts at such holders’ registered address or by making a wire transfer for the accounts of such holders through 
CDS. Upon the mailing or delivery of a cheque or the making of any wire transfer as provided above (and provided such 
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cheque has been honoured for payment, if presented for payment within six months of the date thereof, as the case may be) 
all rights evidenced by the Subscription Receipts relating thereto shall be satisfied and such Subscription Receipts shall be 
void and of no value or effect.  

Holders of Subscription Receipts are not Unitholders and Subscription Receipts do not carry any voting rights 
in the REIT. Holders of Subscription Receipts are entitled only to receive Units on surrender of their Subscription 
Receipts to the Subscription Receipt Agent or to a return of the Offering Price together with any payments in respect 
of interest or distributions, in each case as applicable, as described above.  

Non-Certificated Inventory System

Other than pursuant to certain exceptions, registration of interests in and transfers of Subscription Receipts held 
through CDS or its nominee will be made electronically through the non-certificated inventory (“NCI”) system of CDS. On 
the Offering Closing, the REIT, via the Subscription Receipt Agent, will electronically deliver the Subscription Receipts 
registered to CDS or its nominee. Subscription Receipts held in CDS must be purchased, transferred and surrendered for 
redemption through a CDS participant, which includes securities brokers and dealers, banks and trust companies. All rights 
of purchasers of Subscription Receipts who hold Subscription Receipts in CDS must be exercised through, and all payments 
or other property to which such purchasers of Subscription Receipts are entitled will be made or delivered by, CDS or the 
CDS participant through which the purchaser holds such Subscription Receipts. A holder of Subscription Receipts 
participating in the NCI system will not be entitled to a certificate or other instrument from the REIT or the Subscription 
Receipt Agent evidencing that person’s interest in or ownership of Subscription Receipts, nor, to the extent applicable, will 
such purchaser be shown on the records maintained by CDS, except through an agent who is a CDS participant. The ability 
of a beneficial owner of Subscription Receipts to pledge such Subscription Receipts or otherwise take action with respect to 
such purchaser’s interest in such Subscription Receipts (other than through a CDS participant) may be limited due to the lack 
of a physical certificate.  

Neither the REIT, the Underwriters nor the Subscription Receipt Agent shall have any responsibility or liability for: 
(a) any aspect of the records relating to the beneficial ownership of the Subscription Receipts held by CDS or any payments 
relating thereto; (b) maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to the Subscription Receipts; or (c) any advice 
or representation made by or with respect to CDS and contained in the Prospectus and relating to the rules governing CDS or 
any action to be taken by CDS or at the direction of a participant of CDS. The rules governing CDS provide that it acts as the 
agent and depository for the participants of CDS. As a result, participants of CDS must look solely to CDS and a purchaser 
acquiring a beneficial interest in the Subscription Receipts must look solely to participants of CDS for any payments relating 
to the Subscription Receipts paid by or on behalf of the REIT to CDS. 

DESCRIPTION OF UNITS 

For a description of the general terms and provisions of the Units, see the description thereof in the Annual 
Information Form.   

The REIT currently pays cash distributions on the Units on a monthly basis on or about the 15th of each month, but 
such distributions are determined by the REIT’s trustees in their discretion. 

The REIT has adopted a distribution policy, as permitted under its Declaration of Trust, pursuant to which the REIT 
makes pro rata monthly cash distributions to Unitholders and, through a subsidiary limited partnership of the REIT, to holders 
of class B limited partnership units and deferred limited partnership units of such limited partnership, if any. Pursuant to the 
Declaration of Trust, the REIT’s trustees have full discretion respecting the timing and amounts of distributions including the 
adoption, amendment or revocation of any distribution policy. 

THE ACQUISITION 

Overview 

On February 18, 2020, the REIT waived the due diligence conditions in its favor under a membership purchase 
agreement (the “Acquisition Agreement”) among WPT Industrial, LP (the “Purchaser”), a subsidiary of the REIT, and BPP 
Pristine U.S. Parent LLC (“BPP U.S. Parent”), Blackstone Property Partners (Supplemental Account) C L.P. (“BPP 
Supplemental Account”), Blackstone Pristine Property Co-Investment Partners L.P. (“BPP Co-Investment”) and PIRET 
US IC Debt Holder LLC (“PIRET Debt Holder”, and together with BPP U.S. Parent, BPP Supplemental Account and BPP 
Co-Investment, collectively, the “Vendor”), pursuant to which the REIT will indirectly acquire (i) all of the issued and 
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outstanding membership interests in BPP Pristine U.S. LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“BPP Pristine U.S.”), 
and (ii) certain intercompany loans made by BPP Supplemental Account, BPP Co-Investment and PIRET Debt Holder to 
PIRET USA Inc. (the “Intercompany Loans”).   

As a result of the REIT’s indirect acquisition of BPP Pristine U.S. and the Intercompany Loans, the REIT will 
indirectly acquire from the Vendor, through the Purchaser, freehold and leasehold interests in 26 investment properties and 
one parcel of land (the “Acquisition Properties”) for an aggregate purchase price of US$730,000,000, subject to closing 
adjustments as provided in the Acquisition Agreement (the “Acquisition”). The REIT intends to use the net proceeds of the 
Offering (including the net proceeds, if any, of the Over-Allotment Option) and the proceeds from the Concurrent Private 
Placement to fund a portion of the purchase price of the Acquisition and related expenses in connection with the Acquisition. 
It is anticipated that the closing of the Acquisition will occur on or about March 31, 2020 (the “Acquisition Closing”).  

The Acquisition Properties are comprised of 26 distribution and logistics properties located in multiple markets in 
the United States totaling 8,980,578 square feet of GLA, including (i) one property (approximately 211,000 square feet of 
GLA) in California representing 3% of the aggregate net rent of the Acquisition Properties, (ii) one property (approximately 
119,000 square feet of GLA) in Florida representing 3% of the aggregate net rent of the Acquisition Properties, (iii) six 
properties (approximately 2,061,000 square feet of GLA) in North Carolina representing 21% of the aggregate net rent of the 
Acquisition Properties, (iv) two properties (approximately 424,000 square feet of GLA) in New Jersey representing 15% of 
the aggregate net rent of the Acquisition Properties, (v) two properties (approximately 337,000 square feet of GLA) in Illinois 
representing 5% of the aggregate net rent of the Acquisition Properties, (vi) one property (approximately 175,000 square feet 
of GLA) in Louisiana representing 4% of the aggregate net rent of the Acquisition Properties, (vii) seven properties 
(approximately 3,117,000 square feet of GLA) in Texas representing 32% of the aggregate net rent of the Acquisition 
Properties, and (viii) six properties (approximately 2,536,000 square feet of GLA) in Georgia representing 17% of the 
aggregate net rent of the Acquisition Properties, as well as one land parcel. See “– The Acquisition Properties”  

The Acquisition Agreement 

The following is a summary of the material attributes and characteristics of the Acquisition Agreement. This 
summary does not purport to be complete and is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by reference to, the terms of the 
Acquisition Agreement, which will be available under the REIT’s SEDAR profile at www.sedar.com.  

The transactions contemplated by the Acquisition Agreement will be conditional upon the satisfaction of certain 
conditions including the truth and accuracy of the representations and warranties of the Vendor, the performance and 
compliance in all material respects by the Vendor of all material terms, covenants and conditions of the Acquisition 
Agreement, and the receipt of estoppel certificates in respect of tenants constituting 65% of the Acquisition Properties’ tenant-
occupied leasable area and a ground lease estoppel with respect to one ground leased property being conveyed to the Purchaser 
by the Vendor.  

The Acquisition Agreement contains representations, warranties and covenants relating to the Vendor and the 
entities to be acquired by the Purchaser that are customary in arm’s length transactions of this nature, including, among other 
things, representations and warranties as to organization and status, power and authority, capitalization, compliance with 
laws, no consents, no conflicts, material contracts, loans, taxes, litigation, insurance, financial statement matters, leasing 
matters and employee matters. The Acquisition Agreement also contains limited representations and warranties relating to 
the Acquisition Properties given by the Vendor. None of the representations and warranties set out in the Acquisition 
Agreement will survive the Acquisition Closing. The Vendor does not have any indemnity obligations under the Acquisition 
Agreement. 

The Acquisition Agreement provides that, except as set out in Acquisition Agreement, the Acquisition Properties 
are being purchased on an “as is, where is” basis in reliance on, as applicable, the Purchaser’s own due diligence with respect 
to the Acquisition Properties. The REIT did not exercise its right to terminate the Acquisition Agreement during the due 
diligence period provided thereunder. The Acquisition Agreement also provides that the Purchaser shall seek to obtain the 
approval of certain property-level lenders to the change of control provided for by the Acquisition Agreement under the terms 
of the applicable loans, but such approvals, if not obtained, are not a condition to closing of the Acquisition. In the case that 
such approvals are not obtained by April 9, 2020 for any such loans, the first US$1,000,000 of the cost of prepayment of such 
loans will be borne by the Purchaser, and amounts above US$1,000,000 will be shared equally between the Vendor and the 
Purchaser. 
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The Acquisition Properties 

The Acquisition Properties comprise a portfolio of 26 distribution and logistics properties and one land parcel located 
in 13 major metropolitan markets, in eight states, throughout the United States. The REIT believes the Acquisition Properties 
are well-located within their respective markets. The Acquisition Properties total approximately 8,980,578 square feet of 
GLA and have an occupancy rate of approximately 94.6%.  

The following table summarizes key metrics of the Acquisition Properties. 

No. Property City State Market 
Year Built / 

Renovated or 
Expanded 

Clear 
Ceiling 
Height 

(ft) 

Number 
of 

Tenants 

Rentable 
Area 
(000s) 

Occupancy 
Rate(1)

1 200 Old Ranch Road(2) City of Industry CA Los Angeles 2007 35    1    211    100%   

2 5731 Premier Park(3) West Palm 
Beach 

FL South Florida 2007 / 2014 31    1    119    100%   

3 
3755 Atlanta Industrial 
Parkway 

Atlanta GA Atlanta 1985 / 1989 28-30    1 403 100% 

4 1975 Sarasota Parkway Conyers GA Atlanta 1993 25 1 145 100% 

5 2107 Eastview Parkway Conyers GA Atlanta 2005 30-32    2 201 100% 

6 2175 East Park Drive Conyers GA Atlanta 1995 28-30    1 226 100% 

7 150 Distribution Drive McDonough GA Atlanta 2017 36 1 760 61% 

8 201 Greenwood Court McDonough GA Atlanta 1999 / 2015 30-32    1 800 100% 

9 7800 Turkey Hollow Road Rock Island IL Chicago 2014 31 1 190 100% 

10 1234 Peterson Drive Wheeling IL Chicago 1985 / 2014 24-26    1 147 100% 

11 10800 South Reitz Avenue Baton Rouge LA Baton Rouge 2014 32 1 175 100% 

12 3700 Display Drive Charlotte NC Charlotte 2001 30 1 465 100% 

13 
4205 Westinghouse 
Commons 

Charlotte NC Charlotte 2001 / 2018 22 1 123 100% 

14 1936 Amity Street Newton NC Charlotte 2009 / 2013 23 1 141 100% 

15 6104 Corporate Park Drive Greensboro  NC 
Greensboro / Winston-

Salem 
2006 30 1 504 100% 

16 6105 Corporate Park Drive Greensboro  NC 
Greensboro / Winston-

Salem 
1996 / 2003 / 

2013 
24 2 582 100% 

17 3928 Westpoint Boulevard Winston-Salem NC 
Greensboro / Winston-

Salem 
1986 30 1 244 100% 

18 1 Commerce Avenue Dover NJ Northern NJ 2006 / 2014 30 1 172 100% 

19 5 Commerce Drive Barrington NJ Philadelphia 
2006 / 2014 / 

2016 
30 1 252 100% 

20 15904 Impact Way Pflugerville TX Austin 2014 30 1 200 100% 

21 2101 Reeves Place Fort Worth TX Dallas 2016 32 3 302 100% 

22 4800 N. Sylvania Avenue Fort Worth TX Dallas 2017 36 2 657 100% 

23 201 South Interstate 45 Wilmer TX Dallas 2008 / 2017 32 2 759 76% 

24 Land Wilmer TX Dallas 

25 4762 Borusan Road Baytown TX Houston 2017 32 1 495 100% 

26 4830 Borusan Road Baytown TX Houston 2017 32 1 501 100% 

27 9929 & 9943 Doerr Lane San Antonio TX San Antonio 2014 31 1 203 100% 
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Notes: 

(1) Expected as of March 1, 2020. 

(2) Property is subject to a ground lease until 2047 with options to extend until 2067. 

(3) Property is subject to a ground lease until 2027 with options to extend until 2057. 

The following provides an overview of the key tenants of the Acquisition Properties. 

No. Tenant 
No. of 

Locations 
Credit Rating 

(S&P / Moodys) 

Rentable Area 
Net Rent 

(percentage 
of total)Percentage 

of Total 

Weighted 
Average 

Lease Term 

1 FedEx  10 BBB/ Baa2 20% 4.8 40%   

2 IKEA 2 n.a. 11% 2.0 11%   

3 Exel 1 n.a. / A3 9% 2.6 5% 

4 Procter & Gamble 1 AA- / Aa3 6% 3.9 4% 

5 S&S Activewear 1 n.a. 5% 8.3 4% 

6 International Paper Co. 1 BBB / Baa2 5% 3.1 5% 

7 New Tenant 1 n.a. 5% 10.3 4% 

8 Warner Bros Entertainment 1 BBB / Baa2 4% 4.3 3% 

9 
Mohawk Carpet 
Distribution 

1 BBB+ / Baal 4% 5.4 3% 

10 Almost Distributing 1 n.a. 3% 2.8 2% 

Top 10 Tenants 20 73% 4.5 82% 

Remaining Tenant 12 21% 5.2 18% 

Occupied 32 95% 4.6 100% 

Vacant 2 5% 

Total 34 100% 

The following is a summary description of each Acquisition Property. 

200 Old Ranch Road — City of Industry (Los Angeles), California. Located in City of Industry (Los Angeles), 
California, 200 Old Ranch Road is approximately 211,495 square feet of GLA. Built in 2007, the property features 35-foot 
clear ceiling height, 208 loading docks, a wet pipe sprinkler system, fluorescent and incandescent lighting, and 454 parking 
spots. The property is 100% occupied by FedEx Ground Packaging System, Inc. (a wholly owned subsidiary of FedEx 
Corporation (NYSE: FDX)). 

5731 Premier Park — West Palm Beach (South Florida), Florida. Located in West Palm Beach (South Florida), 
Florida, 5731 Premier Park is approximately 119,165 square feet of GLA. Built in 2007, with an expansion in 2014, the 
property features 31-foot clear ceiling height, 40 loading docks, a wet pipe sprinkler system, fluorescent lighting, and 214 
parking spots. The property is 100% occupied by FedEx Ground Packaging System, Inc. (a wholly owned subsidiary of 
FedEx Corporation (NYSE: FDX)). 

3755 Atlanta Industrial Parkway — Atlanta, Georgia. Located in Atlanta, Georgia, 3755 Atlanta Industrial 
Parkway is approximately 403,285 square feet of GLA. Built in 1985, with a renovation in 1989, the property features 28-
30-foot clear ceiling heights, 18 loading docks, a wet pipe sprinkler system, fluorescent and T-8 lighting, and 215 parking 
spots. The property is 100% occupied by Warner Bros Entertainment, Inc. (a wholly owned subsidiary of AT&T Inc. (NYSE: 
T)). 

1975 Sarasota Parkway — Conyers (Atlanta), Georgia. Located in Conyers (Atlanta), Georgia, 1975 Sarasota 
Parkway is approximately 145,262 square feet of GLA. Built in 1993, the property features 25-foot clear ceiling height, 26 
loading docks, a wet pipe sprinkler system, fluorescent and T-5 lighting, and 107 parking spots. The property is 100% 
occupied by Pratt Industries, Inc. 
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2107 Eastview Parkway — Conyers (Atlanta), Georgia. Located in Conyers (Atlanta), Georgia, 2107 Eastview 
Parkway is approximately 201,403 square feet of GLA. Built in 2005, the property features 30-32-foot clear ceiling heights, 
34 loading docks, a wet pipe and ESFR sprinkler system, fluorescent and T-5 lighting, and 130 parking spots. The property 
is 100% occupied by Panolam Industrial International, Inc. and Cellofoam North America Inc. 

2175 East Park Drive — Conyers (Atlanta), Georgia. Located in Conyers (Atlanta), Georgia, 2175 East Park Drive 
is approximately 226,256 square feet of GLA. Built in 1995, the property features 28-30-foot clear ceiling heights, 46 loading 
docks, a wet pipe and ESFR sprinkler system, fluorescent, metal halide, and T-5 lighting, and 156 parking spots. The property 
is 100% occupied by DiversiTech Corporation. 

150 Distribution Drive — McDonough (Atlanta), Georgia. Located in McDonough (Atlanta), Georgia, 150 
Distribution Drive is approximately 760,256 square feet of GLA. Built in 2017, the property features 36-foot clear ceiling 
height, 156 loading docks, a wet pipe and ESFR sprinkler system, T-5 lighting, and 324 parking spots. The property is 61% 
occupied. 

201 Greenwood Court — McDonough (Atlanta), Georgia. Located in McDonough (Atlanta), Georgia, 201 
Greenwood Court is approximately 800,000 square feet of GLA. Built in 1999, the property features 30-32-foot clear ceiling 
heights, 188 loading docks, a wet pipe and ESFR sprinkler system, fluorescent and T-5 lighting, and 348 parking spots. The 
property is 100% occupied by Exel Inc. (a wholly owned subsidiary of Deutsche Post DHL Group (FWB: DPW)). 

7800 Turkey Hollow Road — Rock Island (Chicago), Illinois. Located in Rock Island (Chicago), Illinois, 7800 
Turkey Hollow Road is approximately 189,926 square feet of GLA. Built in 2014, the property features 31-foot clear ceiling 
height, 49 loading docks, a wet and dry pipe sprinkler system, fluorescent lighting, and 361 parking spots. The property is 
100% occupied by FedEx Ground Packaging System, Inc. (a wholly owned subsidiary of FedEx Corporation (NYSE: FDX)). 

1234 Peterson Drive — Wheeling (Chicago), Illinois. Located in Wheeling (Chicago), Illinois, 1234 Peterson Drive 
is approximately 147,082 square feet of GLA. Built in 1985, the property features 24-26-foot clear ceiling heights, 24 loading 
docks, a wet pipe sprinkler system, fluorescent lighting, and 147 parking spots. The property is 100% occupied by FedEx 
Ground Packaging System, Inc. (a wholly owned subsidiary of FedEx Corporation (NYSE: FDX)). 

10800 South Reitz Avenue — Baton Rouge, Louisiana. Located in Baton Rouge, Louisiana, 10800 South Reitz 
Avenue is approximately 175,374 square feet of GLA. Built in 2014, the property features 32-foot clear ceiling height, 53 
loading docks, a wet pipe and ESFR sprinkler system, fluorescent and incandescent lighting, and 367 parking spots. The 
property is 100% occupied by FedEx Ground Packaging System, Inc. (a wholly owned subsidiary of FedEx Corporation 
(NYSE: FDX)). 

3700 Display Drive — Charlotte, North Carolina. Located in Charlotte, North Carolina, 3700 Display Drive is 
approximately 465,323 square feet of GLA. Built in 2001, the property features 30-foot clear ceiling height, 75 loading docks, 
a wet pipe and ESFR sprinkler system, metal halide and fluorescent lighting, and 463 parking spots. The property is 100% 
occupied by International Paper Company (NYSE: IP). 

4205 Westinghouse Commons — Charlotte, North Carolina. Located in Charlotte, North Carolina, 4205 
Westinghouse Commons is approximately 123,333 square feet of GLA. Built in 2001, with a renovation in 2018, the property 
features 22-foot clear ceiling height, 8 loading docks, a wet pipe sprinkler system, fluorescent lighting, and 216 parking spots. 
The property is 100% occupied by Chemring Sensors and Electronic Systems, Inc. (a wholly owned subsidiary of Chemring 
Group PLC (LSE: CHG)). 

1936 Amity Street — Newton (Charlotte), North Carolina. Located in Newton (Charlotte), North Carolina, 1936 
Amity Street is approximately 141,432 square feet of GLA. Built in 2009, with a renovation in 2013, the property features 
23-foot clear ceiling height, 19 loading docks, a wet pipe sprinkler system, fluorescent and incandescent lighting, and 243 
parking spots. The property is 100% occupied by FedEx Ground Packaging System, Inc. (a wholly owned subsidiary of 
FedEx Corporation (NYSE: FDX)). 

6104 Corporate Park Drive — Greensboro (Greensboro / Winston-Salem), North Carolina. Located in 
Greensboro (Greensboro / Winston-Salem), North Carolina, 6104 Corporate Park Drive is approximately 504,000 square feet 
of GLA. Built in 2006, the property features 30-foot clear ceiling height, 91 loading docks, an ESFR sprinkler system, 
fluorescent and incandescent lighting, and 40 parking spots. The property is 100% occupied by The Procter & Gamble 
Manufacturing Company (NYSE: PG). 
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6105 Corporate Park Drive — Greensboro (Greensboro / Winston-Salem), North Carolina. Located in 
Greensboro (Greensboro / Winston-Salem), North Carolina, 6105 Corporate Park Drive is approximately 582,037 square feet 
of GLA. Built in 1996, with renovations in 2003 and 2013, the property features 24-foot clear ceiling height, 61 loading 
docks, an ESFR sprinkler system, T-5 lighting, and 126 parking spots. The property is 100% occupied by MWI Veterinary 
Supply Co. and Mohawk Carpet Distribution Inc. (a wholly owned subsidiary of Mohawk Industries, Inc. (NYSE: MHK)). 

3928 Westpoint Boulevard — Winston-Salem (Greensboro / Winston-Salem), North Carolina. Located in 
Winston-Salem (Greensboro / Winston-Salem), North Carolina, 3928 Westpoint Boulevard is approximately 244,478 square 
feet of GLA. Built in 1986, the property features 30-foot clear ceiling height, 30 loading docks, an ESFR sprinkler system, 
metal halide lighting, and 246 parking spots. The property is 100% occupied by South Atlantic Packaging Corporation LLC. 

1 Commerce Avenue — Dover (Northern NJ), New Jersey. Located in Dover (Northern NJ), New Jersey, 1 
Commerce Avenue is approximately 171,907 square feet of GLA. Built in 2006, and expanded in 2014, the property features 
30-foot clear ceiling height, 111 loading docks, a wet and dry pipe sprinkler system, fluorescent lighting, and 326 parking 
spots. The property is 100% occupied by FedEx Ground Packaging System, Inc. (a wholly owned subsidiary of FedEx 
Corporation (NYSE: FDX)). 

5 Commerce Drive — Barrington (Philadelphia), New Jersey. Located in Barrington (Philadelphia), New Jersey, 
5 Commerce Drive is approximately 251,989 square feet of GLA. Built in 2006, with renovations in 2014 and 2016, the 
property features 30-foot clear ceiling height, 97 loading docks, a dry pipe sprinkler system, fluorescent lighting, and 399 
parking spots. The property is 100% occupied by FedEx Ground Packaging System, Inc. (a wholly owned subsidiary of 
FedEx Corporation (NYSE: FDX)). 

15904 Impact Way — Pflugerville (Austin), Texas. Located in Pflugerville (Austin), Texas, 15904 Impact Way is 
approximately 199,865 square feet of GLA. Built in 2014, the property features 30-foot clear ceiling height, 62 loading docks, 
a wet pipe and ESFR sprinkler system, fluorescent lighting, and 425 parking spots. The property is 100% occupied by FedEx 
Ground Packaging System, Inc. (a wholly owned subsidiary of FedEx Corporation (NYSE: FDX)). 

2101 Reeves Place — Fort Worth (Dallas), Texas. Located in Fort Worth (Dallas), Texas, 2101 Reeves Place is 
approximately 301,500 square feet of GLA. Built in 2016, the property features 32-foot clear ceiling height, 74 loading docks, 
a wet pipe and ESFR sprinkler system, fluorescent and incandescent lighting, and 302 parking spots. The property is 100% 
occupied by Ecolab Inc. (NYSE: ECL), PODS Enterprises LLC (a wholly owned subsidiary of PODS Holdings Inc.) and 
Goodman Distribution, Inc. (a wholly owned subsidiary of Daikin (TYO: 6367)). 

4800 N. Sylvania Avenue — Fort Worth (Dallas), Texas. Located in Fort Worth (Dallas), Texas, 4800 N. Sylvania 
Avenue is approximately 657,043 square feet of GLA. Built in 2017, the property features 36-foot clear ceiling height, 152 
loading docks, a wet pipe and ESFR sprinkler system, fluorescent and incandescent lighting, and 374 parking spots. The 
property is 100% occupied by S & S Activewear, LLC (a wholly owned subsidiary of Technosport Canada) and Ryder 
Integrated Logistics (a wholly owned subsidiary of Ryder System, Inc. (NYSE: R)). 

201 South Interstate 45 — Wilmer (Dallas), Texas. Located in Wilmer (Dallas), Texas, 201 South Interstate 45 is 
approximately 758,922 square feet of GLA. Built in 2008, the property features 32-foot clear ceiling height, 168 loading 
docks, a wet pipe and ESFR sprinkler system, fluorescent and incandescent lighting, and 375 parking spots. The property is 
76% occupied by Port-A-Cool, LLC (a wholly owned subsidiary of Meier Tobler Group AG (SWX: MTG)) and Almo 
Distributing Wisconsin, Inc. (a wholly owned subsidiary of Almo Corp.). 

Wilmer Land — Wilmer (Dallas), Texas. Located in Wilmer (Dallas), Texas, Wilmer Land is a future development 
site situated on an 85-acre parcel of land. 

4762 Borusan Road — Baytown (Houston), Texas. Located in Baytown (Houston), Texas, 4762 Borusan Road is 
approximately 495,462 square feet of GLA. Built in 2017, the property features 32-foot clear ceiling height, 66 loading docks, 
a wet pipe and ESFR sprinkler system, fluorescent lighting, and 102 parking spots. The property is 100% occupied by IKEA 
Distribution Services, Inc. (a wholly owned subsidiary of Stichting INGKA Foundation). 

4830 Borusan Road — Baytown (Houston), Texas. Located in Baytown (Houston), Texas, 4830 Borusan Road is 
approximately 501,020 square feet of GLA. Built in 2017, the property features 32-foot clear ceiling height, 66 loading docks, 
a wet pipe and ESFR sprinkler system, fluorescent lighting, and 94 parking spots. The property is 100% occupied by IKEA 
Distribution Services, Inc. (a wholly owned subsidiary of Stichting INGKA Foundation). 
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9929 & 9943 Doerr Lane — San Antonio, Texas. Located in San Antonio, Texas, 9929 & 9943 Doerr Lane is 
approximately 202,763 square feet of GLA. Built in 2014, the property features 31-foot clear ceiling height, 65 loading docks, 
a wet pipe & ESFR sprinkler system, fluorescent lighting, and 434 parking spots. The property is 100% occupied by FedEx 
Ground Packaging System, Inc. (a wholly owned subsidiary of FedEx Corporation (NYSE: FDX)). 

ASSESSMENT OF THE ACQUISITION PROPERTIES 

Environmental Site Assessments 

Each of the Acquisition Properties has been the subject of a Phase I environmental site assessment report 
(collectively, the “Phase I ESA Reports”) prepared by an independent and experienced environmental consultant for the 
REIT in January 2020. The Phase I ESA Reports were prepared in general accordance with the current ASTM International 
Standard Practice for Environmental Site Assessments — Phase I Environmental Site Assessment Process. In general, the 
purpose of the Phase I ESA Reports was to identify any recognized environmental conditions (“RECs”) at the Acquisition 
Properties, which means the presence or likely presence of any hazardous substances or petroleum products in, on or at any 
Acquisition Property due to release to the environment under conditions indicative of a release to the environment, or under 
conditions that pose a material threat of a future release to the environment. Intrusive sampling and analysis were not part of 
these Phase I ESA Reports. 

Based on the Phase I ESA Reports, the REIT is not aware of any non-compliance with environmental laws at any 
of the Acquisition Properties that the REIT believes would have a material adverse effect on it. The REIT is not aware of any 
pending or threatened investigations or actions by environmental regulatory authorities in connection with any of the 
Acquisition Properties that would materially adversely affect the REIT or the values of the Acquisition Properties, taken as a 
whole.  

Building Condition Assessments 

Each of the Acquisition Properties has been the subject of a building condition assessment report (collectively, the 
“BCA Reports”) prepared by an independent consulting or engineering firm for the REIT in January 2020. The BCA Reports 
were prepared for each of the Acquisition Properties for the purpose of assessing and documenting the existing condition of 
each building and major building operating components and systems forming part of the Acquisition Properties. The BCA 
Reports also identified and quantified major defects in materials or systems which might significantly affect the value of any 
of the Acquisition Properties or the continued operation thereof. Each of the BCA Reports assessed work required to be 
completed immediately (i.e., within 90 days of the assessment) and work recommended to be performed in subsequent 
periods.  

The BCA Reports identified approximately US$352,000 in immediate required expenditures and US$10,724,000 in 
possible capital replacements for the Acquisition Properties over the next 10 years.  

Management has separately reviewed the condition of each property and has identified approximately 
US$10,017,000 in immediate required capital expenditures and US$14,092,000 in possible capital replacements or 
improvements over the next 10 years. Of the identified possible capital expenditures, management noted US$5,624,000, 
US$5,110,000 and US$6,476,000 are related to roof replacement costs in the first year, in years three through seven, and in 
year 10, respectively. As noted in the BCA Reports, roofs on industrial buildings in these markets generally have an expected 
useful life of approximately 20-25 years. The REIT intends to fund the roof replacement costs through draws on the Credit 
Facility.    

The remaining US$6,900,000 represents other estimated capital expenditures over the next 10 years.  

The REIT used the information from the BCA Reports and its internal analysis to calculate a five-year weighted 
average maintenance capital expenditure per square foot, which is used in the REIT’s AFFO and ACFO calculations. 
Excluding the roofs identified above, management estimated the amount of other capital expenditures over the next five years 
is $3,272,000, which is net of $2,232,000 in capital expenditures that are estimated to be recoverable from tenants pursuant 
to the terms of their leases in the year such expenditures are incurred. 

CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION OF THE REIT 

Since September 30, 2019, being the date of the REIT’s most recently completed financial statements, there have 
been no material changes in the capitalization of the REIT except as disclosed in the table below. 
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The following table sets forth (i) the consolidated capitalization of the REIT as at September 30, 2019, (ii) the pro 
forma consolidated capitalization of the REIT after giving effect to the October 2019 Offering and changes in indebtedness as a 
result of investment property acquisitions, an investment property disposition, mortgage amortization and other capital needs 
and the exchange of Class B Units (as defined herein) into Units, and (iii) the pro forma consolidated capitalization of the REIT 
as at September 30, 2019 after giving further effect to the October 2019 Offering, the Acquisition, the Offering (without 
giving effect to the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option) and the Concurrent Private Placement. The table should be read 
in conjunction with the Interim Financial Statements and notes thereto included or incorporated by reference in the 
Prospectus.

As at 
September 30, 2019 

As at 
September 30, 2019 

(unaudited—pro forma after 
giving effect to the October 2019 

Offering and other matters)

As at September 30, 2019 
(unaudited—pro forma after giving 
effect to the October 2019 Offering 
and other matters, the Acquisition, 

the Offering (without exercise of the 
Over-Allotment Option), the 

Concurrent Private Placement and the 
issuance of Units pursuant to the 

terms of the Subscription Receipts)(7)

Indebtedness 
Mortgages Payable $313,066,000 $311,674,000 (2) $370,662,000
Revolving Facility $179,746,000 $130,373,000 (3) $130,373,000
Term Loans $273,220,000 $273,332,000 (4) $727,332,000
Class B Units(1) $24,350,000 $24,314,000 (5) $24,314,000

Unitholders’ Equity $748,054,000 $841,215,000(5)(6) $1,072,294,000
Units 57,292,838 64,379,496(5)(6) 81,107,896
(Authorized — unlimited)

Total Capitalization .......... $1,538,436,000 $1,580,908,000 $2,324,974,000

____________________ 

Notes: 

(1) Class B limited partnership units of the Partnership (“Class B Units”), each Class B Unit exchangeable for Units on a one for one basis. 

(2)  Approximately US$311,674,000 outstanding, including approximately US$2,000 of fair market value adjustments and deferred financing costs. The 
difference from the as reported numbers at September 30, 2019 is due to amortization payments on mortgage loans of approximately US$1,358,000 
and amortization of fair market value adjustments and deferred finance costs of approximately US$34,000. 

(3) Approximately US$130,373,000 outstanding, including approximately US$1,127,000 of deferred financing costs. The difference from the as reported 
numbers at September 30, 2019 is due to net paydowns on the facility of approximately $49,500,000, including amortization of deferred finance costs 
of approximately US$127,000. 

(4) Approximately US$273,332,000 outstanding, including approximately US$1,668,000 of deferred financing costs. The difference from the as reported 
numbers at September 30, 2019 is due to amortization of deferred finance costs of approximately US$112,000. 

(5) The difference from the as reported numbers at September 30, 2019 is due to the conversion of 2,658 Class B Units to Units totaling approximately 
US$36,000. 

(6) The difference is due to proceeds from the October 2019 Offering, inclusive of the exercise of the over-allotment option, of approximately 
US$93,125,000 (gross proceeds of approximately US$97,759,000 net of Underwriters' Fees of approximately US$3,910,000 and other expenses 
totaling approximately US$724,000). See “Recent Developments”.  

(7) Assumes (i) proceeds from the Offering of approximately US$194,078,400 (gross proceeds of US$203,052,500, net of Underwriters' Fees of 
approximately US$8,122,100 and other expenses totaling approximately US$852,000) and proceeds from the Concurrent Private Placement of 
US$37,000,040, (ii) the assumption of approximately US$59,000,000 in mortgages payable from the Acquisition, (iii) draws totaling approximately 
US$454,000,000 from the Credit Facility to fund the remaining capital requirements for the Acquisition and estimated closing costs, and (iv) the 
issuance of 16,728,400 Units pursuant to the terms of the Subscription Receipts. 

USE OF PROCEEDS 

The estimated net proceeds from the Offering, assuming the Acquisition Closing occurs and the release of the 
Escrowed Funds, but after deducting the Underwriters’ Fee of US$8,122,100 and the estimated expenses of the Offering of 
US$852,000, will be US$194,078,400, excluding Earned Interest, if any, on the Escrowed Funds and the transaction costs 
associated with the Acquisition. See “Description of Subscription Receipts” and “Plan of Distribution”. The gross proceeds 
from the Concurrent Private Placement will be US$37,000,040. 
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The REIT intends to use the net proceeds of the Offering, together with the proceeds from the Concurrent Private 
Placement, to fund a portion of the purchase price of the Acquisition, the balance of which will be paid for through the 
assumption of approximately US$59,000,000 of in-place mortgage debt and new debt financing proceeds obtained by the 
REIT in connection with the Acquisition. If the Underwriters exercise the Over-Allotment Option in whole or in part 
following the completion of the Acquisition, an equal number of Option Units will be issuable in lieu of Option Subscription 
Receipts. If the Over-Allotment Option is exercised, the net proceeds received by the REIT will be used by the REIT to fund 
a portion of the purchase price of the Acquisition (or to reduce indebtedness incurred in connection therewith) and related 
expenses incurred in connection with the Acquisition. See “The Acquisition”. 

The REIT intends to spend the funds available to the REIT as stated in this Prospectus Supplement; however, there 
may be circumstances where, for sound business reasons, a reallocation of funds may be deemed prudent or necessary. 

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION 

Pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, the REIT has agreed to issue and sell, and the Underwriters have agreed to 
purchase on the Offering Closing, 14,150,000 Subscription Receipts at a price of US$14.35 per Subscription Receipt, for 
aggregate gross consideration of US$203,052,500 payable in cash (less 50% of the Underwriter’s Fee) to the Subscription 
Receipt Agent against delivery of the Subscription Receipts. The Underwriters’ obligation to purchase the Subscription Receipts 
under the Underwriting Agreement is conditional upon completion of the Concurrent Private Placement.

The obligations of the Underwriters under the Underwriting Agreement are several (and not joint and several) and 
conditional and may be terminated at their discretion on the basis of the “regulatory out”, “material change out”, “disaster 
out” and “adverse tax development out” provisions in the Underwriting Agreement and may also be terminated upon the 
occurrence of certain other stated events as set out in the Underwriting Agreement. In addition, the Underwriting Agreement 
provides that, if a Termination Event has occurred prior to the Acquisition Closing Time, the Offering will be terminated. The 
Underwriters are, however, obligated to take up and pay for all of the Subscription Receipts if any of the Subscription Receipts 
are purchased under the Underwriting Agreement. The Offering Price has been determined by negotiation between the REIT 
and the Underwriters with reference to the market price of the Units and other applicable factors.  

The Underwriting Agreement provides that the REIT will pay the Underwriters a fee equal to 4.00% of the gross 
proceeds from the sale of the Subscription Receipts on account of their services rendered in connection with the Offering. The 
REIT will also pay the Underwriters a fee equal to 4.00% of the gross proceeds of the Option Securities sold by the REIT if the 
Over-Allotment Option is exercised. The Underwriters’ Fee in respect of the Subscription Receipts is payable as to 50% upon 
the Offering Closing and 50% upon the Acquisition Closing. The Underwriters’ Fee payable in respect of the Subscription 
Receipts upon the Acquisition Closing will be payable from the Escrowed Funds under the Subscription Receipt Agreement, in 
accordance with the terms and conditions thereof. If the Acquisition is not completed and the Escrowed Funds are refunded to 
the purchasers of Subscription Receipts, the Underwriters’ Fee in respect of the Subscription Receipts shall consist solely of 
such 50% amount payable at the Offering Closing. In the Underwriting Agreement, the Underwriters have agreed, subject to 
compliance with all necessary legal requirements and to the conditions set forth therein, to purchase all but not less than all of 
the Subscription Receipts.  

Pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, the REIT has granted to the Underwriters an option, exercisable at the 
Underwriters’ sole option and without obligation, in whole or in part, and at any time not later than the earlier of (i) 30 days after 
the Offering Closing, and (ii) the occurrence of a Termination Event, to purchase up to 2,122,500 Option Subscription Receipts 
at a price of US$14.35 per Option Subscription Receipt on the same terms and conditions set forth above, solely to cover over 
allocations, if any, and for market stabilization purposes. If the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full, the total price to the 
public, the total Underwriters’ Fee and net proceeds to the REIT (before deducting the expenses of this Offering) will be 
US$233,510,375, US$9,340,415 and US$224,169,960, respectively. If the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in whole or in 
part following the completion of the Acquisition, an equal number of Option Units will be issued at a price of US$14.35 per 
Option Unit in lieu of Option Subscription Receipts. The Prospectus qualifies the distribution of the Over-Allotment Option. A 
purchaser who acquires securities forming part of the Underwriters’ over allocation position acquires those securities under the 
Prospectus, regardless of whether the Underwriters’ over-allocation position is ultimately filled through the exercise of the Over-
Allotment Option or secondary market purchases. If the Over-Allotment Option is exercised, the net proceeds received by the 
REIT will be used by the REIT to pay for a portion of the purchase price of the Acquisition (or to reduce indebtedness incurred 
in connection therewith) and related expenses and in connection with the Acquisition. See “Use of Proceeds”.  

In the event that the Closing Date, and the closing date for the Over-Allotment Option (the “Over-Allotment Closing 
Date”), if applicable, occur after the record date for the REIT’s distribution for the month of February 2020, which record date 
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is expected to be February 28, 2020, the REIT will, conditional upon the Acquisition Closing, make a contractual cash payment 
pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement (a “Distribution Equivalency Payment”) to the purchasers of the Subscription 
Receipts or the Option Securities, as applicable, equal to the amount per Unit distributed by the REIT to the holders of Units for 
the month of February 2020, less applicable withholding taxes, if any, as if such purchasers had been holders of Units on the 
record date for such distribution. Such payment is to be made on the later of: (i) the later of the Acquisition Closing and Over-
Allotment Closing Date, as applicable; and (ii) the date the payment for the February 2020 distribution is made to the holders of 
the Units, which is expected to be March 16, 2020.  

The Offering is being made in each of the provinces of Canada and in the U.S. in an offering to “qualified institutional 
buyers”, as defined In Rule 144(a)(i) of the U.S. Securities Act, pursuant to the exemption from the registration requirement 
provided under Rule 114A thereunder. The Subscription Receipts will be offered in each of the provinces of Canada through 
those Underwriters or their affiliates who are registered to offer the Subscription Receipts for sale in such provinces and such 
other registered dealers as may be designated by the Underwriters. Subject to applicable law, and residency restrictions under 
the Declaration of Trust, the Underwriters may offer the Subscription Receipts outside of Canada.  

All of the Subscription Receipts sold in the Offering will be freely tradable without restriction or further registration 
under applicable Canadian securities laws.  

Under the Underwriting Agreement, the REIT has agreed to indemnify and hold harmless the Underwriters and their 
subsidiaries and affiliates, and each of their respective officers, directors, shareholders, employees, controlling persons, 
partners and agents, against certain liabilities, including civil liabilities under Canadian securities legislation, and to contribute 
to payments that any of the indemnified persons may be required to make in respect thereof. 

The TSX has conditionally approved the listing of the Subscription Receipts and the Units issuable upon exchange of 
the Subscription Receipts (and the Option Subscription Receipts (as defined herein) and the Option Units (as defined herein)) to 
be distributed under the Prospectus on the TSX. Listing is subject to the REIT fulfilling all of the listing requirements of the 
TSX on or before the third business day preceding the Closing Date. 

The REIT has agreed with the Underwriters that, for a period of 90 days following the Offering Closing, it will not, 
directly or indirectly, without the prior written consent of the Co-Lead Underwriters (on their own behalf and on behalf of the 
Underwriters), which consent may not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, (i) offer, create, issue, sell, grant any option, 
right or warrant to purchase, or otherwise transfer or dispose of any Units, financial instruments or other securities convertible 
into, or exercisable, exchangeable or redeemable for Units or agree or announce any intention to do any of the foregoing, in 
a public offering, by way of private placement or otherwise (except (a) pursuant to the Offering and the Concurrent Private 
Placement; (b) pursuant to the REIT’s option plan, deferred unit incentive plan, any redemption of previously-issued Class 
B Units or any issuance of securities to arm’s length vendors as full or partial consideration for the acquisition of assets; or 
(c) pursuant to any distribution reinvestment plan of the REIT), or (ii) enter into any swap or other arrangement that transfers 
to another, in whole in part, any of the economic consequences of ownership of Units, whether any such transaction is to be 
settled by delivery of Units, other securities, cash or otherwise. 

The Subscription Receipts have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act or any state 
securities laws and may not be offered or sold within the United States. Accordingly, the Subscription Receipts may not be 
offered, sold or delivered within the United States, and each Underwriter has agreed that it will not offer, sell or deliver the 
Units within the United States, except pursuant to the exemption from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act 
provided by Rule 144A thereunder (“Rule 144A”) and in compliance with applicable state securities laws. In addition, until 
40 days after the commencement of the Offering, any offer or sale of the Subscription Receipts offered hereby within the 
United States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the Offering) may violate the registration requirements of the 
U.S. Securities Act if such offer or sale is made otherwise than in accordance with Rule 144A. This Prospectus does not 
constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy the Subscription Receipts in the United States or to, or for the 
account or benefit of, U.S. persons. 

In connection with this Offering, the Underwriters may, subject to applicable law, over-allocate or effect transactions 
which stabilize or maintain the market price of the Subscription Receipts (or the Units, if the Acquisition is completed during 
the term of the Over-Allotment Option) at levels other than those which otherwise might prevail on the open market. 
Stabilizing transactions consist of bids or purchases made for the purpose of preventing or retarding a decline in the market 
price of such securities while this Offering is in progress. These transactions may also include making short sales of the 
securities, which involve the sale by the Underwriters of a greater number of securities than they are required to purchase in 
this Offering. Short sales may be “covered short sales”, which are short positions in an amount not greater than the Over-
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Allotment Option, or may be “naked short sales”, which are short positions in excess of that amount. The Underwriters may 
close out any covered short position either by exercising the Over-Allotment Option, in whole or in part, or by purchasing 
the securities in the open market. In making this determination, the Underwriters will consider, among other things, the price 
of the securities available for purchase in the open market compared with the price at which they may purchase the securities 
through the Over-Allotment Option. If, following the closing of this Offering, the market price of the securities decreases, 
the short position created by the over-allocation position in the securities may be filled through purchases in the market, 
creating upward pressure on the price of the securities. If, following the closing of this Offering, the market price of the 
securities increases, the over-allocation position in the securities may be filled through the exercise of the Over-Allotment 
Option in respect of the securities at the Offering Price. The Underwriters must close out any naked short position by 
purchasing the securities in the open market. A naked short position is more likely to be created if the Underwriters are 
concerned that there may be downward pressure on the price of the securities in the open market that could adversely affect 
investors who purchase in this Offering. Any naked short sales will form part of the Underwriters’ over-allocation position. 
A purchaser who acquires Subscription Receipts forming part of the Underwriters’ over-allocation position resulting from 
any covered short sales or naked short sales will, in each case, acquire such Subscription Receipts under this Prospectus 
regardless of whether the Underwriters’ over-allocation position is ultimately filled through the exercise of the Over-
Allotment Option or secondary market purchases. In addition, in accordance with rules and policy statements of certain 
Canadian securities regulators, the Underwriters may not, at any time during the period of distribution, bid for or purchase 
Subscription Receipts (or the Units, if the Acquisition is completed during the term of the Over-Allotment Option). This 
restriction is, however, subject to exceptions where the bid or purchase is not made for the purpose of creating actual or 
apparent active trading in, or raising the price of, the securities. These exceptions include a bid or purchase permitted under 
the by laws and rules of applicable regulatory authorities and the TSX, including the Universal Market Integrity Rules for 
Canadian Marketplaces, relating to market stabilization and passive market making activities and a bid or purchase made for 
and on behalf of a customer where the order was not solicited during the period of distribution. As a result of the foregoing 
activities, the price of the securities may be higher than the price that otherwise might exist in the open market. If these 
activities are commenced, they may be discontinued by the Underwriters at any time. The Underwriters may carry out these 
transactions on any stock exchange on which the securities are listed, in the over-the-counter market, or otherwise. 

The Underwriters propose to offer the Subscription Receipts to the public initially at the Offering Price. After the 
Underwriters have made a reasonable effort to sell all of the Subscription Receipts at the Offering Price, the selling price for the 
Subscription Receipts may be decreased and may be further changed from time to time to amounts not greater than those set 
forth on the cover page of this Prospectus Supplement, and the compensation realized by the Underwriters will be decreased by 
the amount that the aggregate price paid by the purchasers of the Subscription Receipts is less than the amount paid by the 
Underwriters to the REIT. Any such reduction will not affect the proceeds received by the REIT.  

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE REIT AND CERTAIN UNDERWRITERS 

BMO Nesbitt Burns Inc. and RBC Dominion Securities Inc. are affiliates of financial institutions that act as 
syndication agent and agent, respectively, and are joint lead-arrangers and joint-bookrunners under the amended and restated 
credit agreement governing the Revolving Facility and the Term Loans (collectively, the “Credit Facility”). Desjardins 
Securities Inc., BMO Nesbitt Burns Inc., RBC Dominion Securities Inc., CIBC World Markets Inc., National Bank Financial 
Inc., Scotia Capital Inc. and TD Securities Inc. are affiliates of financial institutions that act as lenders under the Credit 
Facility. In addition, an affiliate of BMO Nesbitt Burns Inc. has also been engaged by the REIT to act as broker in connection 
with the Acquisition. Consequently, the REIT may be considered a “connected issuer” to Desjardins Securities Inc., BMO 
Nesbitt Burns Inc., RBC Dominion Securities Inc., CIBC World Markets Inc., National Bank Financial Inc., Scotia Capital 
Inc. and TD Securities Inc. under applicable Canadian securities legislation.  

As at February 18, 2020, the REIT had drawn approximately US$131,500,000 on its Revolving Facility, 
US$125,000,000 on its Term Loan I, US$80,000,000 on its Term Loan II and US$70,000,000 on its Term Loan III, leaving 
availability of approximately US$113,500,000 on the Revolving Facility and US$55,000,000 on the Term Loan III (subject 
to requisite unencumbered assets). The Revolving Facility has a maturity date of March 26, 2023, with availability of 
US$245,000,000. The REIT has the option to extend the Revolving Facility for two additional six‐month periods. The Term 
Loan I matures on June 26, 2023, with availability of US$125,000,000. The Term Loan II matures on March 26, 2024, with 
availability of US$80,000,000. The Term Loan III matures on January 15, 2025, with availability of US$125,000,000. The 
Credit Facility contains an accordion feature which could increase the facility’s availability to US$875,000,000, subject to 
requisite unencumbered assets and lender approval. 

As at the date hereof, the REIT is in compliance with all material terms of the agreement governing the Credit 
Facility and none of the lenders under the Credit Facility has waived any breach by the REIT thereunder since its execution. 
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The Revolving Facility and Term Loans are each unsecured obligations of the REIT. The financial position of the REIT has 
not changed substantially since the indebtedness under the Revolving Facility and Term Loans was incurred. 

The decision to purchase Subscription Receipts by Desjardins Securities Inc., BMO Nesbitt Burns Inc., RBC 
Dominion Securities Inc., CIBC World Markets Inc., National Bank Financial Inc., Scotia Capital Inc. and TD Securities Inc. 
was made independently of their affiliated lenders under the Credit Facility and the brokerage team affiliated with BMO 
Nesbitt Burns Inc. and such lenders and such brokerage team had no influence as to the determination of the terms of the 
distribution of the Subscription Receipts. The terms of the Offering, including the Offering Price, were determined by 
negotiation between the REIT and the Co-Lead Underwriters, on their own behalf and on behalf of the other Underwriters, 
without involvement of any affiliate lenders under the Credit Facility or affiliated brokerage team.  

In the ordinary course of their various business activities, the Underwriters and certain of their affiliates may make 
or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related derivative securities) and financial 
instruments (including bank loans) for their own account and for the accounts of their customers, and such investment and 
securities activities may involve securities of the REIT or its affiliates, including the Subscription Receipts. If the 
Underwriters or their affiliates have a lending relationship with the REIT, they routinely hedge their credit exposure to the 
REIT consistent with their customary risk management policies. The Underwriters and their affiliates may hedge such 
exposure by entering into transactions which consist of either the purchase of credit default swaps or the creation of short 
positions in the securities of the REIT or its affiliates, including the Subscription Receipts. Any such short positions could 
adversely affect future trading prices of the Subscription Receipts. The Underwriters and certain of their affiliates may also 
communicate independent investment recommendations, market color or trading ideas and/or publish or express independent 
research views in respect of the Units and may at any time hold, or recommend to clients that it acquires, long and/or short 
positions in the Units. 

CONCURRENT PRIVATE PLACEMENT 

The REIT will, concurrently with the closing of the Offering, complete the Concurrent Private Placement, pursuant 
to which AIMCo will purchase, on a non-brokered “private placement” basis, 2,578,400 Private Placement Subscription 
Receipts at a price of US$14.35 per Private Placement Subscription Receipt for aggregate gross proceeds to the REIT of 
US$37,000,040. The Prospectus does not qualify the distribution of the Private Placement Subscription Receipts issuable 
pursuant to the Concurrent Private Placement. The conditions relating to the holding and release of the subscription amount 
from the Concurrent Private Placement in escrow and the issuance of the Units upon exchange of the Private Placement 
Subscription Receipts are substantially equivalent to those applicable to the Subscription Receipts offered pursuant to the 
Prospectus. See “Description of the Subscription Receipts”. The Underwriting Agreement provides that the closing of the 
Offering is subject to the concurrent closing of the Concurrent Private Placement. If the Concurrent Private Placement is not 
completed prior to or concurrently with the Offering, the Offering will not be completed unless this condition is waived by 
the Underwriters. See “Risk Factors – Risks Related to the Offering – Possible Failure to Complete the Concurrent Private 
Placement”. Completion of the Concurrent Private Placement is subject to a number of conditions including the concurrent 
closing of the Offering and the approval of the TSX. 

DISTRIBUTION POLICY 

The REIT has adopted a distribution policy, as permitted under the Declaration of Trust. See the section entitled 
“Distribution Policy” in the Annual Information Form for a description of the REIT’s distribution policy. 

PRIOR SALES 

During the 12 months prior to the date hereof, the only securities issued by the REIT are as follows: (a) distribution 
of 52,382 deferred trust units under the deferred unit incentive plan (see “Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity 
Compensation Plans – Incentive Compensation Plans” in the Management Information Circular for a summary description 
of the applicable grant and redemption parameters) with grant prices ranging from US$13.57 to US$14.68; (b) 110,902 
deferred trust unit grants under the deferred unit incentive plan with grant prices ranging from US$13.56 to US$13.91; (c) 
89,920 Units issued pursuant to the exercise of deferred trust units with exercise prices ranging from US$13.63 to US$13.85; 
(d) 10,597 Units issued pursuant to the exercise of Unit options with exercise prices ranging from US$13.63 to US$13.79; 
(e) 76,106 deferred limited partnership units granted pursuant to a sub-plan of the deferred unit incentive plan with grant 
prices ranging from US$13.63 to US$13.79; (f) 260,171 Units issued upon the redemption of 260,171 Class B Units with 
exercise prices ranging from US$13.72 to US$13.88; (g) 10,000,000 Units issued in connection with a public offering of 
Units on February 25, 2019 at a price of $13.50 per Unit; and (h) 7,084,000 Units issued in connection with the October 2019 
Offering and the exercise in full of the over-allotment option on November 27, 2019 at a price of US$13.80 per Unit.  
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PRICE RANGE AND TRADING VOLUME OF UNITS 

The Units are listed for trading on the TSX in U.S. dollars under the symbol “WIR.U” and in Canadian dollars under 
the symbol “WIR.UN”. The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the reported monthly range of high and low 
prices per Unit and total monthly volumes traded on the TSX:  

Month 

Price per Unit Monthly 
High 

Price per Unit 
Monthly Low 

Total Monthly 
Volume (US$) (Cdn$) (US$) (Cdn$) 

February 2019 14.35 N/A 13.22 N/A 3,118,807
March 2019 13.98 N/A 13.30 N/A 4,136,616
April 2019 14.10 N/A 13.60 N/A 2,077,808
May 2019 13.97 N/A 13.45 N/A 1,354,256
June 2019 14.03 N/A 13.15 N/A 1,153,459
July 2019 14.02 N/A 13.09 N/A 1,917,931
August 2019 14.00 N/A 13.61 N/A 1,032,885
September 2019 14.19 N/A 13.36 N/A 2,401,583
October 2019 14.34 N/A 13.56 N/A 3,585,697
November 2019 14.08 N/A 13.41 N/A 3,384,868
December 2019 14.25 N/A 13.71 N/A 2,905,000
January 2020 14.57 19.09 13.60 18.32 2,806,490
February 1-19, 2020 15.13 20.30 14.20 18.75 1,783,900

____________________ 

Source: TSX MarketData 

On February 14, 2020, prior to the public announcement of the Offering, the final trading price of the Units on the 
TSX was US$14.73 and Cdn$19.57. On February 19, 2020, being the last day on which the Units traded prior to the date of 
this Prospectus Supplement, the closing price of the Units was US$14.52 and Cdn$19.25. 

CERTAIN CANADIAN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS 

In the opinion of Blake, Cassels & Graydon LLP, Canadian counsel to the REIT, and McCarthy Tétrault LLP, 
Canadian counsel to the Underwriters, the following is a summary of the principal Canadian federal income tax considerations 
under the Tax Act generally applicable as of the date hereof to a purchaser who acquires Subscription Receipts pursuant to 
this Prospectus and to such a purchaser who acquires, as beneficial owner, Units on the exchange of Subscription Receipts 
acquired by such purchaser pursuant to this Prospectus (collectively, “Securities”) and who, for the purposes of the Tax Act 
and at all relevant times, is resident in Canada, deals at arm’s length with the REIT and each of the Underwriters, is not 
affiliated with the REIT or any of the Underwriters and holds the Securities as capital property (in this section of the 
prospectus, referred to as a “Holder”). The Securities generally will be capital property to a Holder provided that the Holder 
does not hold such Securities in the course of carrying on a business and has not acquired them in a transaction or transactions 
considered to be an adventure or concern in the nature of trade. Certain holders who might not otherwise be considered to 
hold their Securities as capital property may, in certain circumstances, be entitled to make an irrevocable election in 
accordance with subsection 39(4) of the Tax Act to have any Units received on the exchange of Subscription Receipts, and 
any other “Canadian security” (as defined in the Tax Act) owned in the taxation year in which the election is made, and in all 
subsequent taxation years, deemed to be capital property.  Such election however will not apply to the Subscription Receipts.  
Holders who do not hold their Securities as capital property should consult their own tax advisors regarding their particular 
circumstances. 

This summary does not apply to a Holder: (i) that is a “financial institution” subject to the mark-to-market rules in 
the Tax Act; (ii) an interest in which would be a “tax shelter investment” within the meaning of the Tax Act; (iii) that has 
elected to determine its “Canadian tax results” in a foreign currency pursuant to the “functional currency” reporting rules in 
the Tax Act; (iv) that holds or has held, actually or constructively, more than 10% of the outstanding Units or Subscription 
Receipts with a value greater than 5% of the REIT’s outstanding Units, as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes 
at any relevant time (See “Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations”); or (v) that has entered or will enter into a 
“derivative forward agreement”, as defined in the Tax Act, with respect to the Holder’s Subscription Receipts or Units. Such 
Holders should consult their own tax advisors to determine the tax consequences to them of the acquisition, holding and 
disposition of Securities. In addition, this summary does not address the deductibility of interest by a purchaser who has 
borrowed money to acquire Securities under this Offering. 
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This summary assumes that either the TSX Publicly Traded Exception or the U.S. Publicly Traded Exception (each 
as defined below) applies to the Units. See “Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations — Taxation of Non-U.S. 
Holders”. 

This summary is based on the current provisions of the Tax Act and the regulations thereunder (the “Regulations”), 
all specific proposals to amend the Tax Act and the Regulations publicly announced by or on behalf of the Minister of Finance 
(Canada) before the date hereof (“Proposed Amendments”), counsel’s understanding of the current administrative policies 
and assessing practices published in writing by the Canada Revenue Agency (the “CRA”), and a certificate as to certain 
factual matters from an executive officer of the REIT. Except for the Proposed Amendments, this summary does not take into 
account or anticipate any changes in law, whether by legislative, governmental or judicial action, nor does it take into account 
other federal or any provincial, territorial or foreign tax legislation or considerations. No assurance can be given that the 
Proposed Amendments will be enacted in the form proposed or at all.  

This summary is of a general nature only and is not exhaustive of all possible Canadian federal income tax 
considerations applicable to an investment in Securities. The income and other tax consequences of acquiring, holding 
or disposing of Securities will vary depending on a purchaser’s particular status and circumstances, including the 
province or territory in which the purchaser resides or carries on business. This summary is not intended to be, nor 
should it be construed to be, legal or tax advice to any particular purchaser. Purchasers should consult their own tax 
advisors for advice with respect to the income tax consequences of an investment in Securities in their own 
circumstances. 

For the purposes of this summary and the opinion given under the heading “Eligibility for Investment”, a reference 
to the REIT is a reference to WPT Industrial Real Estate Investment Trust only and is not a reference to any of its subsidiaries 
or predecessors. 

Currency Conversion 

Generally, for purposes of the Tax Act, all amounts relating to the acquisition, holding or disposition of Securities 
must be expressed in Canadian dollars. Amounts denominated in another currency must be converted into Canadian dollars 
using the exchange rate quoted by the Bank of Canada on the date such amounts first arose, or such other rate of exchange as 
is acceptable to the CRA. An investment in Securities will be denominated in U.S. dollars and amounts paid in respect of the 
Subscription Receipts and the distributions made on the Units will be made in U.S. dollars. Accordingly, Holders of Securities 
must convert such amounts to Canadian dollars for the purposes of the Tax Act. 

Holders should consult their own tax advisors for advice in this regard, including in respect of the applicable rate of 
conversion in respect of the acquisition of Subscription Receipts and Units issued on the exchange of such Subscription 
Receipts.  

Status of the REIT 

This summary assumes the REIT will qualify at all times as a “mutual fund trust” within the meaning of the Tax 
Act. An executive officer of the REIT has advised counsel that it intends to ensure that the REIT will meet the requirements 
necessary for it to qualify as a mutual fund trust at all times. If the REIT were not to qualify as a mutual fund trust at all 
times, the income tax considerations could be materially and adversely different from those described below.

This summary is also based on the assumption that the REIT will at no time be a “SIFT trust”, as defined in the rules 
applicable to SIFT trusts and SIFT partnerships in the Tax Act (the “SIFT Rules”). The SIFT Rules effectively tax certain 
income of a publicly-traded trust or partnership that is distributed to its investors on the same basis as would have applied 
had the income been earned through a taxable Canadian corporation and distributed by way of dividend to its shareholders. 
These rules apply only to “SIFT trusts” and “SIFT partnerships” (each as defined in the Tax Act) and their investors. 

Where the SIFT Rules apply, distributions of a SIFT trust’s “non-portfolio earnings” are not deductible in computing 
the SIFT trust’s net income. Non-portfolio earnings generally are defined as income attributable to a business carried on by 
the SIFT trust in Canada or to income (other than certain dividends) from, and capital gains from the disposition of, “non-
portfolio properties” (as defined in the Tax Act). The SIFT trust is itself liable to pay an income tax on an amount equal to 
the amount of such non-deductible distributions at a rate that is substantially equivalent to the combined federal and provincial 
general tax rate applicable to taxable Canadian corporations. Such non-deductible distributions paid to a holder of units of 
the SIFT trust generally are deemed to be taxable dividends received by the holder of such units from a taxable Canadian 
corporation. Such deemed dividends will qualify as “eligible dividends” for purposes of the enhanced gross-up and dividend 
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tax credit available under the Tax Act to individuals resident in Canada and for purposes of computing a Canadian resident 
corporation’s “general rate income pool” or “low rate income pool”, as the case may be (each as defined in the Tax Act). In 
general, distributions paid as returns of capital will not be subject to the SIFT Rules. 

The REIT will not be considered to be a SIFT trust in respect of a particular taxation year and, accordingly, will not 
be subject to the SIFT Rules in that year, if it does not own any non-portfolio property and does not carry on business in 
Canada in that year. An executive officer of the REIT has advised counsel that the REIT has not and does not currently intend 
to own any non-portfolio property or carry on a business in Canada. 

If the REIT were to become subject to the SIFT Rules, certain of the income tax considerations described below 
would, in some respects, be materially and adversely different, and the SIFT Rules may, depending on the nature and extent 
of distributions from the REIT, including what portion of its distributions are income and what portion are returns of capital, 
have a material adverse effect on the after-tax returns of Unitholders. 

The remainder of this summary assumes that the REIT will not own any non-portfolio property or carry on business 
in Canada and, accordingly, will not be a SIFT trust. 

Taxation of the REIT 

The taxation year of the REIT is the calendar year. The REIT must compute its income or loss for each taxation year 
as though it were an individual resident in Canada. The income of the REIT for purposes of the Tax Act will include, among 
other things, foreign accrual property income (“FAPI”) in respect of its “controlled foreign affiliates”, dividends received 
from U.S. Holdco (as defined in the Annual Information Form) as described further below, and any net realized taxable 
capital gains. 

U.S. Holdco is a “foreign affiliate” and a “controlled foreign affiliate” of the REIT for purposes of the Tax Act. To 
the extent that U.S. Holdco or any other controlled foreign affiliate of the REIT earns income in a particular taxation year 
that is characterized as FAPI for purposes of the Tax Act, the FAPI allocable to the REIT must be included in computing the 
income of the REIT for the taxation year of the REIT in which the taxation year of U.S. Holdco (or such other controlled 
foreign affiliate) ends whether or not the REIT actually receives a distribution of FAPI in that fiscal year. The FAPI of U.S. 
Holdco will include FAPI earned directly or indirectly by U.S. Holdco (including income earned through one or more 
subsidiary partnerships) as well as U.S. Holdco’s allocable share of any FAPI earned by controlled foreign affiliates of the 
Partnership or any subsidiary partnerships thereof). If an amount of FAPI is included in computing the income of the REIT 
for Canadian tax purposes, an amount may be deductible in respect of the “foreign accrual tax” (“FAT”) applicable to the 
FAPI as computed in accordance with the Tax Act. As the REIT intends to qualify as a real estate investment trust for U.S. 
federal income tax purposes, the amount of U.S. federal income tax payable by U.S. Holdco and the REIT on its operating 
income is not expected to be material, and it is not expected that there would be a material related FAT deduction available 
to apply against any FAPI in respect of U.S. Holdco or any other controlled foreign affiliate of the REIT. 

The adjusted cost base to the REIT of its shares in U.S. Holdco will be increased by the net amount of FAPI included 
in the income of the REIT in respect of FAPI earned by U.S. Holdco and/or allocated to U.S. Holdco. At such time as the 
REIT receives a dividend from U.S. Holdco, the amount included in income in respect of that dividend will effectively be 
reduced by any amount(s) so added to the adjusted cost base to the REIT of its shares of U.S. Holdco (for clarity, net of any 
applicable FAT deduction in computing FAPI) and there will be a corresponding reduction in the adjusted cost base to the 
REIT of its shares in U.S. Holdco. It is anticipated that all or a portion of the income earned by U.S. Holdco (and controlled 
foreign affiliates of the Partnership, or certain subsidiary partnerships thereof) in respect of the properties of the REIT will 
be FAPI and, accordingly, will be required to be included in computing the income of the REIT for Canadian federal income 
tax purposes. 

For the purposes of the Tax Act, all income of the REIT (including FAPI) must be calculated in Canadian currency. 
Where the REIT (or any of its subsidiaries) holds investments or incurs indebtedness denominated in foreign currencies (such 
as U.S. dollars), gains or losses may be realized by the REIT as a consequence of fluctuations in the relative value of the 
Canadian and such foreign currencies. 

In computing its income, the REIT will be entitled to deduct reasonable current administrative and other expenses 
incurred by it to earn income. Reasonable expenses incurred in respect of the issuance of Units generally may be deducted 
by the REIT on a five-year, straight-line basis, pro-rated for short taxation years. 
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The REIT may deduct from its income for a taxation year amounts which are paid or become payable by it to 
Unitholders in such year. An amount will be considered to be payable in a taxation year if a Unitholder is entitled in the year 
to enforce payment of the amount. Counsel has been advised by an executive officer of the REIT that the trustees’ current 
intention is to make payable to Unitholders each year sufficient amounts such that the REIT generally will not be liable to 
pay tax under Part I of the Tax Act. Where the REIT does not have sufficient cash to distribute such amounts in a particular 
taxation year, the REIT intends to make one or more in-kind distributions in that year in the form of additional Units. Income 
of the REIT payable in a taxation year of the REIT to the Unitholders in the form of additional Units will generally be 
deductible by the REIT in computing its income for that year. 

A distribution by the REIT of its property upon a redemption of Units will be treated as a disposition by the REIT 
of such property for proceeds of disposition equal to the fair market value thereof. Where the property in question was held 
by the REIT as capital property, the REIT will realize a capital gain (or a capital loss) to the extent that the proceeds from the 
disposition of the property exceed (or are less than) the aggregate of the adjusted cost base of the relevant property and any 
reasonable costs of disposition. 

Losses incurred by the REIT cannot be allocated to Unitholders, but can be deducted by the REIT in future years in 
computing its taxable income, in accordance with the Tax Act. In the event the REIT would otherwise be liable for tax on its 
net realized taxable capital gains for a taxation year, it will be entitled for such taxation year to reduce (or receive a refund in 
respect of) its liability for such tax by an amount determined under the Tax Act based on the redemption of Units during the 
year (the “capital gains refund”). The capital gains refund in a particular taxation year may not completely offset the REIT’s 
tax liability for the taxation year arising in connection with the transfer of property in specie to redeeming Unitholders on the 
redemption of Units. The Declaration of Trust provides that all or a portion of any capital gain or income realized by the 
REIT in connection with such redemptions may, at the discretion of the Trustees, be treated as capital gains or income paid 
to, and designated as capital gains or income of, the redeeming Holder. Such income or the taxable portion of the capital gain 
so designated must be included in the income of the redeeming Unitholder (as income or taxable capital gains, as the case 
may be) and may be deductible by the REIT in computing its income. However, certain Proposed Amendments would 
generally prohibit the REIT from deducting, in the computation of the REIT's income, the portion of an amount paid to a 
redeeming Unitholder of the REIT that is considered to be paid out of the income of the REIT, and limit the ability of the 
REIT to deduct capital gains so allocated to redeeming Unitholders. If such Proposed Amendments are enacted in their current 
form, any such income (including any taxable capital gains) may be made payable to non-redeeming Unitholders so that the 
REIT will not be liable for non-refundable income tax thereon, in which case the amounts and/or taxable component of 
distributions to non-redeeming Holders of the REIT may be greater than would have been the case in the absence of such 
amendments. 

Taxation of Holders 

Taxation of Subscription Receipts 

Exchange of Subscription Receipts 

No gain or loss will be realized by a Holder on the exchange of a Subscription Receipt for a Unit evidenced thereby. 
The cost to a Holder of a Unit received in exchange for a Subscription Receipt will be the Offering Price for the Subscription 
Receipt, plus the Holder’s pro rata share of any Earned Interest that is included in the Holder’s income and remitted to the 
REIT upon the acquisition of the Unit pursuant to the Subscription Receipt Agreement, less any amount treated as a reduction 
in the purchase price of the Unit (see “– Subscription Receipt Adjustment Payment” below).  

The adjusted cost base to a Holder of Units issued pursuant to the terms of the Subscription Receipts at any time 
will be determined by averaging the cost of such Units with the adjusted cost base of any other Units owned by the Holder 
as capital property immediately before such time. 

Holders should consult their own tax advisors concerning the tax treatment of receiving a Distribution Equivalency 
Payment in respect of Subscription Receipts, if any, as this summary does not address such tax treatment. 

Subscription Receipt Adjustment Payment 

As described above under “Description of the Subscription Receipts”, upon the satisfaction or waiver of the Escrow 
Release Conditions prior to a Termination Event, Holders will automatically receive one Unit in exchange for each 
Subscription Receipt held and be entitled to receive from the Escrow Agent the Subscription Receipt Adjustment Payment 
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(less applicable withholding taxes, if any), if any, for each Subscription Receipt so held. The payment of the Subscription 
Receipt Adjustment Payment, if any, will include the Holder’s pro rata share of Earned Interest (provided such amount shall 
not exceed the Subscription Receipt Adjustment Payment payable to such Holder). The taxation of any such Earned Interest 
paid to a Holder as part of the payment of a Subscription Receipt Adjustment Payment is described under “– Pro Rata Share 
of Interest” below. If the amount of such interest is less than the Subscription Receipt Adjustment Payment, the amount of 
the shortfall will be released to the Holder from the Escrowed Funds and treated as a reduction in the purchase price of the 
Unit issuable to such Holder pursuant to the Subscription Receipt held by such Holder. Any such amount generally will not 
be included in the Holder’s income and instead will reduce the cost to the Holder of the Holder’s Unit acquired on the 
exchange of the Subscription Receipt. 

Termination Event 

As described above under “Description of the Subscription Receipts”, if a Termination Event occurs, Holders of the 
Subscription Receipts will be entitled to receive from the Escrow Agent an amount equal to the Offering Price therefor and 
their pro rata share of Earned Interest and Deemed Interest. 

In this event, an amount equal to the Earned Interest will be, and Deemed Interest should be, required to be included 
in the income of such Holders, as described under “– Pro Rata Share of Interest” below. Any such amount on account of 
Earned Interest and Deemed Interest paid to a Holder that is included in the Holder’s income will be excluded from the 
Holder’s proceeds of disposition of a Subscription Receipt. 

In the event that a Holder becomes entitled to the repayment of the Offering Price for a Subscription Receipt as a 
consequence of a Termination Event, the repayment of the Offering Price for the Subscription Receipt out of the Escrowed 
Funds will generally result in the Holder being considered to have disposed of his or her Subscription Receipt and realizing 
a capital gain (or capital loss) equal to the amount by which the proceeds of disposition are greater (or less) than the aggregate 
of the Holder’s adjusted cost base of such Subscription Receipt immediately before such disposition and any reasonable costs 
of disposition (see “– Capital Gains and Losses” below). A Holder’s cost of a Subscription Receipt will generally be the 
Offering Price thereof. The adjusted cost base to a Holder of a Subscription Receipt at any time will be determined by 
averaging the cost of such Subscription Receipt with the adjusted cost base of any other Subscription Receipts owned by the 
Holder as capital property immediately before such time. 

Pro Rata Share of Interest 

A Holder that is a corporation, partnership, unit trust or any trust of which a corporation or a partnership is a 
beneficiary will be required to include in computing its income for a taxation year any interest accrued or deemed to have 
accrued to the Holder on the Escrowed Funds, to the end of the Holder’s taxation year, or that is receivable or received by 
the Holder before the end of that taxation year, except to the extent that such interest was included in computing the Holder’s 
income for a preceding taxation year. This will include any Earned Interest, whether or not such amounts are received or 
receivable by such Holder as full or partial payment of a Subscription Receipt Adjustment Payment (if any) or otherwise.  

Any other Holder will be required to include in computing its income for a taxation year such interest as is received 
or receivable by the Holder or by the Subscription Receipt Agent on behalf of the Holder in that taxation year, depending on 
the method regularly followed by the Holder in computing income, to the extent that such interest was not included in 
computing the Holder’s income for a preceding taxation year. 

Holders should consult their own tax advisors concerning whether any Deemed Interest would constitute interest 
income. 

Other Dispositions of Subscription Receipts 

A disposition or deemed disposition by a Holder of a Subscription Receipt (other than on the exchange thereof for 
a Unit pursuant to the terms of the Subscription Receipt Agreement or on the repayment of the Offering Price therefor if a 
Termination Event occurs, each as described above) will generally result in the Holder realizing a capital gain (or capital 
loss) equal to the amount by which the proceeds of disposition are greater (or less) than the aggregate of the Holder’s adjusted 
cost base thereof immediately before such disposition and any reasonable costs of disposition (see “– Capital Gains and 
Losses” below). 

Foreign Tax Credits and Deductions
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To the extent that a Holder is subject to U.S. withholding tax in respect of the portion of a Subscription Receipt 
Adjustment Payment that is attributable to Earned Interest, or otherwise in respect of the payment of Earned Interest and 
Deemed Interest on the occurrence of a Termination Event, the amount of such tax may be eligible for foreign tax credit or 
deduction treatment, subject to the detailed rules and limitations in the Tax Act, and as described in the ensuing paragraphs; 
provided, however, that in the event any U.S. tax is withheld that does not represent the final U.S. income tax liability for the 
year, the Holder also files a U.S. federal income tax return to establish the Holder’s final U.S. income tax liability for the year 
and the Holder is not entitled to a refund of such withholding tax. 

The U.S. withholding tax deducted in respect of Earned Interest or Deemed Interest will generally be characterized 
as “non-business income tax”, as defined in the Tax Act, and may be deductible as a foreign tax credit from the Holder’s 
Canadian federal income tax otherwise payable for that year to the extent permitted by the Tax Act where the Holder has 
sufficient non-business income from U.S. sources computed in accordance with the Tax Act, and where such tax has not been 
deducted in computing the Holder’s income. Holders should note that Earned Interest may not, and Deemed Interest generally 
will not, be treated as income from a U.S. source for these purposes, and accordingly Holders may not have sufficient non-
business income from U.S. sources to claim a foreign tax credit. Alternatively, such non-business income tax (including any 
amount not deductible in computing tax payable as a foreign tax credit) generally may be deducted by the Holder in computing 
the Holder’s net income for the purposes of the Tax Act.  

A Holder’s ability to apply U.S. withholding taxes in the foregoing manner may be affected (i) where the Holder 
does not have sufficient taxes otherwise payable under Part I of the Tax Act, or sufficient U.S. source income in the taxation 
year the U.S. withholding taxes are paid, or (ii) where the Holder has other U.S. sources of income or losses, or has paid other 
U.S. taxes. Although the foreign tax credit provisions are generally designed to avoid double taxation, the maximum credit 
is limited. Because of this, and because of timing differences in recognition of expenses and income and other factors, there 
is a risk of double taxation. Holders should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the availability of a foreign tax 
credit or deduction, having regard to their own circumstances. 

Taxation of Units  

REIT Distributions 

A Holder generally will be required to include in computing income for a particular taxation year the portion of the 
net income of the REIT (including FAPI attributed to the REIT, dividends received by the REIT from U.S. Holdco, except 
to the extent that the amount included in the REIT’s income in respect of such dividends is effectively reduced in connection 
with prior FAPI recognition as described above under “Taxation of the REIT”, and any net realized taxable capital gains) that 
is paid or payable to the Holder on the Units in that taxation year, whether or not those amounts are received in cash, additional 
Units or otherwise. Any loss of the REIT for purposes of the Tax Act cannot be allocated to, or treated as a loss of, a Holder. 

Provided that the appropriate designations are made by the REIT, such portion of its net taxable capital gains and 
foreign source income that are paid or become payable to a Holder will retain their character as taxable capital gains or foreign 
source income, as the case may be, to Holders for purposes of the Tax Act. This summary assumes that such designations 
will be made by the REIT.  

The non-taxable portion of any net realized capital gains of the REIT that are paid or payable to a Holder in a taxation 
year will not be included in computing the Holder’s income for the year. Any other amount in excess of the net income of 
the REIT that is paid or payable to a Holder on the Units in a year generally will not be included in the Holder’s income for 
the year, but a Holder will be required to reduce the adjusted cost base of its Units by the portion of any amount (other than 
proceeds of disposition in respect of the redemption of Units and the non-taxable portion of net capital gains the taxable 
portion of which is designated in respect of the Holder) paid or payable to such Holder that was not included in computing 
the Holder’s income. To the extent that the adjusted cost base of a Unit otherwise would be less than zero, the Holder will be 
deemed to have realized a capital gain equal to the negative amount and the Holder’s adjusted cost base of the Units will be 
increased by the amount of such deemed capital gain. 

Foreign Tax Credits and Deductions 

To the extent that a Holder is subject to U.S. withholding tax in respect of distributions paid by the REIT on the 
Units, the amount of such tax generally will be eligible for foreign tax credit or deduction treatment, subject to the detailed 
rules and limitations under the Tax Act, and as described in the ensuing paragraphs; provided, however, that in the event any 
U.S. tax is withheld that does not represent the final U.S. income tax liability for the year, the Holder also files a U.S. federal 
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income tax return to establish the Holder’s final U.S. income tax liability for the year and the Holder is not entitled to a refund 
of such withholding tax. 

The U.S. withholding tax deducted in respect of a distribution paid on a Unit in a taxation year will generally be 
characterized as “non-business income tax”, as defined in the Tax Act, and may be deductible as a foreign tax credit from the 
Holder’s Canadian federal income tax otherwise payable for that year to the extent permitted by the Tax Act where the Holder 
has sufficient non-business income from U.S. sources computed in accordance with the Tax Act, and where such tax has not 
been deducted in computing the Holder’s income. Alternatively, such non-business income tax (including any amount not 
deductible in computing tax payable as a foreign tax credit) generally may be deducted by the Holder in computing the 
Holder’s net income for the purposes of the Tax Act.  

A Holder’s ability to apply U.S. withholding taxes in the foregoing manner may be affected (i) where the Holder 
does not have sufficient taxes otherwise payable under Part I of the Tax Act or sufficient U.S. source income in the taxation 
year the U.S. withholding taxes are paid, or (ii) where the Holder has other U.S. sources of income or losses or has paid other 
U.S. taxes. Although the foreign tax credit provisions are generally designed to avoid double taxation, the maximum credit 
is limited. Because of this, and because of timing differences in recognition of expenses and income and other factors, there 
is a risk of double taxation. Holders should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the availability of a foreign tax 
credit or deduction, having regard to their own circumstances. 

Disposition of Units 

Upon the disposition or deemed disposition of Units by a Holder, whether on a redemption or otherwise, the Holder 
generally will realize a capital gain (or a capital loss) equal to the amount by which the proceeds of disposition (determined, 
in the case of a redemption, as discussed below) are greater (or less) than the aggregate of the Holder’s adjusted cost base of 
the Units immediately before such disposition and any reasonable costs of disposition. 

The adjusted cost base to a Holder of a Unit generally will include all amounts paid by the Holder for the Unit 
subject to certain adjustments, including reductions as a consequence of distributions paid by the REIT in excess of its net 
income as described above. The cost of additional Units received in lieu of a cash distribution will generally be the amount 
of income of the REIT distributed by the issuance of such Units. For the purpose of determining the adjusted cost base of a 
Unit to a Holder, when a Unit is acquired, the cost of the newly acquired Unit will be averaged with the adjusted cost base of 
all of the Units owned by the Holder as capital property immediately before that acquisition. 

A redemption of Units in consideration for cash, notes, or other assets of the REIT, as the case may be, will be a 
disposition of such Units for proceeds of disposition equal to the amount of such cash or the fair market value of such notes 
or other assets, as the case may be, less any income or capital gain realized by the REIT in connection with the redemption 
of those Units to the extent such income or capital gain is designated by the REIT to the redeeming Holder. Holders exercising 
the right of redemption will consequently realize a capital gain, or sustain a capital loss, depending upon whether such 
proceeds of disposition exceed, or are exceeded by, the adjusted cost base of the Units redeemed. Where income or capital 
gains realized by the REIT in connection with the distribution of property in specie on the redemption of Units has been 
designated by the REIT to a redeeming Holder, the Holder will be required to include in income the income or taxable portion 
of the capital gain so designated. The cost of any property distributed in specie by the REIT to a Holder upon a redemption 
of Units will be equal to the fair market value of that property at the time of the distribution. The Holder will thereafter be 
required to include in income the amount of any interest or other income derived from the property, in accordance with the 
provisions of the Tax Act. 

Capital Gains and Losses 

One-half of any capital gain realized by a Holder from a disposition of Subscription Receipts or Units and the amount 
of any net taxable capital gains designated by the REIT in respect of the Holder will be included in the Holder’s income under 
the Tax Act as a taxable capital gain. One-half of any capital loss (an “allowable capital loss”) realized on the disposition of 
a Subscription Receipt or Unit will be deducted against any taxable capital gains realized by the Holder in the year of 
disposition, and any excess of allowable capital losses over taxable capital gains may be carried back to the three preceding 
taxation years or forward to any subsequent taxation year and applied against net taxable capital gains in those years, subject 
to the detailed rules contained in the Tax Act. 

Refundable Tax 
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A Holder that is a Canadian-controlled private corporation (as defined in the Tax Act) will be subject to an additional 
refundable tax in respect of its aggregate investment income for the year, which is generally defined to include interest, all or 
substantially all income and capital gains distributed to the Holder by the REIT, and capital gains realized on a disposition of 
Subscription Receipts or Units.  

Alternative Minimum Tax 

A Holder who is an individual or trust (other than certain specified trusts) may have an increased liability for alternative 
minimum tax as a result of capital gains realized on a disposition of Subscription Receipts or Units and net income of the 
REIT paid or payable, or deemed to be paid or payable, to the Holder and that is designated as taxable dividends and net 
taxable capital gains.

CERTAIN U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS 

In the opinion of Vinson & Elkins LLP, U.S. counsel to the REIT, the following is a description of (i) certain U.S. 
federal income tax consequences of the treatment of the REIT as a U.S. real estate investment trust and (ii) certain U.S. 
federal income tax consequences of the ownership and disposition of the Subscription Receipts and the Units to Non-U.S. 
Holders (as defined below). 

The following is a summary of the material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the REIT’s status as a real 
estate investment trust and of an investment in the Subscription Receipts and the Units by Non-U.S. Holders. Vinson & 
Elkins LLP has acted as the REIT’s tax counsel, has reviewed this summary, and is of the opinion that the discussion 
contained herein is accurate in all material respects. This summary is based upon the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended (the “Code”), the regulations promulgated by the U.S. Treasury Department, rulings and other administrative 
pronouncements issued by the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”), and judicial decisions, all as currently in effect, and 
all of which are subject to differing interpretations or to change, possibly with retroactive effect. The following discussion 
takes into account H.R. 1, informally titled the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “TCJA”). The TCJA made major changes to 
Code, including several provisions of the Code that may affect the taxation of U.S. real estate investment trusts and their 
securityholders. The most significant of these provisions are described below. Investors should consult their tax advisors 
regarding the implications of the TCJA on their investment. 

This discussion is limited to Non-U.S. Holders that hold Subscription Receipts and Units as capital assets, which 
generally means as property held for investment. Because this section is a summary, it does not address all aspects of 
taxation that may be relevant to particular Non-U.S. Holders of Subscription Receipts and Units in light of their personal 
investment or tax circumstances, or to certain types of Non-U.S. Holders that are subject to special treatment under the U.S. 
federal income tax laws, such as: 

 U.S. expatriates and former citizens or long-term residents of the United States; 

 financial institutions or broker-dealers; 

 insurance companies; 

 persons who mark-to-market Subscription Receipts or Units; 

 trusts and estates; 

 persons who hold Subscription Receipts or Units on behalf of other persons as nominees; 

 persons who receive Subscription Receipts or Units through the exercise of employee stock options or 
otherwise as compensation; 

 persons holding Subscription Receipts or Units as part of a “straddle”, “hedge”, “conversion transaction”, 
“synthetic security” or other integrated investment; 

 persons holding Subscription Receipts or Units through a partnership or similar pass-through entity; and 

 tax-exempt organizations. 
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If a partnership, including for this purpose any entity or arrangement that is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal 
income tax purposes, holds Subscription Receipts or Units, the tax treatment of a partner in the partnership will generally 
depend upon the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership and upon certain determinations made at the 
partner level. An investor that is a partnership and the partners in such partnership should consult their tax advisors about 
the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership and disposition of Subscription Receipts and Units. 

For purposes of this discussion, a “Non-U.S. Holder” is any beneficial owner of Subscription Receipts or Units 
(other than an entity or arrangement treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes) that is not a U.S. Holder. 
A “U.S. Holder” means a beneficial owner of Subscription Receipts or Units that is, for U.S. federal income tax purposes: 

 an individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States;  

 a corporation, or other entity treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, created or 
organized in or under the laws of the United States, a state thereof or the District of Columbia; 

 an estate the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source; or 

 a trust (a) if a court within the United States is able to exercise primary supervision over its administration and 
one or more United States persons (as defined in Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code) have authority to control all 
substantial decisions of the trust or (b) that has a valid election in effect under applicable U.S. Treasury 
Regulations to be treated as a United States person. 

The statements in this section and the opinion of Vinson & Elkins LLP referred to below are based on the Code, 
current, temporary and proposed U.S. Treasury Regulations, the legislative history of the Code, current administrative 
interpretations and practices of the IRS, and court decisions. The reference to IRS interpretations and practices includes the 
IRS practices and policies endorsed in private letter rulings, which are not binding on the IRS except with respect to the 
taxpayer that received the ruling. In each case, these sources are relied upon as they exist on the date of this discussion. 
Future legislation, U.S. Treasury Regulations, administrative interpretations, and court decisions could change the current 
law or adversely affect existing interpretations of current on which this information in this section is based. Any such change 
could apply retroactively. The REIT has not received any rulings from the IRS concerning its qualification as a real estate 
investment trust. Accordingly, even if there is no change in applicable law, no assurance can be provided that statements 
made in this section, which do not bind the IRS or the courts, will not be challenged by the IRS or sustained by a court if 
so challenged. 

Prospective purchasers are urged to consult their tax advisors about the application of the U.S. federal tax 
rules to their particular circumstances as well as the state and local and foreign tax consequences to them of the 
purchase, ownership and disposition of Subscription Receipts and Units and the REIT’s election to be taxed as real 
estate investment trust.

Taxation of the REIT  

U.S. Status

Although the REIT is organized as an unincorporated trust under Canadian law, the REIT is classified as a 
corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes under current Treasury Regulations. The discussion herein reflects this 
classification and uses terminology consistent with this classification, including references to “dividends” and “earnings 
and profits”. Furthermore, pursuant to Section 7874 of the Code, the REIT is treated as a U.S. corporation for all purposes 
under the Code and, as a result, it is permitted to elect to be treated as a real estate investment trust under the Code, 
notwithstanding the fact that it is organized as a Canadian entity. 

Real Estate Investment Trust Status 

The REIT elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust for U.S. federal income tax purposes commencing 
with its initial taxable year ended December 31, 2013. The REIT believes that it is organized and operates in such a manner 
so as to qualify for taxation as a real estate investment trust under the U.S. federal income tax laws, and the REIT intends 
to continue to operate in such a manner, but no assurance can be given that the REIT will operate in a manner so as to 
remain qualified as a real estate investment trust. This section discusses the laws governing the U.S. federal income tax 
treatment of a real estate investment trust. These laws are highly technical and complex. 
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In connection with this prospectus supplement, Vinson & Elkins LLP is rendering an opinion that the REIT qualified 
to be taxed as a real estate investment trust for its taxable years ended December 31, 2013 through December 31, 2019, and 
the REIT’s organization and current and proposed method of operation will enable it to continue to meet the requirements for 
qualification and taxation as a real estate investment trust for its taxable year ending December 31, 2020 and subsequent taxable 
years. Investors should be aware that Vinson & Elkins LLP’s opinion is based upon customary assumptions, is conditioned 
upon certain representations made by the REIT as to factual matters, including representations regarding the nature of the 
REIT’s assets and the conduct of its business, and is not binding upon the IRS or any court and speaks as of the date issued. In 
addition, Vinson & Elkins LLP’s opinion is based on existing U.S. federal income tax law governing qualification as a real 
estate investment trust, which is subject to change either prospectively or retroactively. Moreover, the REIT’s qualification 
and taxation as a real estate investment trust depends upon its ability to meet on a continuing basis, through actual annual 
operating results, certain qualification tests set forth in the U.S. federal income tax laws. Those qualification tests involve the 
percentage of income that the REIT earns from specified sources, the percentage of the REIT’s assets that fall within specified 
categories, the diversity of the REIT’s stock ownership, and the percentage of earnings that the REIT distributes. Vinson & 
Elkins LLP will not review the REIT’s compliance with those tests on a continuing basis. Accordingly, no assurance can be 
given that the REIT’s actual results of operations for any particular taxable year will satisfy such requirements. Vinson & 
Elkins LLP’s opinion does not foreclose the possibility that the REIT may have to use one or more of the REIT savings 
provisions described below, which would require the REIT to pay an excise or penalty tax (which could be material) in order 
for it to maintain its real estate investment trust qualification. For a discussion of the tax consequences of the REIT’s failure 
to qualify as a real estate investment trust, see “—Failure to Qualify”. 

General U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations of Real Estate Investment Trust Status 

The REIT generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on the portion of its taxable income, including 
capital gain, that is distributed to Unitholders. The REIT expects to distribute amounts at least equal to the REIT’s taxable 
income, including capital gain, on an annual basis. The REIT would be subject to U.S. federal income tax at normal 
corporate rates upon any taxable income, including capital gain, not distributed. 

Furthermore, notwithstanding the REIT’s qualification as a real estate investment trust, it may also be subject to 
taxation in the following circumstances: 

 If the REIT should fail to satisfy either the 75% or the 95% gross income test, as discussed below, and 
nonetheless maintains its qualification as a real estate investment trust because other requirements are met 
and such failure was due to reasonable cause and not wilful neglect, it would be subject to a 100% tax on the 
greater of the amount by which it fails to satisfy either the 75% or the 95% gross income test, multiplied by a 
fraction intended to reflect the REIT’s profitability. 

 If the REIT fails to satisfy the 5% asset test or the 10% vote and value test (and does not qualify for a de 
minimis safe harbour) or fails to satisfy the other asset tests, each of which is discussed below, and 
nonetheless maintains its qualification as a real estate investment trust because certain other requirements are 
met, and such failure was due to reasonable cause and not wilful neglect, it would be subject to a tax equal to 
the greater of $50,000 or an amount determined by multiplying the highest U.S. federal corporate tax rate by 
the net income generated by the assets that caused the failure for the period beginning on the first date of the 
failure to meet the tests and ending on the date (which must be within six months after the last day of the 
quarter in which the failure is identified) that the REIT disposes of the assets or otherwise satisfies the tests. 

 If the REIT fails to satisfy one or more real estate investment trust requirements other than the 75% or the 
95% gross income tests and other than the asset tests, but nonetheless maintains its qualification as a real 
estate investment trust because certain other requirements are met, and such failure was due to reasonable 
cause and not wilful neglect, it would be subject to a penalty of $50,000 for each such failure. 

 The REIT would also be subject to a tax of 100% on net income from any “prohibited transaction,” as 
described below. 

 If the REIT has net income from the sale or other disposition of “foreclosure property” that is held primarily 
for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business or other non-qualifying income from foreclosure 
property, it would be subject to tax on such income from foreclosure property at the highest U.S. federal 
corporate tax rate. 



29 

 The REIT would also be subject to a tax of 100% on the amount of any rents from real property, deductions, 
income or excess interest that is reapportioned to any “taxable REIT subsidiary”. 

 In addition, if the REIT should fail to distribute during each calendar year at least the sum of: 

(1) 85% of its real estate investment trust ordinary income for such year; 

(2) 95% of its real estate investment trust capital gain net income for such year, other 
than capital gains it elects to retain and pay tax on as described below; and 

(3) any undistributed taxable income from prior years, 

it would be subject to a 4% excise tax on the excess of such required distribution over the amounts actually 
distributed. If the REIT were to retain and pay income tax on any of its net long-term capital gain, such retained 
amounts would be treated as having been distributed for purposes of the 4% excise tax. 

 A 100% tax may be imposed on some items of income and expense that are directly or indirectly paid 
between a real estate investment trust and a taxable REIT subsidiary, if and to the extent that the IRS 
successfully determines that the items were transacted at less than arms-length and adjusts the reported 
amount of these items. 

 If the REIT acquires any asset from a C corporation, or a corporation that generally is subject to full 
corporate-level tax, in a merger or other transaction in which the REIT acquires a basis in the asset that is 
determined by reference either to the C corporation’s basis in the asset or to another asset, the REIT will pay 
tax at the highest regular U.S. federal corporate tax rate applicable if it recognizes gain on the sale or 
disposition of the asset during the 5-year period after the REIT acquires the asset. The amount of gain on 
which the REIT will pay tax is the lesser of: 

(1) the amount of gain recognized at the time of the sale or disposition; and 

(2) the amount of gain that the REIT would have recognized if it had sold the asset at the 
time the REIT acquired it. 

In addition, the REIT, including its subsidiaries and affiliated entities, may be subject to a variety of taxes, 
including payroll taxes and state and local income, property and other taxes on its assets and operations. A taxable REIT 
subsidiary will also be subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax on its taxable income. For taxable years beginning 
before January 1, 2018, the REIT may also be subject to the corporate “alternative minimum tax,” as well as tax in various 
situations and on some types of transactions not presently contemplated. 

Qualification as a Real Estate Investment Trust 

A REIT is a corporation, trust, or association that meets each of the following requirements: 

(1) It is managed by one or more trustees or directors. 

(2) Its beneficial ownership is evidenced by transferable shares, or by transferable certificates of beneficial 
interest. 

(3) It would be taxable as a domestic corporation, but for the real estate investment trust provisions of the 
U.S. federal income tax laws. 

(4) It is neither a financial institution nor an insurance company subject to special provisions of the U.S. 
federal income tax laws. 

(5) At least 100 persons are beneficial owners of its shares or ownership certificates. 

(6) Not more than 50% in value of its outstanding shares or ownership certificates is owned, directly or 
indirectly, by five or fewer individuals, which the U.S. federal income tax laws define to include certain 
entities, during the last half of any taxable year. 
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(7) It elects to be a real estate investment trust, or has made such election for a previous taxable year, and 
satisfies all relevant filing and other administrative requirements established by the IRS that must be 
met to elect and maintain real estate investment trust status. 

(8) It meets certain other qualification tests, described below, regarding the nature of its income and assets 
and the distribution of its income. 

(9) It uses a calendar year for U.S. federal income tax purposes and complies with the recordkeeping 
requirements of the U.S. federal income tax laws. 

Taxable as a U.S. Corporation 

The REIT must be taxable as a U.S. corporation. As noted above, pursuant to Section 7874 of the Code, the REIT 
is treated as a U.S. corporation for all purposes under the Code and, as a result, it is permitted to elect to be treated as a real 
estate investment trust under the Code, notwithstanding the fact that it is organized as a Canadian entity. See “Taxation of 
the REIT — U.S. Status”. 

Share Ownership Test 

The Units must be held by a minimum of 100 persons for at least 335 days in each taxable year or a proportional 
number of days in any short taxable year (other than the REIT’s first taxable year as a U.S. real estate investment trust). In 
addition, at all times during the second half of each taxable year (other than the REIT’s first taxable year as a U.S. real 
estate investment trust), no more than 50% in value of the Units may be owned, directly or indirectly (applying constructive 
ownership rules) by five or fewer individuals (including specified tax-exempt entities but generally excluding certain 
qualified trusts). If the REIT were to comply with the Treasury Regulations for ascertaining its actual ownership and did 
not know, or exercising reasonable diligence would not have reason to know, that more than 50% in value of the outstanding 
Units were held, actually or constructively, by five or fewer individuals, then the REIT would be treated as meeting such 
requirement. 

In order to ensure compliance with the 50% ownership test, the REIT has placed restrictions on the transfer of the 
Units to prevent additional concentration of ownership. In order to demonstrate compliance with these requirements under 
the Treasury Regulations, the REIT must maintain records that disclose the actual ownership of the outstanding Units. Such 
Treasury Regulations impose penalties against the REIT for failing to do so. In fulfilling its obligation to maintain records, 
the REIT will request written statements each year from the record holders of designated percentages of Units disclosing the 
actual owners of such Units. A list of persons failing or refusing to comply in whole or in part with the REIT’s request for 
written statements must be maintained by the REIT. In addition, as discussed above, the Declaration of Trust provides 
restrictions regarding the transfer of Units that are intended to assist the REIT in continuing to satisfy the share ownership 
requirements. The REIT intends to enforce the percentage limitations on ownership of Units to maintain its qualification as 
a real estate investment trust. 

Effect of Subsidiary Entities 

Affiliated REITs. The REIT has formed, and may in the future form, or acquire equity in, entities which have elected 
to be taxed as real estate investment trusts for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Each of these entities must meet all of the 
real estate investment trust qualification tests discussed herein. Each of them also may be subject to tax on certain of its 
income as described above. Depending on the percentage of the REIT’s ownership in any subsidiary real estate investment 
trust, the REIT may make a protective taxable REIT subsidiary election (as discussed below) with respect to such subsidiary 
real estate investment trust. If the IRS respects the REIT’s protective taxable REIT subsidiary election with respect to such 
subsidiary real estate investment trust, the failure of such subsidiary real estate investment trust to qualify as a real estate 
investment trust for U.S. federal income tax purposes would only cause the REIT to fail to qualify as a real estate investment 
trust to the extent that the total value of the REIT’s interests in taxable REIT subsidiaries represents more than 20% of the 
REIT’s assets. See “—Asset Tests” below. 

Qualified REIT Subsidiaries. A subsidiary corporation that is a “qualified REIT subsidiary” is not treated as a 
corporation separate from its parent real estate investment trust. All assets, liabilities, and items of income, deduction, and 
credit of a qualified REIT subsidiary are treated as assets, liabilities, and items of income, deduction, and credit of the real 
estate investment trust. A qualified REIT subsidiary is a corporation all of the capital stock of which is owned by the real 
estate investment trust and that has not elected to be a taxable REIT subsidiary (as discussed below). Thus, in applying the 
requirements described herein, any qualified REIT subsidiary that the REIT owns will be ignored, and all assets, liabilities, 
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and items of income, deduction, and credit of such subsidiary will be treated as the REIT’s assets, liabilities, and items of 
income, deduction, and credit. The REIT owns its interest in the Partnership through U.S. Holdco, which is treated as a 
qualified REIT subsidiary. 

Disregarded Subsidiaries and Partnerships. An unincorporated domestic entity, such as a partnership or limited 
liability company that has a single owner for U.S. federal income tax purposes, generally is not treated as an entity separate 
from its parent for U.S. federal income tax purposes. An unincorporated domestic entity with two or more owners for U.S. 
federal income tax purposes generally is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes. In the case of a real 
estate investment trust that is a partner in a partnership that has other partners, the real estate investment trust is treated as 
owning its proportionate share of the assets of the partnership and as earning its proportionate share of the gross income of 
the partnership for purposes of the real estate investment trust qualification tests. For purposes of the 10% value test 
(described in “—Asset Tests”), a real estate investment trust’s proportionate share is based on its proportionate interest in 
the equity interests and certain debt securities issued by the partnership. For all of the other asset and income tests, a real 
estate investment trust’s proportionate share is based on its proportionate interest in the capital interests in the partnership. 
All of the REIT’s real estate assets are owned through the Partnership and its subsidiaries and are therefore subject to these 
rules. 

An entity that would otherwise be treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes may nonetheless be 
treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes if it is a “publicly traded partnership” and certain other 
requirements are met. A partnership would be treated as a publicly traded partnership if its interests were traded on an 
established securities market or were readily tradable on a secondary market or a substantial equivalent thereof, within the 
meaning of applicable Treasury Regulations. The Partnership Agreement contains provisions intended to ensure that the 
Partnership is not considered a publicly traded partnership. Accordingly the REIT does not anticipate that the Partnership will 
be treated as a publicly traded partnership that would be treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes. 
However, if it were, the REIT would not be treated as owning its proportionate share of the assets and income of the 
Partnership for the purposes of the real estate investment trust asset and income test requirements (and, instead, would be 
treated as owning the stock of a corporation). This could cause the REIT to fail to qualify as a real estate investment trust. In 
addition, the income of the Partnership would become subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax. 

Taxable REIT Subsidiaries. A real estate investment trust, in general, may jointly elect with a subsidiary corporation, 
whether or not wholly owned, to treat the subsidiary corporation as a taxable REIT subsidiary of the real estate investment 
trust. The separate existence of a taxable REIT subsidiary, unlike a disregarded qualified REIT subsidiary as discussed above, 
is not ignored for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Accordingly, such an entity would generally be subject to U.S. federal 
corporate income tax on its taxable income. A real estate investment trust is not treated as holding the assets of a taxable 
REIT subsidiary or as receiving directly any income that a taxable REIT subsidiary earns. Rather, the shares of the taxable 
REIT subsidiary are an asset in the hands of the real estate investment trust, and the real estate investment trust recognizes 
as income any dividends that it receives from a taxable REIT subsidiary to the extent of the taxable REIT subsidiary’s 
earnings and profits. This treatment can affect the gross income and asset test calculations described below. Overall, no more 
than 20% of the value of a real estate investment trust’s assets may consist of stock or securities of one or more taxable REIT 
subsidiaries. The REIT currently owns the stock of one subsidiary corporation treated as a taxable REIT subsidiary, WPT 
Management TRS, LLC. 

Several provisions of the Code regarding the arrangements between a real estate investment trust and its taxable 
REIT subsidiaries ensure that a taxable REIT subsidiary will be subject to an appropriate level of U.S. federal income 
taxation. For example, the REIT would be obligated to pay a 100% penalty tax on some payments that it receives from, or 
on certain expenses deducted by, its taxable REIT subsidiary if the IRS were to assert successfully that the economic 
arrangements between the REIT and its taxable REIT subsidiary are not comparable to similar arrangement among unrelated 
parties. Any income earned by the REIT’s taxable REIT subsidiary that is attributable to services provided to the REIT, or 
on the REIT’s behalf to any of its tenants, that is less than the amounts that would have been charged based upon arm’s length 
negotiations, will also be subject to a 100% penalty tax. In addition, for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017, 
the TCJA added an overall limit on taxpayers’ net interest expense deduction generally equal to 30% of adjusted taxable 
income, subject to certain exceptions. See “—Annual Distribution Requirements”. While not certain, this provision may limit 
the ability of the REIT’s taxable REIT subsidiary to deduct interest, which could increase its taxable income. 

Asset Tests 

At the close of each quarter of the REIT’s taxable year, the REIT must satisfy tests relating to the nature of its assets 
determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. First, at least 75% of the value of the REIT’s total 
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assets must be represented by real estate assets (e.g., interests in real property, interests in mortgages on real property or 
interests in real property, shares in other real estate investment trusts, and “debt instruments issued by publicly offered REITs” 
(i.e., real estate investment trusts which are required to file annual and periodic reports with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934)), cash, cash items, U.S. government securities, and certain qualified 
temporary investments. For this purpose, personal property leased in connection with real property will be treated as a real 
estate asset to the extent that rents attributable to the personal property do not exceed 15% of the total rent from both the real 
and personal property rented pursuant to the lease. In addition, in the case of an obligation secured by a mortgage on both real 
property and personal property, if the fair market value of such personal property does not exceed 15% of the total fair market 
value of all such property securing the loan, then the personal property securing the loan will be treated as real property for 
purposes of determining whether the mortgage loan is a qualifying asset for the 75% asset test. 

Second, no more than 25% of the value of a real estate investment trust’s total assets may consist of the securities 
of taxable REIT subsidiaries and other non-taxable REIT subsidiary taxable entities and other assets that are not qualifying 
assets for purposes of the 75% asset test. Third, of a real estate investment trust’s investments not included in the 75% asset 
class, it is prohibited from owning securities representing more than 10% of either the vote or value of the outstanding 
securities of any one issuer other than a taxable REIT subsidiary. Fourth, no more than 20% of the value of a real estate 
investment trust’s total assets may be represented by securities of one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries. Fifth, no more 
than 25% of the value of a real estate investment trust’s total assets may be represented by investments in “publicly offered 
REIT debt instruments” that are not secured by real property or interests in real property. Finally, of a real estate investment 
trust’s investments not included in the 75% asset class, no more than 5% of the value of its total assets may be represented 
by securities of any one issuer other than a taxable REIT subsidiary. 

For purposes of the 10% vote or value test, the 25% securities test and the 5% asset test, the term “securities” does 
not include stock in another real estate investment trust, equity or debt securities of a qualified REIT subsidiary. For 
purposes of the 10% value test, the term “securities” does not include: 

 “Straight debt” securities, which is defined as a written unconditional promise to pay on demand or on a 
specified date a sum certain in money if (i) the debt is not convertible, directly or indirectly, into stock, and (ii) 
the interest rate and interest payment dates are not contingent on profits, the borrower’s discretion, or similar 
factors. “Straight debt” securities do not include any securities issued by a partnership or a corporation in which 
the real estate investment trust or any controlled taxable REIT subsidiary (i.e., a taxable REIT subsidiary in 
which the REIT owns directly or indirectly more than 50% of the voting power or value of the stock) holds 
non-“straight debt” securities that have an aggregate value of more than 1% of the issuer’s outstanding 
securities. However, “straight debt” securities include debt subject to the following contingencies: 

◦ a contingency relating to the time of payment of interest or principal, as long as either (i) 
there is no change to the effective yield of the debt obligation, other than a change to the 
annual yield that does not exceed the greater of 0.25% or 5% of the annual yield to maturity, 
or (ii) neither the aggregate issue price nor the aggregate face amount of the issuer’s debt 
obligations held by the real estate investment trust exceeds $1 million and no more than 12 
months of unaccrued interest on the debt obligations can be required to be prepaid; and 

◦ a contingency relating to the time or amount of payment upon a default or prepayment of a 
debt obligation, as long as the contingency is consistent with customary commercial practice. 

 Any loan to an individual or an estate. 

 Any “section 467 rental agreement,” other than an agreement with a related party tenant. 

 Any obligation to pay “rents from real property”. 

 Certain securities issued by governmental entities. 

 Any security issued by a real estate investment trust. 

 Any debt instrument of an entity treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes to the extent of 
the real estate investment trust’s interest as a partner in the partnership. 
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 Any debt instrument of an entity treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes not described in 
the preceding bullet points if at least 75% of the partnership’s gross income, excluding income from prohibited 
transactions, is qualifying income for purposes of the 75% gross income test described below in “—Gross 
Income Tests”. 

As discussed above, the REIT generally may not own more than 10% by vote or value of any one issuer’s securities 
and no more than 5% of the value of the REIT’s total assets generally may be represented by the securities of any issuer. If 
the REIT fails to meet either of these tests at the end of any quarter and such failure is not cured within 30 days thereafter, 
the REIT would fail to qualify as a real estate investment trust. After the 30-day cure period, the REIT could maintain its 
qualification as a real estate investment trust by disposing of sufficient assets to cure such a violation provided it did not 
exceed the lesser of 1% of the REIT’s assets at the end of the relevant quarter or $10,000,000 if the disposition occurred 
within six months after the last day of the calendar quarter in which the REIT identified the violation. For violations of these 
tests that are larger than such amount and for violations of the other asset tests described above, where such violations are 
due to reasonable cause and not wilful neglect, the REIT can avoid disqualification as a real estate investment trust, after the 
30-day cure period, by taking steps including the disposition of sufficient assets to meet the asset tests (within six months 
after the last day of the calendar quarter in which it identifies the violation) and paying a tax equal to the greater of $50,000 
or an amount determined by multiplying the highest U.S. federal corporate tax rate by the net income generated by the 
nonqualifying assets for the period beginning on the first date of the failure to meet the tests and ending on the date that it 
disposes of the assets or otherwise satisfies the asset tests. 

Gross Income Tests 

There are two separate percentage tests relating to the sources of the REIT’s gross income that must be satisfied 
for each taxable year. The two tests are as follows: 

The 75% Gross Income Test 

At least 75% of the REIT’s gross income for the taxable year must be “qualifying income”. Qualifying income 
generally includes: 

(1) rents from real property, except as modified below; 

(2) interest on obligations adequately secured by mortgages on, or interests in, real property; 

(3) gains from the sale or other disposition of “non-dealer property,” which means interests in real property 
and real estate mortgages, other than gain from property held primarily for sale to customers in the 
ordinary course of its trade or business; 

(4) dividends or other distributions on shares in other real estate investment trusts, as well as gain from the 
sale of such shares; 

(5) abatements and refunds of real property taxes; 

(6) income from the operation, and gain from the sale, of “foreclosure property,” which means property 
acquired at or in lieu of a foreclosure of the mortgage secured by such property; 

(7) commitment fees received for agreeing to make loans secured by mortgages on real property, or to 
purchase or lease real property; and 

(8) certain qualified temporary investment income attributable to the investment of new capital received by 
the REIT in exchange for Units or certain publicly offered debt, which income is received or accrued 
during the one-year period following the receipt of such capital. 

Although a debt instrument issued by a “publicly offered REIT” is treated as a “real estate asset” for the asset tests, 
income from such debt instruments and the gain from the sale of such debt instruments is not treated as qualifying income for 
the 75% gross income test unless the debt instrument is adequately secured by real property or an interest in real property. 

The 95% Gross Income Test 
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In addition to deriving 75% of the REIT’s gross income from the sources listed above, at least 95% of the REIT’s 
gross income for the taxable year must consist of the qualifying income for purposes of the 75% gross income test as 
described above, dividends, interest and gains from the sale or disposition of stock or other securities that are not dealer 
property. Dividends, other than on real estate investment trust shares, and interest on any obligations not secured by an 
interest in real property constitute qualifying income for purposes of the 95% gross income test, but not for purposes of the 
75% gross income test. 

Rents from Real Property 

“Rents from real property” is qualifying income for both the 75% gross income test and the 95% gross income test 
(discussed above). Rents received from a tenant will not, however, qualify as rents from real property in satisfying the 75% 
gross income test or the 95% gross income test if the REIT, or an owner of 10% or more of the Units, directly or constructively 
owns 10% or more of such tenant, unless the tenant is a taxable REIT subsidiary of the REIT and certain other requirements 
are met. In addition, if rent attributable to personal property leased in connection with a lease of real property is greater than 
15% of the total rent received under the lease, then the portion of rent attributable to such personal property will not qualify 
as rents from real property. Moreover, an amount received or accrued will not qualify as rent from real property or as interest 
income for purposes of the 75% and 95% gross income tests if it is based in whole or in part on the income or profits of any 
person, although an amount received or accrued generally will not be excluded from “rents from real property” or interest 
income solely by reason of being based on a fixed percentage or percentages of receipts or sales. In addition, for rents received 
to qualify as rents from real property, the REIT generally must not furnish or render services to tenants, other than through a 
taxable REIT subsidiary, or an “independent contractor” from whom it derives no income, except that the REIT may directly 
provide services that are “usually or customarily rendered” in connection with the rental of properties for occupancy only and 
are not considered “rendered to the occupant for his convenience”. The REIT is permitted to render a de minimis amount of 
impermissible services to tenants, or in connection with the management of property, and still treat amounts received with 
respect to that property (other than the amounts attributable to the provision of the de minimis impermissible services) as rent 
from real property, as long as the REIT’s income from the services (valued at not less than 150% of its direct cost of performing 
such services) does not exceed 1% of its income from the related property. Furthermore, the REIT may furnish such services 
to tenants through a taxable REIT subsidiary and still treat amounts otherwise received with respect to the property as rent 
from real property. 

Currently, the REIT does not lease significant amounts of personal property pursuant to its leases. Moreover, the 
REIT does not currently perform any services other than customary ones for its tenants, unless such services are provided 
through independent contractors from whom the REIT does not receive or derive income. Accordingly, the REIT believes 
that its leases generally produce rent that qualifies as “rents from real property” for purposes of the 75% and 95% gross 
income tests. 

Interest 

For purposes of the 75% and 95% gross income tests, the term “interest” generally does not include any amount 
received or accrued, directly or indirectly, if the determination of such amount depends in whole or in part on the income or 
profits of any person. However, interest generally includes both: (i) an amount that is based on a fixed percentage or 
percentages of receipts or sales; and (ii) an amount that is based on the income or profits of a debtor, as long as the debtor 
derives substantially all of its income from leasing substantially all of its interest in the real property securing the debt, and 
only to the extent that the amounts received by the debtor would be qualifying “rents from real property” if received directly 
by a real estate investment trust. 

If a loan contains a provision that entitles a real estate investment trust to a percentage of the borrower’s gain upon 
the sale of the real property securing the loan or a percentage of the appreciation in the property’s value as of a specific date, 
income attributable to that loan provision will be treated as gain from the sale of the property securing the loan, which 
generally is qualifying income for purposes of both gross income tests. 

Interest on debt secured by a mortgage on real property or on interests in real property generally is qualifying 
income for purposes of the 75% gross income test. However, if a loan is secured by real property and other property and the 
highest principal amount of a loan outstanding during a taxable year exceeds the fair market value of the real property 
securing the loan as of the date the real estate investment trust agreed to originate or acquire the loan, a portion of the interest 
income from such loan will not be qualifying income for purposes of the 75% gross income test, but will be qualifying 
income for purposes of the 95% gross income test. The portion of the interest income that will not be qualifying income for 
purposes of the 75% gross income test will be equal to the interest income attributable to the portion of the principal amount 
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of the loan that is not secured by real property—that is, the amount by which the loan exceeds the value of the real estate 
that is security for the loan. However, in the case of a loan that is secured by both real property and personal property, if the 
fair market value of such personal property does not exceed 15% of the total fair market value of all property securing the 
loan, then the personal property securing the loan will be treated as real property for purposes of determining if the interest 
on such loan is qualifying income for purposes of the 75% gross income test. 

Dividends 

The REIT’s share of any dividends received from any corporation (including any taxable REIT subsidiary, but 
excluding any real estate investment trust) in which its owns an equity interest will qualify for purposes of the 95% gross 
income test but not for purposes of the 75% gross income test. The REIT’s share of any dividends received from any other 
real estate investment trust in which it owns an equity interest, if any, will be qualifying income for purposes of both gross 
income tests. 

Exclusion of Gross Income from Hedging Transactions and Foreign Currency Gain 

Any gross income from (i) a hedging transaction that is clearly and timely identified and that hedges indebtedness 
incurred or to be incurred to acquire or carry real estate assets or (ii) a clearly and timely identified transaction entered into 
primarily to manage the risk of currency fluctuations with respect to any item of income that would qualify under the 75% 
or the 95% gross income tests, will not constitute gross income (rather than being treated either as qualifying income or non-
qualifying income) for purposes of the 75% and the 95% gross income tests. In addition, if a hedge that is clearly and timely 
identified is entered into in connection with the extinguishment of indebtedness that was the subject of a hedge described in 
the prior sentence or a disposition of property that was the subject of a prior hedge described in the preceding sentence, 
income from the hedge will not constitute gross income for purposes of the 75% and the 95% gross income test. Income 
from such transactions that does not meet these requirements will be treated as non-qualifying income for purposes of the 
75% and the 95% gross income tests. Any income from foreign currency gain that is “real estate foreign exchange gain” as 
defined in the Code will not constitute gross income solely for purposes of the 75% gross income test. Other foreign currency 
gain, if such foreign currency gain is “passive foreign exchange gain” as defined in the Code, will not constitute gross income 
solely for purposes of the 95% gross income test. 

Prohibited Transactions 

A real estate investment trust will incur a 100% tax on the net income (including foreign currency gain) derived 
from any sale or other disposition of property, other than foreclosure property (described below), that the real estate 
investment trust holds primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business. The REIT believes that 
none of its properties are or will be held primarily for sale to customers and that a sale of any of its properties will not be 
in the ordinary course of the REIT’s business. Whether a real estate investment trust holds a property “primarily for sale 
to customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business” depends, however, on the facts and circumstances in effect from 
time to time, including those related to a particular property. A safe harbor to the characterization of the sale of property 
by a real estate investment trust as a prohibited transaction and the 100% prohibited transaction tax is available if the 
following requirements are met: 

 the real estate investment trust has held the property for not less than two years; 

 the aggregate expenditures made by the real estate investment trust, or any partner of the real estate investment 
trust, during the two-year period preceding the date of the sale that are includable in the basis of the property 
do not exceed 30% of the net selling price of the property; 

 either (1) during the year in question, the real estate investment trust did not make more than seven sales of 
property other than foreclosure property or sales to which Section 1033 of the Code applies, (2) the aggregate 
adjusted bases of all such properties sold by the real estate investment trust during the year did not exceed 10% 
of the aggregate bases of all of the assets of the real estate investment trust at the beginning of the year, (3) the 
aggregate fair market value of all such properties sold by the real estate investment trust during the year did not 
exceed 10% of the aggregate fair market value of all of the assets of the real estate investment trust at the 
beginning of the year, (4) (i) the aggregate adjusted tax bases of all such property sold by the real estate 
investment trust during the year did not exceed 20% of the aggregate adjusted tax bases of all property of the 
real estate investment trust at the beginning of the year and (ii) the average annual percentage of properties sold 
by the real estate investment trust compared to all the real estate investment trust’s properties (measured by 
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adjusted tax bases) in the current and two prior years did not exceed 10% or (5) (i) the aggregate fair market 
value of all such property sold by the real estate investment trust during the year did not exceed 20% of the 
aggregate fair market value of all property of the real estate investment trust at the beginning of the year and (ii) 
the average annual percentage of properties sold by the real estate investment trust compared to all the real estate 
investment trust’s properties (measured by fair market value) in the current and two prior years did not exceed 
10%; 

 in the case of property not acquired through foreclosure or lease termination, the real estate investment trust 
has held the property for at least two years for the production of rental income; and 

 if the real estate investment trust has made more than seven sales of non-foreclosure property during the taxable 
year, substantially all of the marketing and development expenditures with respect to the property were made 
through an independent contractor from whom the real estate investment trust derives no income or a taxable 
REIT subsidiary. 

The REIT will attempt to comply with the terms of the safe-harbor provisions in the U.S. federal income tax laws 
prescribing when a property sale will not be characterized as a prohibited transaction. The REIT cannot assure you, however, 
that it can comply with the safe-harbor provisions or that it will avoid owning property that may be characterized as property 
that it holds “primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business”. The 100% tax will not apply to 
gains from the sale of property that is held through a taxable REIT subsidiary or other taxable corporation, although such 
income will be taxed to the taxable REIT subsidiary at regular U.S. federal corporate tax rates. 

Foreclosure Property 

Foreclosure property is real property (including interests in real property) and any personal property incident to 
such real property (i) that is acquired by a real estate investment trust as a result of the real estate investment trust having 
bid in the property at foreclosure, or having otherwise reduced the property to ownership or possession by agreement or 
process of law, after there was a default (or default was imminent) on a lease of the property or a mortgage loan held by the 
real estate investment trust and secured by the property, (ii) for which the related loan or lease was made, entered into or 
acquired by the real estate investment trust at a time when default was not imminent or anticipated and (iii) for which such 
real estate investment trust makes an election to treat the property as foreclosure property. Real estate investment trusts 
generally are subject to tax at the maximum U.S. federal corporate tax rate on any net income from foreclosure property, 
including any gain from the disposition of the foreclosure property, other than income that would otherwise be qualifying 
income for purposes of the 75% gross income test. Any gain from the sale of property for which a foreclosure property 
election has been made will not be subject to the 100% penalty tax on gains from prohibited transactions described below, 
even if the property was held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business. 

Failure to Satisfy Gross Income Tests 

Even if the REIT fails to satisfy one or both of the 75% or 95% gross income tests for any taxable year, it may still 
qualify as a real estate investment trust for such year if it is entitled to relief under provisions of the Code. 

These relief provisions will generally be available if: 

(1) following the REIT’s identification of the failure, it files a schedule with a description of each item of 
gross income that caused the failure in accordance with the Treasury Regulations; and 

(2) the REIT’s failure to comply was due to reasonable cause and not due to wilful neglect. 

The REIT cannot predict, however, whether in all circumstances it would qualify for the relief provisions. In 
addition, even if these relief provisions apply, the REIT will nonetheless be subject to a special tax equal to the greater of 
the amount by which it fails either the 75% or 95% gross income test for that year multiplied by a fraction the numerator 
of which is the real estate investment trust taxable income for the taxable year (adjusted for certain items) and the 
denominator of which is the gross income for the taxable year (adjusted for certain items). 

Annual Distribution Requirements 

In order to qualify as a real estate investment trust, the REIT is required to make distributions, other than capital 
gain dividends, to its shareholders each year in an amount at least equal to: 
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 the sum of: 

o 90% of its real estate investment trust taxable income, computed without regard to the 
dividends paid deduction and real estate investment trust net capital gain; plus 

o 90% of its net income after tax, if any, from foreclosure property: minus 

 the sum of some items of excess non-cash income. 

Such distributions must be paid in the taxable year to which they relate, or in the following taxable year if either 
(i) declared before the REIT timely files its U.S. federal income tax return for such year and if paid on or before the first 
regular dividend payment after such declaration or (ii) declared in October, November or December of the prior taxable 
year, payable to Unitholders of record on a specified day in any such month, and actually paid before the end of January of 
the following year. The distributions under clause (i) are taxable to the Unitholders in the year in which paid, and the 
distributions in clause (ii) are treated as paid on December 31st of the prior taxable year to the extent of the REIT’s earnings 
and profits. In both instances, these distributions relate to the REIT’s prior taxable year for purposes of the 90% distribution 
requirement. To the extent that the REIT does not distribute all of its net capital gain or distribute at least 90%, but less than 
100%, of its real estate investment trust taxable income, as adjusted, the REIT will be subject to tax on the undistributed 
amount at regular capital gains or ordinary corporate tax rates, as the case may be. The Subscription Receipt Adjustment 
Payments will not be treated as distributions for this purpose. Management of the REIT intends to make timely distributions 
sufficient to satisfy the annual distribution requirements. 

In order for the REIT’s distributions to be counted as satisfying the 90% distribution requirement, such 
distributions generally must not be “preferential dividends”. A dividend is not a preferential dividend if that distribution is 
(1) pro rata among all outstanding shares within a particular class and (2) in accordance with the preferences among different 
classes of shares as set forth in the REIT’s organizational documents. The preferential dividend rule does not apply to 
“publicly offered REITs,” however, the REIT does not qualify as a “publicly offered REIT”. 

The REIT will pay U.S. federal income tax on taxable income, including net capital gain, that the REIT does not 
distribute to its Unitholders. Furthermore, if the REIT fails to distribute during a calendar year, or by the end of January 
following the calendar year in the case of distributions with declaration and record dates falling in the last three months of 
the calendar year, at least the sum of: 

 85% of its real estate investment trust ordinary income for such year, 

 95% of its real estate investment trust capital gain income for such year, and 

 any undistributed taxable income (ordinary and capital gain) from all prior periods, it will incur a 4% 
nondeductible excise tax on the excess of such required distribution over the amounts it actually distributes. 

The REIT may elect to retain and pay U.S. federal corporate income tax on the net long-term capital gain it receives 
in a taxable year. If the REIT so elects, it will be treated as having distributed any such retained amount for purposes of the 
4% nondeductible excise tax described above. The REIT intends to make timely distributions sufficient to satisfy the annual 
distribution requirements and to avoid corporate income tax and the 4% nondeductible excise tax. 

It is possible that, from time to time, the REIT may experience timing differences between: (i) the actual receipt of 
income and actual payment of deductible expenses, and (ii) the inclusion of that income and deduction of such expenses in 
arriving at the REIT’s taxable income. As a result, unless, for example, the REIT raises funds by a borrowing or pays 
taxable dividends of its capital stock or debt securities, the REIT may have less cash than is necessary to distribute taxable 
income sufficient to avoid corporate income tax and the 4% excise tax described above or even to meet the 90% distribution 
requirement. If the REIT fails to meet the 90% distribution requirement as a result of an adjustment to its U.S. federal 
income tax return by the IRS, or if the REIT determines that it has failed to meet the 90% distribution requirement in a prior 
taxable year, it may retroactively cure the failure by paying a “deficiency dividend,” plus applicable penalties and interest, 
within a specified period. 

The TCJA limits a taxpayer’s net interest expense deduction to 30% of the sum of adjusted taxable income, business 
interest, and certain other amounts. Adjusted taxable income does not include items of income or expense not allocable to a 
trade or business, business interest or expense, the new deduction for qualified business income, net operating losses (“NOLs”), 
and for years prior to 2022, deductions for depreciation, amortization, or depletion. For partnerships, the interest deduction limit 
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is applied at the partnership level, subject to certain adjustments to the partners for unused deduction limitations at the partnership 
level. The TCJA allows a real property trade or business to elect out of this interest limit so long as it uses a 40-year recovery 
period for nonresidential real property, a 30-year recovery period for residential rental property, and a 40-year recovery period 
for related improvements. For this purpose, a real property trade or business is any real property development, redevelopment, 
construction, reconstruction, acquisition, conversion, rental, operating, management, leasing, or brokerage trade or business. 
The REIT believes this definition encompasses its business and thus will allow it the option of electing out of the limits on 
interest deductibility should it determine it is prudent to do so. Disallowed interest expense is carried forward indefinitely (subject 
to special rules for partnerships). The interest deduction limit applied beginning in 2018. 

NOL provisions were also modified by the TCJA. The TCJA limits the NOL deduction to 80% of taxable income 
(before the deduction). It also generally eliminates NOL carrybacks for individuals and non-real estate investment trust 
corporations (NOL carrybacks did not apply to real estate investment trusts under prior law), but allows indefinite NOL 
carryforwards. The new NOL rules applied to losses arising in taxable years beginning in 2018. 

Failure to Qualify 

Although management of the REIT expects that the REIT will qualify as a real estate investment trust, if it were to 
fail to qualify for taxation as a real estate investment trust in any taxable year and relief provisions did not apply, it would 
be subject to U.S. federal income tax, including, for taxable years being before December 31, 2017, any applicable 
alternative minimum tax, on its taxable income at regular U.S. federal corporate tax rates. If the REIT were to fail to qualify 
as a real estate investment trust, it would not be able to deduct the amount of distributions to Unitholders. In such event, all 
distributions to Unitholders would still be taxable as dividends to the extent of the REIT’s current and accumulated earnings 
and profits (as determined under U.S. federal income tax principles). Unless entitled to relief under specific statutory 
provisions, the REIT also would be disqualified from re-electing taxation as a real estate investment trust for the four taxable 
years following the year during which qualification was lost. In the event that the REIT fails to satisfy one or more 
requirements for qualification as a real estate investment trust, other than the 75% and the 95% gross income tests and other 
than the asset tests, each of which is subject to the cure provisions described above, it would retain its real estate investment 
trust qualification if (i) the violation is due to reasonable cause and not wilful neglect and (ii) it pays a penalty of $50,000 
for each failure to satisfy the provision. The REIT cannot predict whether in all circumstances it would qualify for such 
statutory relief. 

Taxation of Non-U.S. Holders 

The following discussion describes certain U.S. federal income tax consequences to Non-U.S. Holders under 
present law of an investment in the Subscription Receipts and the Units. This discussion applies only to investors that hold 
the Subscription Receipts and the Units as capital assets and that acquire Subscription Receipts or Units in the Offering. 
The rules governing U.S. federal income taxation of nonresident alien individuals, foreign corporations, foreign 
partnerships, and other foreign Unitholders are complex. This section is only a summary of such rules. Non-U.S. Holders 
are urged to consult their tax advisors to determine the impact of U.S. federal, foreign, state, and local income tax 
laws on the acquisition, ownership and disposition of the Subscription Receipts and the Units, including any 
reporting requirements. 

Taxation of Subscription Receipts 

Exchange of Subscription Receipts for Units 

A Non-U.S. Holder generally should not recognize gain or loss on the exchange of a Subscription Receipt for a Unit. 
A Non-U.S. Holder’s tax basis in a Unit acquired in exchange for a Subscription Receipt will be the amount paid by the Non-
U.S. Holder for the Subscription Receipt, less any amount of the Subscription Receipt Adjustment Payment that is not treated 
as interest (as described below). A Non-U.S. Holder’s holding period for the Unit should begin on the date on which the 
Subscription Receipt is exchanged for such Unit. 

The U.S. federal income tax characterization of the Subscription Receipt Adjustment Payment is unclear. The REIT 
intends to treat the portion of the Subscription Receipt Adjustment Payment that is attributable to Earned Interest as interest for 
U.S. federal income tax purposes. In such case, the Earned Interest would be subject to U.S. withholding tax at a rate of 30% 
unless (i) an applicable income tax treaty provides for a lower rate and the Non-U.S. Holder provides the applicable withholding 
agent with an IRS Form W-8BEN or W-8BEN-E (or other applicable or successor form) or (ii) the Earned Interest is effectively 
connected with the conduct by the Non-U.S. Holder of a trade or business within the United States (as discussed below) and 
the Non-U.S. Holder provides the applicable withholding agent with an IRS Form W-8ECI. Although the matter is not entirely 
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clear, because the amount of interest to be received may be considered contingent upon the completion of the Acquisition, the 
REIT intends to withhold at a 15% rate on Earned Interest with respect to any Non-U.S. Holder that is a qualified resident of 
Canada under the Treaty. Notwithstanding a Non-U.S. Holder’s eligibility for a reduced treaty rate, the Non-U.S. Holder must 
comply with the requirements described below under “—Withholding Taxes on Certain Foreign Accounts”. 

The Subscription Receipt Adjustment Payment will be determined by reference to cash distributions for which record 
dates have occurred during the period from and including the Offering Closing to and including the day immediately 
preceding the date the Units are issued or deemed issued. Although not free from doubt, because the holder of a Subscription 
Receipt does not have the rights of a Unitholder until such time as the Unit is issued to the holder, the REIT intends to treat 
that portion of the Subscription Receipt Adjustment Payment in excess of Earned Interest as a refund of a portion of the 
purchase price for the Subscription Receipt and thus for the Unit received in exchange for the Subscription Receipt. It is 
possible that the IRS would not agree with that characterization and would assert that the amount is a taxable payment subject 
to U.S. federal income tax as ordinary income. 

Because of the uncertainty of certain of the tax consequences described above, Non-U.S. Holders are encouraged to 
consult their tax advisors regarding the tax treatment of Subscription Receipts and the Subscription Receipt Adjustment 
Payment.  

Other Dispositions of Subscription Receipts 

Upon the sale or disposition of a Subscription Receipt, other than in exchange for a Unit, a Non-U.S. Holder will 
not be subject to U.S. federal income tax with respect to any gain realized on the disposition of such Non-U.S. Holder’s 
Subscription Receipt unless: 

 the REIT is or has been a U.S. real property holding corporation (“USRPHC”) under the Foreign Investment 
in Real Property Tax Act of 1980 (“FIRPTA”) at any time during the period that such Subscription Receipts 
were held; 

 the Non-U.S. Holder is an individual who is present in the United States for 183 days or more in the taxable 
year of the disposition and certain other conditions are met; or 

 the gain is effectively connected with the conduct by the Non-U.S. Holder of a trade or business within the 
United States and, if required by an applicable income tax treaty, attributable to a permanent establishment of 
the Non-U.S. Holder. 

A Non-U.S. Holder described in the second bullet point above is subject to a flat 30% tax on the gain derived from 
the sale, which may be offset by U.S. source capital losses (even though the individual is not considered a resident of the 
United States). A Non-U.S. Holder described in the third bullet point above generally is subject to U.S. federal income tax 
on a net income basis at graduated rates, in the same manner as U.S. Holders, and, if it is a corporation, may also be subject 
to an additional branch profits tax of 30%, unless reduced by an applicable income tax treaty (5% under the Treaty). 

As to the first bullet point above, if at least 50% of a real estate investment trust’s assets are U.S. real property 
interests (“USRPIs”), then the real estate investment trust will be a USRPHC. Management of the REIT believes that the 
REIT is and will continue to be a USRPHC. However, if both the Subscription Receipts and the Units are considered 
“regularly traded on an established securities market,” the Subscription Receipts would not be treated as interests in a 
USRPHC (and therefore gain recognized on a disposition would not be subject to U.S. federal income tax) with respect to 
Non-U.S. Holders who do not hold, actually or constructively, more than 5% of the outstanding Subscription Receipts. In 
addition, even if the Subscription Receipts are not considered “regularly traded on an established securities market,” so long 
as the Units are considered “regularly traded on an established securities market,” the Subscription Receipts will not be 
treated as interests in a USRPHC with respect to Non-U.S. Holders who do not hold, actually or constructively, Subscription 
Receipts with a value greater than 5% of the REIT’s outstanding Units, measured as of the date of acquisition of the 
Subscription Receipts. Regardless of the amount of Subscription Receipts held by a Non-U.S. Holder, a purchaser of 
Subscription Receipts will not be required to withhold tax on the sale so long as the Units are considered “regularly traded 
on an established securities market”. 

An “established securities market” consists of any of the following: (a) a U.S. national securities exchange which 
is registered under Sec. 6 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; (b) a non-U.S. national securities exchange which is 
officially recognized, sanctioned, or supervised by a governmental authority; or (c) any over-the-counter market. An over-
the-counter market is any market which has an interdealer quotation system. An interdealer quotation system is any system 
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of general circulation to brokers and dealers which regularly disseminates quotations of stocks and securities by identified 
brokers or dealers, other than by quotation sheets which are prepared and distributed by a broker or dealer in the regular 
course of business and which contain only quotations of such broker or dealer. 

For the purpose of (b), above, the TSX is a non-U.S. national securities exchange which is officially recognized, 
sanctioned, or supervised by a governmental authority, and, accordingly, the TSX is an established securities market. For so 
long as 100 or fewer persons do not own 50% or more of the Subscription Receipts, the Subscription Receipts should be 
treated as “regularly traded” on the TSX for a calendar quarter if: (a) the Subscription Receipts trade, other than in de minimis 
quantities, on at least 15 days during the calendar quarter; (b) the aggregate number of Subscription Receipts traded during 
the calendar quarter is at least 7.5% of the average number of Subscription Receipts outstanding during such calendar quarter 
(reduced to 2.5% if there are 2,500 or more record holders of Subscription Receipts); and (c) the REIT attaches a statement 
to its U.S. federal income tax return that provides information relating to it, the Units, and beneficial owners of more than 
5% of the Subscription Receipts (the “TSX Publicly Traded Exception”). 

The TSX has conditionally approved the listing of the Subscription Receipts. Nonetheless, it is unclear whether there 
will be enough trading of the Subscription Receipts before the Acquisition Closing Time (or the occurrence of a Termination 
Event, if the Acquisition does not close) for the Subscription Receipts to satisfy the TSX Publicly Traded Exception. 
However, the REIT believes that the Units will satisfy the TSX Publicly Traded Exception and/or the U.S. Publicly Traded 
Exception (as defined below). See “—Taxation of Units—Disposition of Units”. Thus, even if the Subscription Receipts 
do not satisfy the TSX Publicly Traded Exception, the second exception above to the REIT’s treatment as a USRPHC with 
respect to a Non-U.S. Holder should be available to the extent that the Non-U.S. Holder did not hold, actually or 
constructively, Subscription Receipts with a value greater than 5% of the REIT’s outstanding Units at the time of acquisition 
of the Subscription Receipts. 

If neither of the exceptions to the REIT’s treatment as a USRPHC with respect to a Non-U.S. Holder above are 
satisfied, the sale of Subscription Receipts by a Non-U.S. Holder may be subject to U.S. federal income tax at normal 
graduated rates with respect to gain recognized. In addition, a purchaser of Subscription Receipts would be required to 
withhold tax at the rate of 15% of the amount realized from the sale and to report and remit such tax to the IRS. Such 
withheld amount would not be an additional tax but would be a credit against the Non-U.S. Holder’s U.S. federal income 
tax liability arising from the sale, and a Non-U.S. Holder would be required to file a U.S. federal income tax return. 

Nonetheless, a sale of Subscription Receipts by a “qualified shareholder” or a “qualified foreign pension fund” 
(each, as defined below) who holds directly or indirectly (through one or more partnerships) will not be subject to U.S. 
federal income taxation under FIRPTA.  

A “qualified shareholder” is a foreign person that (i) either is eligible for the benefits of a comprehensive income tax 
treaty which includes an exchange of information program and whose principal class of interests is listed and regularly traded 
on one or more recognized stock exchanges (as defined in such comprehensive income tax treaty), or is a foreign partnership 
that is created or organized under foreign law as a limited partnership in a jurisdiction that has an agreement for the exchange of 
information with respect to taxes with the United States and has a class of limited partnership units representing greater than 
50% of the value of all the partnership units that is regularly traded on the NYSE or NASDAQ markets, (ii) is a “qualified 
collective investment vehicle” (as defined below), and (iii) maintains records on the identity of each person who, at any time 
during the foreign person’s taxable year, is the direct owner of 5% or more of the class of interests or units (as applicable) 
described in (i), above. A “qualified collective investment vehicle” is a foreign person that (i) would be eligible for a reduced 
rate of withholding under the comprehensive income tax treaty described above, even if such entity holds more than 10% of the 
stock of such REIT, (ii) is publicly traded, is treated as a partnership under the Code, is a withholding foreign partnership, and 
would be treated as a U.S. real property holding corporation if it were a domestic corporation, or (iii) is designated as such by 
the Secretary of the Treasury and is either (a) fiscally transparent within the meaning of Section 894 of the Code, or (b) required 
to include dividends in its gross income, but is entitled to a deduction for distributions to its investors. While a qualified 
shareholder will not be subject to FIRPTA withholding upon sale of Subscription Receipts, certain investors of a qualified 
shareholder (i.e., non-U.S. persons who hold interests in the qualified shareholder (other than interests solely as a creditor) 
who hold more than 10% of the Subscription Receipts and the Units (whether or not by reason of the investor’s ownership 
in the qualified shareholder)) may be subject to FIRPTA withholding. 

A “qualified foreign pension fund” is any trust, corporation, or other organization or arrangement (A) which is created 
or organized under the law of a country other than the United States, (B) (i) by such country (or one or more political 
subdivisions thereof) to provide retirement or pension benefits to participants or beneficiaries that are current or former 
employees (including self-employed individuals) or persons designated by such employees, as a result of services rendered 
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by such employees to their employers or (ii) by one or more employers to provide retirement or pension benefits to 
participants or beneficiaries that are current or former employees (including self-employed individuals) or persons designated 
by such employees in consideration for services rendered by such employees to such employers, (C) which does not have a 
single participant or beneficiary with a right to more than 5% of its assets or income, (D) which is subject to government 
regulation and with respect to which annual information reporting about its beneficiaries is provided, or is otherwise available, 
to the relevant tax authorities in the country in which it is established or operates, and (E) with respect to which, under the 
laws of the country in which it is established or operates, (i) contributions to such organization or arrangement that would 
otherwise be subject to tax under such laws are deductible or excluded from the gross income of such entity or arrangement 
or taxed at a reduced rate, or (ii) taxation of any investment income of such organization or arrangement is deferred or such 
income is excluded from the gross income or arrangement or is taxed at a reduced rate. 

The U.S. federal income taxation of the Subscription Receipts and Non-U.S. Holders is a highly complex matter that 
may be affected by many other considerations. Accordingly, Non-U.S. Holders of Subscription Receipts should consult their tax 
advisors regarding the income tax considerations with respect to the sale or disposition of Subscription Receipts. 

Repayment of Subscription Price and Interest due to Termination Event 

If the Acquisition does not close due to the occurrence of a Termination Event, Non-U.S. Holders of Subscription 
Receipts will be entitled to receive a payment of an amount equal to the Subscription Price thereof and such Non-U.S. 
Holder’s pro rata share of the Earned Interest and Deemed Interest. A Non-U.S. Holder will generally not realize any income, 
gain or loss on the repayment of the Subscription Price, however the receipt of Earned Interest and Deemed Interest will be 
subject to withholding in the same manner as described above with respect to Earned Interest in “—Exchange of Subscription 
Receipts for Units”. If the Earned Interest and Deemed Interest are effectively connected with the conduct by the Non-U.S. 
Holder of a trade or business within the U.S. and, if required by an applicable income tax treaty, attributable to a permanent 
establishment of the Non-U.S. Holder, then the Non-U.S. Holder will be subject to U.S. federal income tax in the same 
manner as described above with respect to the third bullet point under “— Other Dispositions of Subscription Receipts”. 

Taxation of Units 

Distributions on the Units 

Distributions (including any taxable stock dividends) that are neither attributable to gains from sales or exchanges by 
the REIT of USRPIs nor designated as capital gain dividends (except as described below) will be treated as dividends taxable 
as ordinary income to the extent that they are made out of the REIT’s current or accumulated earnings and profits (as 
determined under U.S. federal income tax principles). Such distributions ordinarily will be subject to withholding at a rate 
of 30%, unless an applicable tax treaty or statutory provision reduces that tax. The REIT plans to withhold U.S. income tax 
at the rate of 30% on the gross amount of any ordinary dividend paid to a Non-U.S. Holder unless the Non-U.S. Holder 
provides an IRS Form W-8BEN (or other acceptable substitute or applicable form) to the REIT or unless the Non-U.S. 
Holder provides an IRS Form W-8ECI certifying that the distribution is effectively connected with the conduct by the Non-
U.S. Holder of a trade or business within the United States. 

A Non-U.S. Holder that is a qualified resident of Canada generally is entitled to a 15% withholding rate under the 
Treaty if: (i) the Non-U.S. Holder is an individual and holds no more than 10% of the outstanding Units, (ii) the Units are 
publicly traded and the Non-U.S. Holder owns no more than 5% of the outstanding Units or (iii) the Non-U.S. Holder (other 
than an individual) holds no more than 10% of the outstanding Units and the REIT is diversified. For this purpose, the REIT 
will be treated as diversified if the gross value of no single interest in real property of the REIT exceeds 10% of the gross 
value of the REIT’s total interest in real property. Qualified residents of Canada that are tax-exempt entities established to 
provide pension, retirement or other employee benefits (including trusts governed by an RRSP, an RRIF or a DPSP) may be 
eligible for an exemption from U.S. federal income tax withholding on dividends under Article XXI of the Treaty. A trust 
governed by a TFSA, an RESP or an RDSP is not entitled to benefits as an entity or arrangement under the Treaty. Instead, 
income received by a TFSA, an RESP or an RDSP is treated as received by the beneficiary of the TFSA, RESP, or RDSP 
as the case may be, and the TFSA, RESP, or RDSP, as the case may be, should be disregarded for U.S. federal income tax 
purposes. The beneficiary or annuitant of the TFSA, RESP, or RDSP as the case may be, may, however, be eligible for 
reduced withholding tax rates under the Treaty. Unitholders that are Exempt Plans should consult their own tax advisors 
with respect to the Canadian and U.S. federal income tax considerations relevant to an investment in Units. 

Distributions that are treated as effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business of a Non-U.S. Holder, and, if 
required by an applicable income tax treaty, attributable to a permanent establishment of the Non-U.S. Holder, generally are 
subject to U.S. federal income tax on a net income basis at graduated rates, in the same manner as U.S. Holders, and are not 
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subject to withholding if certain certification requirements are satisfied (generally, on IRS Form W-8ECI). Any such 
dividends received by a Non-U.S. Holder that is a corporation may also be subject to an additional branch profits tax of 30%, 
unless reduced by an applicable income tax treaty (5% under the Treaty and applicable protocols currently in force). 

A Non-U.S. Holder would not incur tax on a distribution in excess of the REIT’s current and accumulated earnings 
and profits if the excess portion of the distribution did not exceed the adjusted tax basis of the Non-U.S. Holder’s Units. 
Instead, the excess portion of the distribution would reduce the Non-U.S. Holder’s adjusted tax basis in the Units. A Non-
U.S. Holder would be subject to tax on a distribution that exceeds both the REIT’s current and accumulated earnings and 
profits and the adjusted tax basis in its Units if the Non-U.S. Holder otherwise would be subject to tax on gain from the 
disposition of its Units as described herein. Management of the REIT expects that distributions on the Units will exceed the 
REIT’s current and accumulated earnings and profits as determined under the Code. For the purpose of determining the 
amount to withhold, management of the REIT will make a reasonable estimate of the portion of a distribution that is paid 
out of current and accumulated earnings and profits. Because management of the REIT expects that the Units will be 
considered to be regularly traded on an established securities market, as described below under “—Dispositions of Units,” 
it does not expect to be required to withhold on distributions in excess of the REIT’s current and accumulated earnings and 
profits that are distributed to Non-U.S. Holders that own 10% or less of the outstanding Units during the applicable testing 
period, although there can be no assurances that withholding on such amounts will not be required. If withholding is or 
becomes required on distributions in excess of the REIT’s current and accumulated earnings and profits, the rate of 
withholding will be equal to 15% of such amounts. 

A Non-U.S. Holder could incur tax on distributions that are attributable to gain from the REIT’s sale or exchange of 
USRPIs under FIRPTA. Under FIRPTA, such gains are considered effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business of the 
Non-U.S. Holder and are taxed at the normal graduated rates applicable to U.S. Holders. Moreover, such gains may be subject 
to branch profits tax in the hands of a Unitholder that is a foreign corporation at a rate of 30% unless reduced by an applicable 
income tax treaty (5% under the Treaty). However, a distribution of proceeds attributable to the sale or exchange by the REIT 
of USRPIs will not be subject to tax under FIRPTA or the branch profits tax, and will be taxed as ordinary dividends rather than 
gain from the sale of a USRPI if (i) the distribution is made with regard to a class of shares that is regularly traded on an 
established securities market located in the United States (as it is anticipated that the Units will be following the completion of 
this Offering, as discussed below under “—Dispositions of Units”) and (ii) the recipient Unitholder does not own more than 
10% of that class of Units at any time during the 1-year period ending on the date the distribution is received. In such a case, a 
Non-U.S. Holder generally will be subject to withholding tax in the same manner as it is subject to withholding tax on ordinary 
dividends. The REIT will be required to withhold 21% (or less to the extent provided in applicable Treasury Regulations) of any 
distribution to a Non-U.S. Holder owning more than 10% of the relevant class of shares (or that otherwise has held more 
than 10% at any time during the 1-year period ending on the date the distribution is received) that could be designated by 
the REIT as a capital gain dividend; this amount is creditable against the Non-U.S. Holder’s FIRPTA tax liability. 

Subject to the exception discussed below, any distribution to a qualified shareholder who holds Units directly or 
indirectly (through one or more partnerships) will not be subject to U.S. tax as income effectively connected with a U.S. trade 
or business and thus will not be subject to special withholding rules under FIRPTA. While a qualified shareholder will not be 
subject to FIRPTA withholding on distributions, certain investors of a qualified shareholder (i.e., non-U.S. persons who hold 
interests in the qualified shareholder (other than interests solely as a creditor), and hold more than 10% of the Units (whether or 
not by reason of the investor’s ownership in the qualified shareholder)) may be subject to FIRPTA withholding.  

In addition, any distribution to a qualified foreign pension fund or an entity all of the interests of which are held by 
a qualified foreign pension fund who holds REIT stock directly or indirectly will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax 
as income effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business and thus will not be subject to the withholding rules under 
FIRPTA.  

In order for the REIT to comply with its withholding obligations under FIRPTA, the Units are subject to notice 
requirements and transfer restrictions. Non-U.S. Holders are required to provide the REIT with such information as the REIT 
may request. Furthermore, any Non-U.S. Holder that would be treated as having acquired sufficient Units to be treated as 
owning more than 5% of the Units is required to notify the REIT by the close of the business day prior to the date of the transfer 
that would cause the non-U.S. person to own more than 5% of the Units. For the purpose of determining whether a Non-U.S. 
Holder has acquired more than 5% of the Units, rules of constructive ownership apply which can attribute ownership of Units 
(i) among family members, (ii) to non-U.S. persons from entities that own Units, to the extent that such non-U.S. persons own 
interests in such entities and (iii) to entities from non-U.S. persons that own interests in such entities. Under these attribution 
rules, Units of related entities (including related investment funds) may be aggregated to the extent of overlapping ownership. 
If any Non-U.S. Holder that otherwise would be treated as having acquired sufficient Units to be treated as owning more than 
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5% of the Units fails to comply with the notice provisions described above, the excess Units (i.e., the excess of the number of 
Units it is treated as owning over an amount equal to 5% of the outstanding Units) will be sold, with such Non-U.S. Holders 
receiving the lesser of (i) its original purchase price for the excess Units and (ii) the sale price of the excess Units (net of selling 
expenses). Any such Non-U.S. Holder would also not have any economic entitlement to any distribution by the REIT on an 
excess Unit, and, if any such distributions are received by the Non-U.S. Holder and are not repaid, the REIT is permitted to 
withhold from subsequent payments to the Non-U.S. Holder up to the amount of such forfeited distributions. Non-U.S. 
Holders are strongly advised to monitor their actual and constructive ownership of Units. See “Declaration of Trust and 
Description of Units — Restrictions on Ownership and Transfer — FIRPTA” in the Annual Information Form for a more 
detailed discussion of these rules. Notwithstanding that a Non-U.S. Holder may comply with the notice requirements and 
transfer restrictions described above, the REIT is entitled to withhold on distributions as otherwise required by law, and, to 
the extent that the REIT has not sufficiently withheld on prior distributions, is entitled to withhold on subsequent 
distributions. 

Dispositions of Units 

Generally, a Non-U.S. Holder will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax with respect to gain on the disposition 
of such Non-U.S. Holder’s Units unless: 

 the REIT is or has been a USRPHC under FIRPTA at any time during the 5-year period ending on the date of 
disposition or such shorter period that such Units were held; 

 the Non-U.S. Holder is an individual who is present in the United States for 183 days or more in the taxable 
year of the disposition and certain other conditions are met; or 

 the gain is effectively connected with the conduct by the Non-U.S. Holder of a trade or business within the 
United States and, if required by an applicable income tax treaty, attributable to a permanent establishment of 
the Non-U.S. Holder. 

A Non-U.S. Holder described in the second bullet point above is subject to a flat 30% tax on the gain derived from 
the sale, which may be offset by U.S. source capital losses (even though the individual is not considered a resident of the 
United States). A Non-U.S. Holder described in the third bullet point above generally is subject to U.S. federal income tax 
on a net income basis at graduated rates, in the same manner as U.S. Holders, and, if it is a corporation, may also be subject 
to an additional branch profits tax of 30%, unless reduced by an applicable income tax treaty (5% under the Treaty). 

As to the first bullet point above, if at least 50% of a real estate investment trust’s assets are USRPIs, then the real 
estate investment trust will be a USRPHC. Management of the REIT believes that the REIT is and will continue to be a 
USRPHC. However, if the Units are considered “regularly traded on an established securities market,” the Units would not 
be treated as interests in a USRPHC (and therefore gain recognized on a disposition would not be subject to U.S. federal 
income tax) with respect to Non-U.S. Holders who do not hold, actually or constructively, more than 10% of the outstanding 
Units at any time during the 5-year period ending on the date of disposition, or such shorter period that such Units were held. 
Regardless of the amount of Units held by a Non-U.S. Holder, a purchaser of Units will not be required to withhold tax on 
the sale so long as the Units are considered “regularly traded on an established securities market”. 

As discussed above, the TSX is an established securities market. Pursuant to the TSX Publicly Traded Exception, 
for so long as 100 or fewer persons do not own 50% or more of the Units, the Units should be treated as “regularly traded” 
on the TSX for a calendar quarter if: (a) the Units trade, other than in de minimis quantities, on at least 15 days during the 
calendar quarter; (b) the aggregate number of Units traded during the calendar quarter is at least 7.5% of the average number 
of Units outstanding during such calendar quarter (reduced to 2.5% if there are 2,500 or more record Unitholders); and (c) 
the REIT attaches a statement to its U.S. federal income tax return that provides information relating to it, the Units, and 
beneficial owners of more than 5% of the Units. 

In addition, the Units would be considered “regularly traded” on an established securities market for a calendar quarter 
if the established securities market were located in the United States and the Units were regularly quoted by more than one 
broker or dealer making a market in the Units through an interdealer quotation system. The Units are currently quoted on the 
OTCQX International (“OTCQX”). The OTCQX is an over-the-counter market having an interdealer quotation system that 
should be treated as an “established securities market” located in the United States A broker or dealer makes a market in a 
class of stock only if the broker or dealer holds itself out to buy or sell shares of such class of stock at the quoted price. In this 
regard, at least two brokers or dealers are regularly quoting and making a market in the Units on the OTCQX. For each 
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calendar quarter during which the Units are regularly quoted on the OTCQX, the Units should be treated as “regularly traded” 
on an established securities market in the United States (the “U.S. Publicly Traded Exception”) and, accordingly, gain on 
sales of Units by Non-U.S. Holders that own 10% or less of the outstanding Units during the applicable testing period would 
not be subject to U.S. federal income tax. Investors are cautioned that there can be no assurances that there will be at least two 
brokers or dealers regularly quoting the Units on the OTCQX in any particular calendar quarter. In addition, neither the Code, 
the applicable Treasury Regulations, administrative pronouncements nor judicial decisions provide guidance as to the 
frequency or duration with which the Units must be quoted during a calendar quarter to be “regularly quoted”. U.S. counsel 
to the REIT believes that it is reasonable to interpret this exception to the effect that, so long as the brokers or dealers regularly 
quote the Units at any time during a calendar quarter, any gain from a sale at any time during the quarter would not be subject 
to U.S. federal income tax for Non-U.S. Holders that own 10% or less of the outstanding Units during the applicable testing 
period. Due to the lack of guidance from the IRS, however, investors are cautioned that there can be no assurance that the IRS 
would concur in this interpretation. 

Nonetheless, management of the REIT expects that the Units will satisfy the TSX Publicly Traded Exception and/or 
the U.S. Publicly Traded Exception. However, if neither the U.S. Publicly Traded Exception nor the TSX Publicly Traded 
Exception is satisfied, the sale of Units by a Non-U.S. Holder may be subject to U.S. federal income tax at normal graduated 
rates with respect to gain recognized. In addition, a purchaser of Units would be required to withhold tax at the rate of 15% 
of the amount realized from the sale and to report and remit such tax to the IRS. Such withheld amount would not be an 
additional tax but would be a credit against the Non-U.S. Holder’s U.S. federal income tax liability arising from the sale, 
and a Non-U.S. Holder would be required to file a U.S. federal income tax return. 

A sale of Units by a qualified shareholder or a qualified foreign pension fund who holds directly or indirectly 
(through one or more partnerships) will not be subject to U.S. federal income taxation under FIRPTA. While a qualified 
shareholder will not be subject to FIRPTA withholding upon sale of Units, certain investors of a qualified shareholder (i.e., 
non-U.S. persons who hold interests in the qualified shareholder (other than interests solely as a creditor), and hold more 
than 10% of the Units (whether or not by reason of the investor’s ownership in the qualified shareholder)) may be subject 
to FIRPTA withholding. 

The U.S. federal income taxation of Non-U.S. Holders is a highly complex matter that may be affected by many 
other considerations. Accordingly, Non-U.S. Holders of Units should consult their tax advisors regarding the income and 
withholding tax considerations with respect to their investment in Units. 

Withholding Taxes on Certain Foreign Accounts 

Under the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (“FATCA”), withholding taxes may apply to certain types of 
payments made to “foreign financial institutions” (as specially defined in the Code) and certain other non-U.S. entities. 
Specifically, a 30% withholding tax may be imposed on all or a portion of the Subscription Receipt Adjustment Payment and 
dividends on the Units paid to a foreign financial institution or to a non-financial foreign entity, unless (1) the foreign financial 
institution undertakes certain diligence and reporting, (2) the nonfinancial foreign entity either certifies it does not have any 
substantial U.S. owners or furnishes identifying information regarding each substantial U.S. owner, or (3) the foreign 
financial institution or non-financial foreign entity otherwise qualifies for an exemption from these rules. If the payee is a 
foreign financial institution and is subject to the diligence and reporting requirements in clause (1) above, it must, among 
other things, undertake to identify accounts held by certain U.S. persons or U.S.-owned foreign entities and annually report 
certain information about such accounts. If FATCA withholding is imposed, a beneficial owner that is not a foreign financial 
institution may under certain circumstances be eligible for a refund or credit of any amounts withheld by filing a U.S. federal 
income tax return. An intergovernmental agreement between the jurisdiction of a foreign financial institution and the United 
States may modify the general FATCA rules described in this paragraph. Prospective investors should consult their tax 
advisors regarding these withholding provisions. 

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding 

Generally, the REIT must report to the IRS and to a Non-U.S. Holder the amount of interest and dividends paid to the 
Non-U.S. Holder and the amount of tax, if any, withheld with respect to those payments. Copies of the information returns 
reporting such interest and dividend payments and any withholding may also be made available to the tax authorities in the 
country in which the Non-U.S. Holder resides under the provisions of an applicable income tax treaty. In general, a Non-U.S. 
Holder is not subject to backup withholding with respect to payments of interest or distributions that are made to the Non-U.S. 
Holder if the Non-U.S. Holder has provided a properly completed applicable IRS Form W-8. A Non-U.S. Holder is subject to 
information reporting and, depending on the circumstances, backup withholding with respect to the proceeds of the sale or 
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other disposition of a Subscription Receipt or a Unit within the United States or conducted through certain U.S.-related 
payors, unless the payor of the proceeds receives the statement described above or the Non-U.S. Holder otherwise 
establishes an exemption. 

Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules are allowed as a refund or a credit against a Non-U.S. 
Holder’s U.S. federal income tax liability provided the required information is furnished to the IRS on a timely basis. 

Legislative or Other Actions Affecting REITs 

As described above, the TCJA was enacted on December 22, 2017. The TCJA made major changes to the Code, 
including several provisions of the Code that may affect the taxation of real estate investment trusts and their 
securityholders. The individual and collective impact of these changes on real estate investment trusts and their 
securityholders remains uncertain in some respects, and may not become evident for some time. 

Further, the present U.S. federal income tax treatment of real estate investment trusts may be modified, possibly 
with retroactive effect, by legislative, judicial or administrative action at any time. The real estate investment trust rules are 
constantly under review by persons involved in the legislative process and by the IRS and the U.S. Treasury Department 
which may result in statutory changes as well as revisions to regulations and interpretations. Prospective investors are urged 
to consult with their tax advisors regarding the effect of potential changes to the U.S. federal income tax laws on an 
investment in the Subscription Receipts and the Units. 

State, Local and Foreign Taxes 

The REIT and its securityholders are generally subject to tax in Canada, as discussed in “Certain Canadian Federal 
Income Tax Considerations”. The REIT and/or its securityholders may be subject to taxation by various U.S. states or 
localities or other foreign jurisdictions, including those in which the REIT or a securityholder transacts business, owns 
property or resides. The REIT may own properties located in numerous jurisdictions and may be required to file tax returns 
in some or all of those jurisdictions. The state, local and foreign tax treatment may differ from the U.S. federal income tax 
treatment described above. Consequently, prospective investors should consult their tax advisors regarding the effect of 
state, local and foreign income and other tax laws upon an investment in the Subscription Receipts and the Units. 

RISK FACTORS 

An investment in the Subscription Receipts and Units issuable upon the exchange of the Subscription Receipts is 
subject to a number of risks. Before deciding whether to invest, investors should consider carefully the risks factors set forth 
below and in the documents incorporated by reference in the Base Shelf Prospectus and/or the Prospectus Supplement 
(including those discussed under the heading “Risk Factors” in the Base Shelf Prospectus, the Annual Information Form, the 
Annual MD&A and the Interim MD&A) and all of the other information in the Prospectus (including, without limitation, the 
documents incorporated by reference). The risks described in this Prospectus Supplement are not the only risks that affect the 
REIT. Other risks and uncertainties that the REIT does not presently consider to be material, or of which the REIT is not 
presently aware, may become important factors that affect the REIT’s future financial condition and results of operations. 

Risks Factors Related to the Acquisition 

Possible Failure to Complete the Acquisition  

Closing of the Offering of Subscription Receipts will occur before the Acquisition Closing (other than with respect 
to the closing of Option Securities which may occur following the Acquisition Closing). Completion of the Acquisition is 
subject to the satisfaction of certain closing conditions. There is no certainty, nor can the REIT provide any assurance, that 
these conditions will be satisfied and, as such, there is no assurance that the Acquisition will be completed, or if completed, 
will be on terms that are exactly the same as discussed in the Prospectus (including the inclusion of all of the Acquisition 
Properties). If the Acquisition Closing does not take place as contemplated, the REIT will not benefit from the Acquisition, 
will have incurred significant management time and expenses and could suffer adverse consequences, including the loss of 
investor confidence.  

Potential Undisclosed Liabilities Associated with the Acquisition 

Upon the Acquisition Closing, the REIT will assume liabilities arising out of or related to the Acquisition Properties. 
The REIT may assume unknown liabilities that could be significant. Although the REIT has conducted a comprehensive due 
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diligence review of each of the Acquisition Properties, there may be liabilities, including under applicable environmental 
laws, that the REIT failed to discover or was unable to quantify in its due diligence review and the REIT may not be fully 
indemnified for some or all of these liabilities under the Acquisition Agreement. The subsequent discovery or quantification 
of any other material liabilities (including if the assessment of the environmental condition of the Acquisition Properties turns 
out to be incorrect) could have a material adverse effect on the REIT’s business, financial condition or future prospects, which 
could include diminution in the value of the affected assets or the inability to finance or dispose of the affected assets on 
acceptable terms.  

Information Provided by the Vendor

All information relating to the Acquisition Properties to be acquired pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement 
contained in the Prospectus has been provided to the REIT by the Vendor or other third parties. Although the REIT has 
conducted what it believes to be a prudent and thorough level of investigation in connection with the Acquisition Properties, 
an unavoidable level of risk remains regarding the accuracy and completeness of such information. While the REIT has no 
reason to believe that the information provided by the Vendor or other third parties is misleading, untrue or incomplete in 
any material respect, neither the REIT nor the Underwriters assume any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of 
such information or the failure by the Vendor or other third parties to disclose events which may have occurred or may affect 
the completeness or accuracy of such information but which are unknown to the REIT or the Underwriters.  

Possible Failure to Realize Expected Returns on the Acquisition 

The Acquisition involves risks that could materially and adversely affect the REIT’s business plan, including the 
failure of the Acquisition to realize the results the REIT expects, including as a result of a loss in the value of the Acquisition 
Properties. While management of the REIT, based on an analysis of accretion (as well as other information deemed 
appropriate and sufficient for such purposes), believes the Acquisition will be accretive to the REIT, such determination 
should not be regarded as a guarantee of future performance or results and includes certain estimates and assumptions, the 
actual result of which may be different. If the Acquisition fails to realize the results that the REIT expects, including continued 
high occupancy rates and renewal rates or the general state of the economy and interest rate volatility, the Acquisition could 
have a material adverse effect on the REIT and its financial results.  

There will be no Ability to Seek Recourse Against the Vendor 

Purchasers under this Prospectus Supplement will not have a direct statutory right or any other rights against the 
Vendor. The REIT will not have any post-closing contractual right of action against the Vendor except in respect of a claim 
for fraud.  

Investments in, and Profits and Cash Flows from, the Acquisition Properties may be Lost in the Event of Uninsured or 
Underinsured Losses  

Certain of the Acquisition Properties are located in areas exposed to earthquakes, hurricanes and other catastrophic 
storm activity. Although the REIT will carry general liability, umbrella liability and excess liability insurance for the 
Acquisition Properties with limits which are typically obtained by the REIT for its portfolio of properties and otherwise 
acceptable to the Board of Trustees, there are, however, certain types of risks which are uninsurable under any insurance 
policy and there are other risks that are not economically viable to insure at this time. Should an uninsured or under insured 
loss occur, the REIT could lose its investment in, and anticipated profits and cash flows from, one or more of the Acquisition 
Properties, but would continue to be obligated to repay any mortgage indebtedness on such properties.  

The Acquisition is being Structured as the Purchase of Interests in a Real Estate Investment Trust which the REIT will 
be required to keep Outstanding for at least Five Years  

The Acquisition is being structured as the purchase of interests in an entity that is intended to qualify as a real estate 
investment trust for U.S. federal income tax purposes (“U.S. REIT”). The REIT’s ability to eliminate this U.S. REIT structure 
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will be limited for at least five years. Consequently, the REIT may structure a future portfolio sale of the Acquisition 
Properties as a sale of U.S. REIT shares if sufficient time has not elapsed following the Acquisition Closing.   

Risk Factors Related to the Offering 

Trading Market for Subscription Receipts  

There is currently no trading market for the Subscription Receipts. Although the TSX has conditionally approved 
the listing of the Subscription Receipts and the Units issuable upon exchange of the Subscription Receipts (and the Option 
Securities) on the TSX, there can be no assurance that an active or liquid market for the Subscription Receipts will develop 
following the completion of the Offering, or if developed, that such a market will be sustained. If an active public market 
does not develop or is not maintained, investors may have difficulty selling their Subscription Receipts. 

The Conditions for Release of the Escrowed Funds (Less the Remaining 50% of the Underwriters’ Fee) to the REIT may 
not be Satisfied prior to the Occurrence of a Termination Event  

There can be no assurance that Escrow Release Conditions will be satisfied prior to the occurrence of a Termination 
Event. Each purchaser’s subscription proceeds will be held in escrow pending the satisfaction of the Escrow Release 
Conditions or the occurrence of a Termination Event, and accordingly purchasers will not be able to use such funds to take 
advantage of other investment opportunities that occur prior to the satisfaction of the Escrow Release Conditions or the 
occurrence of a Termination Event nor to participate in any growth in the trading price of the Units if the Escrow Release 
Conditions are not satisfied before the occurrence of a Termination Event. Holders of Subscription Receipts have only the 
rights described under “Description of the Subscription Receipts” and as set out in the Subscription Receipt Agreement.  

If the Escrow Release Conditions are not satisfied prior to the occurrence of a Termination Event, the subscription 
evidenced by each Subscription Receipt will be automatically terminated and cancelled, and each Subscription Receipt will 
entitle the holder thereof to receive an amount equal to the Offering Price and his or her pro rata share of the Earned Interest 
and the Deemed Interest, less applicable withholding taxes, if any. For greater certainty, in the event that the gross proceeds 
of the Offering are required to be remitted to purchasers of the Subscription Receipts, the REIT has agreed and has undertaken 
to pay the Subscription Receipt Agent an amount equal to 50% of the Underwriters’ Fee plus the Deemed Interest such that 
100% of the gross proceeds of the Offering would be refunded to purchasers of the Subscription Receipts. 

Rights of Holders of Subscription Receipts may Change  

From time to time while the Subscription Receipts are outstanding, the REIT, the Co-Lead Underwriters and the 
Subscription Receipt Agent, without the consent of the holders of the Subscription Receipts, may amend or supplement the 
Subscription Receipt Agreement for certain purposes, including making any change that does not prejudice the rights of the 
holders of Subscription Receipts. The Subscription Receipt Agreement will provide for other modifications and alterations 
thereto and to the Subscription Receipts issued thereunder by way of a resolution passed by the affirmative votes of the 
holders of not less than 66 ⅔% of the number of outstanding Subscription Receipts represented and voting at a meeting of 
Subscription Receipt holders or an instrument or instruments in writing signed by the holders of not less than 66 ⅔% of the 
number of outstanding Subscription Receipts. The description of the Subscription Receipt Agreement contained in this 
Prospectus Supplement is qualified in its entirety by the provisions of such agreement, which should be reviewed by holders 
of Subscription Receipts. The Subscription Receipt Agreement will be filed by the REIT under its SEDAR profile on the date 
of the Offering Closing.  

Assumption of Risks Relating to the Units 

The Subscription Receipts will be automatically exchanged for Units on the Acquisition Closing upon notice thereof 
by the REIT to the Subscription Receipt Agent. Purchasers of Subscription Receipts will therefore assume the same risk as 
though they had invested directly in Units on the Offering Closing. The REIT may, in its sole discretion, waive certain closing 
conditions in its favour in the Acquisition Agreement or agree to amend the Acquisition Agreement and consummate the 
Acquisition on terms that may be different from those described in the Prospectus, subject to the Co-Lead Underwriters’
consent in certain circumstances. As a result, the expected benefits of the Acquisition may not be fully realized. As a 
consequence, holders of Subscription Receipts will essentially assume the same risk as though they had invested directly in 
Units on the Offering Closing.  
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Possible Failure to Complete the Concurrent Private Placement 

Although the REIT has entered into a subscription agreement with AIMCo, there is no guarantee that all of the 
conditions to the completion of the Concurrent Private Placements will be satisfied. Although the closing of the Offering and 
the closing of the Concurrent Private Placements are conditional upon each other, it is possible that, if the Underwriters waive 
the requirement that the Concurrent Private Placements be completed as a condition to the closing of the Offering, that the 
Offering could close without the Concurrent Private Placements also closing. In those circumstances, the REIT will not have 
access to the aggregate net proceeds from the Concurrent Private Placement but would only have access to the net proceeds 
from the Offering. Such a lack of financing may adversely affect the financial and operating results of the REIT and the 
market price of the REIT’s securities. 

Potential Acquisition, Investment and Disposition Opportunities and Joint Venture Arrangements 

The REIT evaluates business and growth opportunities and continues to consider a number of acquisition, investment 
and disposition opportunities and joint venture arrangements to achieve its business and growth strategies. In the normal 
course, the REIT may have outstanding non-binding letters of intent and/or conditional agreements or may otherwise be 
engaged in discussions with respect to potential acquisitions and financing of new assets, the refinancing of existing assets, 
potential dispositions, establishment of new joint venture arrangements, the viability and status of its joint venture 
arrangements, and changes to its capital structure, each of which, individually or in the aggregate, may or may not be material 
if they were to progress. However, there can be no assurance that any of these discussions will result in a definitive agreement 
and, if they do, what the terms or timing of any acquisition, investment or disposition would be or that such acquisition, 
investment or disposition will be completed by the REIT. Similarly, there can be no assurance that the REIT will enter into 
new joint venture arrangements or continue any such existing joint venture arrangements. If the REIT does complete such 
transactions, the REIT cannot provide assurance that they will ultimately strengthen its competitive position or that they will 
not be viewed negatively by customers, securities analysts or investors. Such transactions may also involve significant 
commitments of the REIT’s financial and other resources. Any such activity may not be successful in generating revenue, 
income or other returns to the REIT, and the resources committed to such activities will not be available to the REIT for other 
purposes. 

ENFORCEMENT OF JUDGMENTS AGAINST FOREIGN PERSONS OR COMPANIES 

Each of Scott T. Frederiksen, the REIT’s Chief Executive Officer and a Trustee, Judd K. Gilats, the REIT’s Chief 
Financial Officer, and Milo D. Arkema, a Trustee, resides outside of Canada. Each of Scott T. Frederiksen, Judd K. Gilats, 
and Milo D. Arkema has appointed Blakes Extra-Provincial Services Inc., 199 Bay Street, Suite 4000, Toronto, ON, M5L 
1A9, Canada, as their agent for service of process.  

Purchasers are advised that it may not be possible for investors to enforce judgments obtained in Canada against any 
person or company that is incorporated, continued or otherwise organized under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction or resides 
outside of Canada, even if the party has appointed an agent for service of process. 

INTERESTS OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 

Other than as disclosed in the Prospectus, there are no material interests, direct or indirect, of the trustees or officers 
of the REIT, any Unitholder that beneficially owns more than 10% of the Units or any associate or affiliate of any of the 
foregoing persons in any transaction within the last three years or any proposed transaction that has materially affected or 
would materially affect the REIT or any of its subsidiaries. 

EXPERTS 

The matters referred to under “Eligibility for Investment” and “Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax 
Considerations”, as well as certain other Canadian legal matters relating to the issue and sale of the Units, will be passed 
upon on behalf of the REIT by Blake, Cassels & Graydon LLP, certain United States legal matters, as well as the matters 
referred to under “Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations”, will be passed upon on behalf of the REIT by Vinson 
& Elkins LLP, and certain Canadian legal matters on behalf of the Underwriters by McCarthy Tétrault LLP .  

As of the date of this Prospectus Supplement, the partners and associates of Blake, Cassels & Graydon LLP, Vinson 
& Elkins LLP and McCarthy Tétrault LLP, beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, less than 1% of the outstanding 
securities of the REIT. 
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AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR 

The REIT’s auditor is KPMG LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, in Toronto, Ontario. KPMG LLP has 
confirmed that they are independent with respect to the REIT within the meaning of the relevant rules and related 
interpretations prescribed by the relevant professional bodies in Canada and any application legislation or regulations. 

The Infill Logistics Portfolio’s auditor is KPMG LLP, in Minneapolis, Minnesota. KPMG LLP has confirmed that 
they are independent with respect to the Infill Logistics Portfolio within the meaning of the relevant rules and related 
interpretations prescribed by the relevant professional bodies in Canada and any application legislation or regulations. 

The Acquisition Properties auditor is KPMG LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants in Vancouver, British 
Columbia. KPMG LLP has confirmed that they are independent with respect to the Acquisition Properties within the meaning 
of the relevant rules and related interpretations prescribed by the relevant professional bodies in Canada and any application 
legislation or regulations. 

The transfer agent and registrar for the Units is Computershare Investor Services Inc. at its principal office located 
in Toronto, Ontario. 

The Subscription Receipt Agent for the Subscription Receipts (and the Option Subscription Receipts, if any) is 
Computershare Trust Company of Canada at its principal office located in Toronto, Ontario. 

PURCHASERS’ STATUTORY RIGHTS 

Securities legislation in certain of the provinces of Canada provides purchasers with the right to withdraw from an 
agreement to purchase securities. This right may be exercised within two business days after receipt or deemed receipt of a 
prospectus and any amendment. In several of the provinces, the securities legislation further provides a purchaser with remedies 
for rescission or, in some jurisdictions, revisions of the price or damages if the prospectus and any amendment contains a 
misrepresentation or is not delivered to the purchaser, provided that the remedies for rescission, revisions of the price or damages 
are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province. The 
purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province for the particulars of 
these rights or consult with a legal adviser.  

Under the Subscription Receipt Agreement, original purchasers of Subscription Receipts pursuant to the Offering 
will have a non-assignable contractual right of rescission, exercisable against the REIT following the issuance of the Units to 
such purchaser upon the exchange of the Subscription Receipts, to receive the subscription price paid for each such 
Subscription Receipt (including any Earned Interest and Deemed Interest) in the event that this prospectus or any amendment 
hereto contains a misrepresentation, provided that the right of rescission is exercised within 180 days of the closing of the 
Offering. This contractual right of rescission will be consistent with the statutory right of rescission described under Section 
130 of the Securities Act (Ontario), and is in addition to any other right or remedy available to original purchasers of 
Subscription Receipts under Section 130 of the Securities Act (Ontario) or otherwise at law. The purchaser should refer to 
any applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province for the particulars of this statutory right of 
action for damages, or consult with a legal adviser 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Management of BPP Pristine US LLC 

Opinion 

We have audited the combined carve-out financial statements of the PIRET US Properties 

Portfolio (“Portfolio”), which comprise: 

 the combined carve-out statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018 

 the combined carve-out statements of net earnings and comprehensive income, changes 

in net portfolio investment and cash flows for the year then ended 

 and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 

policies 

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 

the financial position of the Portfolio as at December 31, 2018, and its combined carve-out 

financial performance and its combined carve-out cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our auditors’ report. 

We are independent of the Portfolio in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 

relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 

a basis for our opinion. 

Emphasis of Matter – Basis of Preparation 

We draw attention to Note 2 in the financial statements which describes the applicable basis 

of preparation and the purpose of the financial statements. 

The financial statements have been prepared for the purposes of compliance with Section 

8.4 - Financial Statement Disclosure for Significant Acquisitions under National Instrument 

51-102 – Continuous Disclosure Obligations. 

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.    
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Other Matter – Comparative Information 

The comparative information as at December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2017 and for the year 

ended December 31, 2017 is unaudited. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on it. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance 
for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and for 

such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Portfolio’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going 

concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends 

to liquidate the Portfolio or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Portfolio’s financial 

reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as 

a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 

auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 

conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always 

detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 

the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 

users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 

exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 

risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion. 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 

one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Portfolio's internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
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 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 

exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Portfolio's 

ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 

we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ 

report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Portfolio to cease to continue 

as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 

 

 

Chartered Professional Accountants 

Vancouver, Canada 

February 14, 2020 
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PIRET US PROPERTIES PORTFOLIO 
Combined Carve-Out Statements of Financial Position 

December 31, December 31, January 1,
2018 2017 2017

(unaudited) (unaudited)

Investment properties  (note 4)  $           720,230  $           606,835  $           385,034 
              720,230               606,835               385,034 

Amounts  receivable and other assets  (note 5)                   6,912                   4,549                   3,700 
Cash held in trust                      662                      802                         -   
Cash                   6,831                   2,201                   3,131 

                14,405                   7,552                   6,831 
 $           734,635  $           614,387  $           391,865 

Mortgages  payable and other loans  (note 6)  $           564,573  $           363,784  $           306,914 
Renta l  depos i ts                      504                      404                      171 

              565,077               364,188               307,085 

Accounts  payable and accrued l iabi l i ties                 56,996                 35,011                 22,049 
Mortgages  payable and other loans  – current portion (note 6)               139,324               141,620                 42,135 
Renta l  depos i ts  – current portion                      155                        88                      102 

196,475 176,719 64,286
761,552 540,907 371,371

NET PORTFOLIO (DEFICIT) INVESTMENT (note 2(a))               (26,917)                 73,480                 20,494 
 $           734,635  $           614,387  $           391,865 

Subsequent event (note 18)

See accompanying notes  to the combined carve-out financia l  s tatements .

Current liabilities:

(thousands of US dollars)

ASSETS
Non-current assets:

Current assets:

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities:
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PIRET US PROPERTIES PORTFOLIO 
Combined Carve-Out Statements of Net Earnings and Comprehensive Income 

2018 2017
(thousands of US dollars) (unaudited)

Revenues:
Renta l  and recoveries  (note 7)  $               51,440  $              43,628 

Property operating expenses:
Insurance 333 222
Management fees  (note 13) 1,926 1,667
Operating costs 4,926 4,115
Property taxes 9,970 5,581

17,155 11,585

Net operating income 34,285 32,043

Other income (expenses):
Fair va lue adjustments  to investment properties  (note 4)                   60,881                    3,280 
Fa i r va lue adjustments  to financia l  ins truments  (note 6)                      (242)                          -   
IFRIC 21 fa i r va lue adjustment to investment properties  (note 4)                      (257)                  (1,475)

                  60,382                    1,805 

Net earnings before finance expense                   94,667                  33,848 
Finance expense (note 9)                 (30,660)                (19,790)

Net earnings before income taxes                   64,007                  14,058 
Income tax expense                          -                         (12)

Net earnings and comprehensive income  $               64,007  $              14,046 

See accompanying notes  to the combined carve-out financia l  s tatements .

Years ended December 31,
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PIRET US PROPERTIES PORTFOLIO 
Combined Carve-Out Statements of Changes in Net Portfolio (Deficit) Investment 

(thousands of US dollars) Total

Balance, January 1, 2017 (unaudited)  $                  20,494 
Net earnings  and comprehens ive income (unaudited)                      14,046 
Net contributions  from those enti tled to net portfol io (defici t) investment (unaudited)                      38,940 
Ba lance, December 31, 2017 (unaudited)  $                  73,480 

Balance, December 31, 2017 (unaudited)  $                  73,480 
Net earnings and comprehensive income                      64,007 
Net distributions to those entitled to net portfolio (deficit) investment                   (164,404)
Balance, December 31, 2018  $                 (26,917)

See accompanying notes  to the combined carve-out financia l  s tatements .
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PIRET US PROPERTIES PORTFOLIO 
Combined Carve-Out Statements of Cash Flows 

2018 2017
(thousands of US dollars) (unaudited)

Operating activities:
Net earnings  $              64,007  $              14,046 
Items not involving cash:

Amortization of mark to market mortgage adjustment                        321                            -   
Amortization of other loan transaction costs                     2,301                        301 
Fair value adjustments to investment properties (note 4)                 (60,881)                   (3,137)
IFRIC 21 fair value adjustment to investment properties (note 4)                        257                     1,475 
Fair value adjustments to financial instruments (note 6)                        242                            -   
Straight l ine rent adjustment                       (717)                       (360)

Net change in non-cash working capital (note 16)                     2,971                   (1,387)
Net finance expense, excluding amortization (note 9)                   28,038                   19,489 
Interest paid                 (13,038)                   (7,246)
Net cash provided from operating activities                   23,501                   23,181 

Financing activities:
Mortgage proceeds                            -                     62,450 
Repayment of mortgages                   (3,119)                   (4,018)
Mortgages discharged                 (91,491)                            -   
Other loan advances, net of repayments                299,725                   97,200 
Payment of mortgage and loan transaction costs                   (7,544)                       (652)

              (174,346)                   38,940 
Net cash provided from financing activities                   23,225                193,920 

Investing activities:
Acquisition of investment properties (note 4)                 (40,317)               (207,224)
Capital additions to investment properties (note 4)                       (521)                   (1,010)
Additions to land held for future development (note 4)                   (1,398)                   (8,995)
Cash held in trust                        140                       (802)
Net cash used in investing activities                 (42,096)               (218,031)

Net change in cash                     4,630                       (930)
Cash, beginning of year                     2,201                     3,131 

Cash, end of year  $                 6,831  $                 2,201 

See accompanying notes  to the combined carve-out financia l  s tatements .

Net contributions/(distributions) from those entitled to net portfolio 
(deficit) investment

Years ended December 31,

 



PIRET US PROPERTIES PORTFOLIO 
Notes to the Combined Carve-Out Financial Statements  
(amounts expressed in thousands of US dollars) 
December 31, 2018, December 31, 2017 (unaudited), and January 1, 2017 (unaudited) 
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1. General information: 

The PIRET US Properties Portfolio (the “Portfolio”) as presented in these combined carve-out financial statement is not 
a legal entity. These combined carve-out financial statements represent the combination of 27 industrial properties, 
located in the United States of America (“US”) from the dates that these properties were acquired and operated 
together as a business.  

The Portfolio was previously indirectly owned by Pure Industrial Real Estate Trust, (the “Trust”), an unincorporated 
open-ended trust formed under and governed by the laws of the Province of British Columbia. As at January 1, 2017, 
an arms’ length third party held a 49% non-controlling interest in NCLP, a consolidated subsidiary of the Trust which 
held a portfolio of three income producing investment properties. The 49% non-controlling interest was acquired by 
the Trust on June 13, 2017. On May 24, 2018, pursuant to a plan of arrangement, all of the issued and outstanding trust 
units of the Trust were acquired by an affiliate of Blackstone Property Partners (“Blackstone”) and Ivanhoe Cambridge 
(“Ivanhoe”), a subsidiary of Caisse de depot et placement du Quebec (“CDPQ”) (the “Transaction”). As a result of the 
Transaction, the indirect ownership in the Portfolio was transferred to BPP Pristine U.S. LLC (“Pristine US”). PIRET USA 
Inc. (“PIRET USA”), a company directly owned by Pristine US, has direct ownership of 10 of the properties in the 
Portfolio and PIRET NC Property LP (“NCLP”), a company with direct ownership of 3 properties in the Portfolio. BPP 
Pristine US Mezz A LLC (“Mezz A”), a company indirectly owned by PIRET USA, has indirect ownership of 14 properties 
in the Portfolio. The Portfolio is overseen by PIRET Management LP (the “Management”), an entity under common 
control. 

The principal business office of the Management, the Trust and Pristine US is located at 910-925 West Georgia Street, 
Vancouver, BC, Canada, V6C 3L2. 

These combined carve-out financial statements of the Portfolio have been prepared for the specific purpose of 
reporting on the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and net portfolio investment in the net assets of the Portfolio as 
if the Portfolio had been accounted for on a stand-alone and continuity of interest basis. 

2. Basis of presentation: 

(a) Basis of presentation: 

These combined carve-out financial statements have been prepared on a combined carve-out basis from the 
financial statements of the Trust and Pristine US to account solely for the properties owned and operated as a 
business by Pristine US and its consolidated subsidiaries from the date of acquisition from the Trust on May 24, 
2018 to December 31, 2018 and the US properties of the Trust as at January 1, 2017 and for the period from 
January 1, 2017 to May 24, 2018. In particular these combined carve-out financial statements have been prepared 
for the specific purpose of reporting on the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and the net assets of the Portfolio. 
These combined carve-out financial statements present the combined carve-out financial position, financial 
performance and cash flows of the Portfolio for the years presented and have been prepared based on the 
historical books and records of the Trust and Pristine US as if the Portfolio had been accounted for on a standalone 
basis, with estimates used, when necessary, for certain allocations. Because these properties from their dates of 
acquisition by the Trust or Pristine US were not operating in a consistent separate entity, these combined carve-
out financial statements depict the net assets representing the amount associated specifically with these 
properties. 

These combined and carve-out financial statements are not necessarily indicative of the results that would have 
been attained had the Portfolio been operated as a separate legal entity for the years presented and, therefore, 
are not necessarily indicative of future operating results. 



PIRET US PROPERTIES PORTFOLIO 
Notes to the Combined Carve-Out Financial Statements  
(amounts expressed in thousands of US dollars) 
December 31, 2018, December 31, 2017 (unaudited), and January 1, 2017 (unaudited) 
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2. Basis of presentation (continued): 

(a) Basis of presentation (continued): 

The combined properties have not presented a historical capital structure since the Portfolio was not a consistent 
legal entity throughout the periods presented. Therefore, amounts which reflect the net carrying value (net assets 
over liabilities) of the Portfolio, including a non-controlling interest in an entity holding three of the properties at 
January 1, 2017, are disclosed as net portfolio investment.  Separate consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared for Pristine US as an entity for the periods subsequent to its acquisition of the Portfolio. 

These combined carve-out financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. As the Portfolio is 
not a taxable entity, current and deferred income taxes have not been provided for in the combined carve-out 
financial statements. In addition, the income tax status of the entities holding the properties was not consistent 
throughout the reporting period. Disclosure of the income tax implications and amounts for Pristine US are 
disclosed in its consolidated financial statements as at and for the period ended December 31, 2018. The amounts 
recorded are not considered to be material to these carve-out financial statements. 

 (b) Statement of compliance: 

These combined carve-out financial statements were authorized for issue by the Management of the Portfolio on 
February 14, 2020. 

The combined carve-out financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB"). These are the 
Portfolio's first carve-out financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS and the Portfolio adopted IFRS in 
accordance with IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of International Reporting Standards. An explanation or reconciliation 
of how the transition to IFRS has affected the Portfolio's combined carve-out financial position, performance and 
cash flows, including the retroactive adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15, has not been presented as the Portfolio has 
not presented combined carve-out financial statements in previous years. The date of transition to IFRS was 
January 1, 2017.  

(c) Basis of measurement: 

These combined carve-out financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the 
following material items in the combined carve-out statements of financial position: 

• investment properties are measured at fair value; and 

• derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value. 

The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 2(e). 

(d) Functional and presentation currency: 

These combined carve-out financial statements are presented in US dollars, which is the functional currency used 
in accounting for the Portfolio. 

(e) Use of estimates and judgments: 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires Management to make judgments, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of income, 
expenses, assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
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2. Basis of presentation (continued): 

(e) Use of estimates and judgments (continued): 

(i) Judgments: 

In the process of applying the accounting policies to the Portfolio, Management has made the following 
critical judgments: 

a. Asset acquisitions: 

Investment properties are acquired in the normal course of business. At the time of acquisition, 
Management considers whether or not the acquisition represents the acquisition of a business. 
Management accounts for an acquisition as a business combination where an integrated set of activities 
is acquired in addition to the property. More specifically, consideration is made to the extent to which 
significant processes are acquired and, in particular, the extent of ancillary services provided by the 
property (e.g., maintenance, cleaning, security, bookkeeping, etc.). 

When the acquisition of a property does not represent a business, it is accounted for as an acquisition 
of a group of assets and liabilities. The cost of the acquisition, including transaction costs, is allocated to 
the assets and liabilities acquired based upon their relative fair values, and no goodwill or deferred tax 
is recognized.  

b. Lease contracts: 

Management enters into property leases on its investment property portfolio. Management makes 
judgments in determining whether certain leases, in particular those leases with long contractual terms 
where the lessee is the sole tenant in a property, are operating or finance leases. Management assesses 
each lease separately and has determined that all of the leases of the Portfolio are operating leases. 

(i) Estimates: 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. The 
significant areas of estimation include the following: 

a. Valuation of investment properties: 

The fair value of the investment properties is determined by the Management using recognized 
valuation techniques.  

The determination of the fair value of investment property requires the use of estimates such as future 
cash flows from assets (i.e. tenant profiles, future revenue streams and overall repair and condition of 
the property), discount rates applicable to those assets’ cash flows and capitalization rates. These 
estimates are based on market conditions existing at the reporting date.  

(f) Standards issued but not yet effective: 

 (i) IFRS 16 Leases: 

On January 13, 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 Leases (“IFRS 16”). This standard introduces a single lessee 
accounting model and requires a lessee to recognize assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more 
than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. This standard substantially carries forward the 
lessor accounting requirements of IAS 17, while requiring enhanced disclosures to be provided by lessors. 
The new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Earlier application is 
permitted for entities that apply IFRS 15 at or before the date of initial adoption of IFRS 16. IFRS 16 will 
replace IAS 17 Leases.  
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2. Basis of presentation (continued): 

(f) Standards issued but not yet effective (continued): 

(i) IFRS 16 Leases (continued): 

Management has completed its review of the impact of IFRS 16. This standard impacts the recognition and 
measurement of land leases where Pristine US is the lessee. The adoption of IFRS 16 will result in the 
recognition of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of approximately $114,388 associated with land leases. 
Management does not expect IFRS 16 will have a significant impact on the Portfolio’s net earnings, however, 
the Portfolio’s net operating income is expected to increase due to a decrease in property operating 
expenses while finance expenses are expected to increase, upon adoption of IFRS 16. Management has 
determined that all of the land leases for which it is a lessee are investment properties. As such, the right-
of-use asset related to land leases will be measured at fair value and classified as investment property at 
the date of initial application on January 1, 2019. Lease-related expense previously recorded in property 
operating expenses will now be recorded as fair value adjustments on investment properties and net 
interest and other financing charges on the Combined Carve-Out Statement of Net Earnings and 
Comprehensive Income from unwinding the discount on the lease liabilities. IFRS 16 will change the 
presentation of cash flows relating to leases where Pristine US is the lessee in the Combined Carve-Out 
Statement of Cash Flows, but does not cause a difference in the amount of cash transferred between parties 
of a lease. IFRS 16 will be applied for the 2019 annual fiscal period using the modified retrospective 
approach. 

3. Significant accounting policies: 

(a) Investment property acquisitions: 

Where property is acquired, Management considers the substance of the assets and activities of the acquired 
entity in determining whether the acquisition represents the acquisition of a property or a business combination. 
The basis of the judgment is set out in note 2(e). 

(b) Investment properties: 

(i) Initial recognition: 

Investment properties comprise property held to earn rental revenue or for capital appreciation or both, 
but not for sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or services or 
for administrative purposes. Investment property is measured initially at cost including acquisition costs. 
Acquisition costs include transfer taxes, professional fees for legal, engineering, environmental and 
appraisal services, and initial leasing commissions to bring the property to the condition necessary for it to 
be capable of operating.  

 (ii) Subsequent to initial recognition: 

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value with any change therein 
recognized in income. Management defines fair value to be the value a third party is willing to pay, in an 
arm’s length transaction, for an investment property. Therefore, the fair value of a recently acquired 
investment property would be the purchase price. Any subsequent valuations performed on an investment 
property, after acquisition date, would form the new basis for the fair value measurement of the investment 
property.  

 (iii) Capital additions: 

Capital additions to investment properties are capitalized to the carrying amount of investment properties 
when incurred and then considered in the fair value adjustment of the investment properties at the next 
reporting date. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(b) Investment properties (continued): 

(iv) Land held for future development: 

The cost of land held for future development includes carrying costs, consulting and legal fees directly 
attributable to land held for future development. 

(v) Fair value: 

The Portfolio includes straight line rent receivable in the fair value of investment property instead of 
recognizing it as a separate asset. 

As set out in note 4, in arriving at their estimates of market values, Management will determine whether an 
investment property requires an independent appraisal. If an independent appraisal is not required, 
Management will determine the market value of the investment property using the approaches described 
below. Management uses appraisals, market knowledge and professional judgement and does not rely 
solely on historical transactional comparisons. 

The following approaches, either individually or in combination, are used by Management, together with 
the appraisers, in their determination of the fair value of the investment properties: 

• The “Income Approach” derives market value by estimating the future cash flows that will be generated 
by the property and then applying an appropriate capitalization rate or discount rate to those cash flows. 
This approach can utilize the direct capitalization method and/or the discounted cash flow analysis. 

• The “Direct Comparison Approach” involves comparing or contrasting the recent sale, listing or optioned 
prices of properties comparable to the subject and adjusting for any significant differences between 
them. 

Management reviews each independent appraisal and ensures that the assumptions used by the appraisers 
are reasonable and that the final fair value amount reflects those assumptions used in the various 
approaches above.  

The significant assumptions used by Management in estimating the fair value of investment property are 
set out in note 4. 

(c) Revenue recognition: 

(i)  Rental revenue: 

Management accounts for tenant leases as operating leases, given that, as an agent, it has retained 
substantially all of the risks and benefits of ownership of the investment properties it manages. Rental 
revenue includes base rents, property tax recoveries, lease termination fees, and other rental revenue 
including recoveries for landlord work or tenant improvement allowances. Revenue recognition under a 
lease commences when the tenant has a right to use the leased asset. The total amount of contractual rent 
to be received from operating leases is recognized on a straight line basis over the term of the lease; a 
straight line receivable is recorded for the difference between the rental revenue recognized and the 
contractual amount received, and is included in investment properties. Property tax recoveries are 
recognized as revenues in the period in which the corresponding obligation arises and collectability is 
reasonably assured. Lease termination fees are recognized when the tenant’s obligation arises and 
collectability is reasonably assured. Other revenues are recorded as earned. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(c) Revenue recognition (continued): 

(ii) Revenue from contracts with tenants: 

Revenue from contracts with tenants primarily includes recoveries of operating expense and recoveries of 
capital expenditures from tenants in accordance with their leases. Revenue recognized from tenants under 
lease agreements is allocated between rental revenue and recoveries revenue based on relative stand-alone 
selling prices (i.e. base rent and additional recoveries rent). For recoveries revenue, performance 
obligations are satisfied over time as tenants occupy the premises. Recoveries revenue is billed monthly to 
tenants based on budgeted estimates. Management recognizes recoveries revenues for operating expenses 
based on actual costs incurred in accordance with the terms of the related leases. Actual costs reflect the 
services provided. The amount of recoveries revenue is determined by the actual costs incurred and any 
restrictions in lease agreements. If the services rendered exceed the monthly charges billed, a receivable is 
recognized; if the monthly charges billed exceed the services rendered, a payable is recognized. 

(d) Finance income and finance expense: 

Finance income consists of interest and other income, which is recognized in the period in which it is earned. 

Finance expense consists of mortgage interest, amortization of mortgage transaction costs, and amortization of 
the mark to market mortgage adjustments. Finance expenses are recognized in the period in which they are 
incurred. 

(e) Cash and restricted cash: 

Cash consists of cash held at banks.  Restricted cash consists of refundable deposits held pursuant to agreements 
of purchase and sale, which are to be used solely for the related investment properties, and is classified as “cash 
in trust”. 

(f) Leases: 

Leases are classified according to the substance of the transaction to determine whether substantially all the risks 
and benefits of ownership in the investment property has been transferred. All tenant leases where Pristine US is 
the lessor in the leasing arrangement have been determined to be operating leases.  

(g) Leasing costs: 

Leasing costs are comprised of leasing commissions and legal fees. These costs are capitalized to the carrying 
amount of investment properties when incurred and then considered in the fair value adjustment of the 
investment properties at the next reporting date. 

(h) Provisions: 

Provisions are recognized when Management assesses, on behalf of the Portfolio: i) the Portfolio has a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; ii) it is probable that an outflow of resources will be 
required to settle the obligation; and iii) the amount can be reasonably estimated. If the time value of money is 
material, provisions are discounted using a current rate that reflects the risk profile of the liability, and the increase 
to the provision due to the passage of time will be recognized as a finance cost. 

(i) Levies: 

The Portfolio recognizes a liability for a levy when the activity that triggers payment occurs, as identified by the 
relevant legislation. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(j) Financial Instruments: 

(i)  Classification and measurement: 

Financial assets are classified and measured based on three categories: amortized cost; fair value through 
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”); or fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). The classification of 
financial assets is based on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and its contractual cash 
flow characteristics. Financial liabilities are classified and measured on two categories: amortized cost or 
FVTPL.  

Derivatives embedded in contracts where the host is a financial asset in the scope of the standard are not 
separated. Instead, the hybrid financial instrument as a whole is assessed for classification. 

The following table summarizes the classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities: 

Financial assets/liabilities Classification under IFRS 9
Cash Amortized cost
Cash held in trust Amortized cost
Accounts receivable Amortized cost
Mortgages payable Amortized cost
Accounts payable and accrued liabil ities Amortized cost
Rental deposits Amortized cost
Other loans Amortized cost
Interest rate cap contracts FVTPL

 
(ii)  Impairment of financial assets: 

An allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) is recognized at each balance sheet date for all financial 
assets measured at amortized cost or those measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

Financial assets measured at amortized cost are assessed at each reporting date to determine the credit 
risk of the financial asset to apply the relevant impairment requirements. A financial asset is impaired if 
objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that 
the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated 
reliably. Management considers evidence of impairment of financial assets measured at amortized cost at 
both a specific asset and collective level.  

Losses are recognized in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against receivables. Interest on 
the impaired asset continues to be recognized through the unwinding of the discount. When a subsequent 
event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed 
through profit and loss. 
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4. Investment properties: 

December 31, December 31, January 1,

2018 2017 2017

(unaudited) (unaudited)

Income producing properties 707,970$         596,770$         385,034$         

Land held for future development (b) 12,260             10,065             -                   

720,230$         606,835$         385,034$         

As at December 31, 2018, the Portfolio’s 27 investment properties are comprised of 26 income producing properties 
that are leased to third parties, and two parcels of land held for future development (December 31, 2017 – 25 
investment properties comprised of 24 income producing properties, and one standalone parcel of land held for future 
development; January 1, 2017 – 19 income producing properties). 

December 31, December 31, 

2018 2017

(unaudited)

Balance, beginning of year 606,835$         385,034$         

Acquis i tions  (a) 48,317             207,224           

Capi ta l  additions  1,286               1,010               

Land held for future development (b) 2,194               10,070             
Stra ight l ine rent adjustment 717                  360                  

Fa i r va lue adjustment to investment properties  (c) 60,881             3,137               

720,230$         606,835$         

IFRIC 21 property tax l iabi l i ty adjustment 257                  1,475               

IFRIC 21 fa i r va lue adjustment to investment properties  (d) (257)                 (1,475)              

Ba lance, end of year 720,230$         606,835$         

 
(a) Acquisitions: 

On August 30, 2018, the Portfolio completed the acquisition of a building in Fort Worth, Texas, a 657,043 square 
foot (“sf”) distribution centre, for a total purchase price of $48,000 plus standard closing costs and adjustments of 
$317. 

On February 1, 2017, the Portfolio completed the acquisition of one investment property in Atlanta, Georgia, an 
800,000 sf cross dock distribution centre, for a total purchase price of $39,500 plus standard closing costs and 
adjustments of $234. 

On April 4, 2017, the Portfolio completed the acquisition of the Cedar Port Distribution Centre, consisting of two 
newly-constructed buildings comprising a total of 996,482 sf in Houston, Texas for $63,500 plus standard closing 
costs and adjustments of $121. 

On June 14, 2017, the Portfolio completed the acquisition of the Dalport Trade Centre, a 758,922 sf distribution 
centre located in the Dallas suburb of Wilmer, Texas for a purchase price of $42,000 plus standard closing costs 
and adjustments of $154. 
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4. Investment properties (continued): 

(a) Acquisitions (continued): 

On December 8, 2017, the Portfolio completed the acquisition of a 301,500 sf distribution centre located in Fort 
Worth, TX for a purchase price of $25,000 plus standard closing costs and adjustments of $74. 

On December 14, 2017, the Portfolio completed the acquisition of a 760,256 sf distribution centre located in 
McDonough, Georgia for a purchase price of $36,500 plus standard closing costs and adjustments of $141. 

(b) Land held for future development: 

On August 18, 2017, the Portfolio completed the acquisition of 84.7 acres of land located in the Dallas suburb of 
Wilmer, Texas for a total purchase price of $6,460 plus standard closing costs and adjustments of $517. The 
Portfolio incurred $2,194 towards municipal infrastructure improvements and holding costs during the year ended 
December 31, 2018 (December 31, 2017 - $45; January 1, 2017 – nil). 

On March 8, 2017, the Portfolio completed the acquisition of land adjacent to an existing property in San Antonio, 
Texas for a total purchase price of $2,754 plus standard closing costs and adjustments of $294. 

(c) Fair value adjustment to investment properties: 

Management obtains independent appraisals such that all of the properties will be externally appraised annually. 
During the year ended December 31, 2018, Management obtained independent appraisals for all of the Portfolio’s 
26 income producing investment properties. The appraisals were performed by accredited independent appraisers 
with recent experience in the location and category of the investment property being valued. Management reviews 
each appraisal and ensures that the assumptions used are reasonable and the final fair value amount reflects those 
assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of the properties.  

Management undertakes its own internal valuation process and reviews specific indicators (i.e. market conditions, 
discount rate changes, etc.) to determine whether a change in fair value has occurred. In arriving at their estimates 
of fair values, management and the independent appraisers have used their market knowledge and professional 
judgment and did not rely solely on historical transactional comparisons. 

(i) Fair value adjustments to investment properties: 

December 31, December 31, 

2018 2017

(unaudited)

Standard acquis i tion costs (317)$             (723)$                 

Va luation ga in on investment properties 61,915            4,220                 

Stra ight l ine renta l  revenue (717)               (360)                   

Other -                 143                    

60,881$          3,280$               
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4. Investment properties (continued): 

(c) Fair value adjustments to investment properties (continued): 
 

(ii)       Significant valuation assumptions: 
 
The significant assumptions made to determine the fair values of the investment properties are set out 
below: 

Discount rate 
(Income approach – 

discounted cash flow 
method)

Capitalization rate 
(Income approach – 

overall capitalization 
rate method)

Terminal Rate 
(Income approach – 

overall capitalization 
rate method)

Price per square foot 
(Direct comparison 

approach)

December 31, 2018

Maximum 8.25% 7.25% 7.75% $293.11 

Minimum 5.00% 4.00% 4.50% $43.74 

Weighted average 6.96% 5.78% 6.20% $107.43 

December 31, 2017

Maximum 8.75% 7.97% 8.47% $246.64 

Minimum 5.75% 4.70% 5.25% $36.29 

Weighted average 7.25% 6.27% 6.57% $96.21 

January 1, 2017

Maximum 8.75% 7.75% 8.25% $246.64 

Minimum 6.50% 5.25% 5.75% $33.88 

Weighted average 7.55% 6.56% 6.90% $116.36  
 
Investment properties as at December 31, 2018, December 31, 2017 and January 1, 2017 have been valued 
using the overall capitalization rate (“OCR”) method, the discounted cash flow method and in certain select 
cases, using the market comparable method. In applying the OCR method, the stabilized net operating 
income is capitalized at the appropriate capitalization rate and from this value, estimated future significant 
capital expenditures impacting the properties have been deducted. In applying the discounted cash flow 
method, the expected future cash flows are discounted, generally over a term of 10 years, including a 
terminal value based on the application of the weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) to estimated year 
11 net operating income. In applying the market comparable method, a dollar value per square foot, or in 
case of land, dollar value per acre, is observed for transactions in markets where the Portfolio holds similar 
investment properties, and extrapolated to estimate the fair value of the investment property. 

Fair values are most sensitive to changes in capitalization rates. At December 31, 2018, a 0.25% increase in 
the weighted average capitalization rate would decrease the fair value of investment properties by $29,853 
(December 31, 2017 - $23,168; January 1, 2017 - $14,253) and a 0.25% decrease in the weighted average 
capitalization rate would increase the fair value of investment properties by $32,664 (December 31, 2017 - 
$25,151; January 1, 2017 - $15,403). 
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4. Investment properties (continued): 

(d) IFRIC 21 adjustments: 

Under IFRIC 21, property taxes are recognized when the obligating event occurs, which falls on various dates 
throughout the given reporting year for the properties owned and operated. For the year ended December 31, 
2018, the Portfolio recognized a $257 (December 31, 2017 - $1,475) property tax liability adjustment which 
increases the carrying value of investment properties and a corresponding fair value loss of $257 (December 31, 
2017 - $1,475), resulting in a net impact of $nil to the carrying value of investment properties. 

5. Amounts receivable and other assets: 

 Amounts receivable and other assets consist of the following: 

December 31, December 31, January 1, 
2018 2017 2017

(unaudited) (unaudited)
Rents  and recoveries  receivable  $                            84  $                     23  $                   906 
Unbi l led recoveries  receivable 5,754 1,204 349
Prepaid expenses 1,074 3,322 2,445

 $                       6,912  $                4,549  $                3,700 

 
6. Mortgages payable and other loans: 

The mortgages payable and other loans consist of the following: 

December 31, December 31, January 1,
2018 2017 2017

(unaudited) (unaudited)
Mortgages  payable (a), net of unamortized financing costs
  and mark to market mortgage adjustments  $         125,054  $         221,162  $         163,081 
Other loans  (b), net of unamortized financing costs             578,859             284,242             185,968 
Loan interest rate caps  (c)                    (16)                       -                        -   

            703,897             505,404             349,049 
Less  current portion             139,324             141,620               42,135 
Non-current portion  $         564,573  $         363,784  $         306,914 

 
(a) Mortgages payable: 

Mortgages payable are recorded at amortized cost and bear a weighted average effective interest rate of 4.02% 
(December 31, 2017 – 3.80%, January 1, 2017 – 3.74%). 

Mortgages payable are secured by charges on the Portfolio’s investment properties. At December 31, 2018, 
investment properties with a fair value of $293,790 (December 31, 2017 - $482,860, January 1, 2017 – $350,112) 
were pledged as security against the mortgages payable. 

The amount of mortgages payable at December 31, 2018 was $125,054 (December 31, 2017 - $221,162, January 
1, 2017 - $163,081). As at December 31, 2018 there are $nil (December 31, 2017 - $2,103, January 1, 2017 - $1,661) 
unamortized financing costs included in mortgages payable, which are amortized over the term of each mortgage 
using the effective interest rate method. 
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6. Mortgages payable and other loans (continued): 

(a) Mortgages payable (continued): 

Included in mortgages payable as at December 31, 2018 is the unamortized mark to market adjustment of $3,509 
(December 31, 2017 - $nil, January 1, 2017 - $nil), which is being amortized over the remaining term of the related 
mortgages using the effective interest rate method. The market to market adjustment was only applicable to the 
year ended December 31, 2018 and was due to the Transaction which resulted in a remeasurement of mortgages 
to fair value. 

On February 6, 2017, the Portfolio entered into a new mortgage loan of $19,150, secured by its newly acquired 
Atlanta, Georgia property (note 4(a)). The mortgage has an eight-year term and bears interest at 3.82%. 

On April 7, 2017, the Portfolio entered into a new mortgage loan of $31,500 secured by its two newly acquired 
Houston, Texas properties (note 4(a)). The mortgage has a ten-year term and bears interest at 3.88%. The related 
unamortized financing costs included in mortgages payable is $268 as at December 31, 2017. 

On November 14, 2016 the Portfolio entered into a mortgage loan of $40,500, secured by six newly acquired 
Southeastern U.S. properties (“the existing mortgage”). On September 28, 2017, the Portfolio substituted two 
secured assets on the existing mortgage for security over the Dalport Trade Centre, previously acquired on June 
14, 2017 (note 4(a)). As a result of the substitution, the Portfolio received supplemental funding of $11,800 (“the 
supplemental mortgage”). The supplemental mortgage has a seven-year term and bears interest at 3.56%. All other 
terms and conditions of the existing mortgage remain unchanged and apply to the supplemental mortgage. The 
supplemental mortgage’s unamortized financing costs included in mortgages payable is $173 as at December 31, 
2017. 

On May 25, 2018, in connection with the Transaction, the Portfolio repaid one mortgage totaling $91,491. 

Scheduled principal repayments and maturities, as at December 31, 2018, on the mortgages payable over the next 
five years and thereafter, and the corresponding weighted average effective interest rates are as follows: 

As at December 31,

2019                                          -    $                             2,098                        -    $                   2,098 
2020                                          -   2,406                        -   2,406
2021                                          -   2,825                        -   2,825
2022                                          -   2,925                        -   2,925
2023                                          -   3,028                        -   3,028
Thereafter 4.02% 5,132 110,149 115,281

4.02%  $                           18,414  $          110,149  $               128,563 
                    (3,509)
 $               125,054 

Weighted Average 
Effective Interest Rate

Scheduled Principa l  
Repayments

Principa l  
Maturi ties

Tota l  
Repayments

Unamortized mark to market mortgage adjustment

 
(b) Other loans: 

(i) On May 25, 2018, in connection with the Transaction, Mezz A entered into an interest-only $278,000 loan 
facility secured by those properties with an aggregate fair value of $399,999. The loan consists of 
$232,000 (“CITI Loan”) and $46,000 (“Mezzanine loan”) tranches. The CITI loan bears interest at LIBOR 
plus 1.50%. The Mezzanine loan bears interest at LIBOR plus 4.5% (note 6(c)). On the fourth extension 
term, the interest rate of the Mezzanine loan will increase by 0.15%. The loan facility has a two-year term 
with an initial maturity date of June 9, 2020 with an option to extend for five successive terms of one year. 
On August 30, 2018, Mezz A increased its borrowing on the CITI loan by $22,000. All other terms and 
conditions on the existing loan remain unchanged. 
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6.  Mortgages payable and other loans (continued): 

(b) Other loans (continued): 

(i) The loan amount attributed to the Portfolio as at December 31, 2018 is $300,000. As at December 31, 
2018, the related unamortized financing costs are $5,368. 

(ii) On August 17, 2017, the Portfolio completed the acquisition of land located in Wilmer, Texas (note 4(b)). 
Upon acquisition the Portfolio entered into a promissory note payable agreement of $1,133 with the 
vendor. As the Portfolio performs municipal infrastructure improvements, the promissory note payable 
is reduced. The promissory note is secured by the land located in Wilmer, Texas and was non-interest 
bearing. In August 2018, the note converted to an interest bearing note at a rate of 12.00%.  

As at December 31, 2018, the promissory note payable is $1,059 (December 31, 2017 - $1,074).  

(iii) In connection with property acquisitions, the Portfolio has thirty-one loans owing to PRIET USA totaling 
$283,168 (December 31, 2017 - $283,168, January 1, 2017 - $185,968). As at December 31, 2018 the loans 
outstanding were as follows: 

• Sixteen unsecured loans totaling $99,000 (December 31, 2017 - $99,000, January 1, 2017 - 
$99,000) bearing interest between 6.50% and 7.00% and mature between 2024 and 2026; 

• Five unsecured loans totaling $48,000 (December 31, 2017 - $48,000, January 1,2017 - $48,000) 
bearing interest at LIBOR plus 1.90% and mature in 2024; 

• Four unsecured loans totaling $39,000 (December 31, 2017 - $39,000, January 1, 2017 - $nil) 
bearing interest between 7.20% and 7.30% and are due on demand; 

• Two unsecured loans totaling $58,200 (December 31, 2017 - $58,200, January 1, 2017 - $nil) 
bearing interest at LIBOR plus 0.70% and are due on demand; and 

• Four unsecured loans totaling $38,968 (December 31, 2017 - $38,968, January 1, 2017 - $38,968) 
bearing interest at a rate of 3.8% and are due on demand. 

Scheduled principal repayments and maturities, as at December 31, 2018, to be made on the other loans payable 
over the next five years and thereafter, and the corresponding weighted average effective interest rates are as 
follows: 

As at December 31,

2019 4.38%  $                      -    $          137,226  $               137,226 
2020 5.46%                          -                300,000 300,000
2021                             -                            -                          -                               -   
2022                             -                            -                          -                               -   
2023                             -                            -                          -                               -   
Thereafter 5.93%                          -                147,000 147,000

5.32%  $                      -    $          584,226  $               584,226 
                    (5,367)
 $               578,859 

(1) The Portfol io entered into a  loan interest rate cap. See note 6(c)

Weighted Average 
Effective Interest 

Rate(1)

Scheduled 
Principa l  

Repayments
Principa l  

Maturi ties
Tota l  

Repayments

Unamortized loan transaction costs
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6.  Mortgages payable and other loans (continued): 

(c) Loan interest rate cap: 

On May 25, 2018, Mezz A entered into an interest rate cap on the CITI and Mezzanine loans with an outstanding 
notional amount of $278,000 to reduce the impact of fluctuating interest rates and to cap the underlying LIBOR 
rate to 3.50%. On August 30, 2018, in connection with the increase in the CITI loan (note 6(b)(i)), the interest rate 
cap was also increased by $29,700 to an outstanding notional amount of $307,700. 

As at December 31, 2018, the fair value asset of the loan interest cap attributed to the Portfolio is $16. 

The net loss resulting from the change in fair value of this derivative contract for the year ended December 31, 
2018 is as follows: 

December 31, December 31, January 1,
2018 2017 2017 2018 2017

(unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited)
 $                       16  $                        -    $                        -    $                     242  $                        -   

Fair value asset Net loss on loan interest rate caps
Years ended December 31,

 
7. Rental and recoveries: 

Management has evaluated the lease and non-lease components of the Portfolio’s revenue. 

The following table provides additional disclosure of the Portfolio’s various revenue streams. 

December 31,
2018

December 31,
2017

(unaudited)
Base rent  $                  36,510  $                32,038 
Land rent                        3,556                      3,373 
Stra ight-l ine rent                           717                         360 

Property operating expense recoveries(2)                      10,624                      7,657 

Other revenues(1)(2)                             33                         200 
 $                  51,440  $                43,628 

(1) Other revenues consist of lease termination fees.
(2) Amounts represent revenue recognized in accordance with IFRS 15. 

 
8. Fair value of financial instruments: 

The fair value of a financial instrument is the estimated amount of consideration that could be agreed upon in an arm’s 
length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act. In certain 
circumstances, however, the fair value may be based on other observable current market transactions in the same 
instrument, without modification or on a valuation technique using market-based inputs. The fair values of the 
Portfolio’s assets and liabilities were determined as follows:  

(a) Current assets and liabilities: 

The carrying amounts for cash, cash in trust, amounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and 
rental deposits approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature of these items.  
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8. Fair value of financial instruments (continued): 

(b) Mortgage payable and other loans: 

The fair values of mortgages payable and other loans have been calculated based on discounted future cash flows 
using discount rates that reflect current market conditions for instruments having similar terms and conditions 
(Level 2). Discount rates are either provided by lenders or are observable in the open market. 

Carrying 
Amount Fair Value 

Carrying 
Amount Fa i r Va lue

Carrying 
Amount Fa ir Va lue

Mortgages  payable and other loans
(including interest rate caps)  $  703,897  $697,448  $  505,404  $  501,519  $  349,049  $  348,840 

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017 January 1, 2017
(unaudited)(unaudited)

 
9. Finance income and finance expenses: 

2018 2017
(unaudited)

Finance expense
Mortgage interest  $              5,923  $                7,425 
Other loan interest and fees 22,115 12,064
Amortization expense on mortgage and other loans 2,622 301

 $            30,660  $              19,790 

For the years ended December 31,

 
10. Capital management: 

Management defines capital as the aggregate of equity and long-term debt. The term “long-term debt” means any 
financial liabilities of the Portfolio beyond one year from the balance sheet date. Management’s objective in managing 
capital are to maintain a level of capital that complies with debt restrictions of its investors; complies with existing debt 
covenants; and funds its business strategies. 

For the CITI loan and Mezzanine loan, Mezz A on behalf of the Portfolio is required by the loan agreements to maintain 
a debt yield above 5.50% on the combined borrowings of the CITI and Mezzanine loans and 6.59% on the CITI loan 
alone. As at December 31, 2018, the Portfolio is in compliance with these covenants. 

11. Fair value hierarchy: 

Fair value measurements recognized in the combined carve-out statements of financial position are categorized in 
accordance with the following levels: 

Level 1:  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2:  Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); 

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

Each type of fair value is categorized based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
in its entirety. 
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11. Fair value hierarchy (continued): 

The following table classifies assets measured at fair value according to the three-level hierarchy. 

As at December 31, 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Investment properties  $                   -    $                    -  $            720,230 
Loan interest rate caps asset                       -                          16                          -   

As  at December 31, 2017 (unaudited) Level  1 Level  2 Level  3 
Investment properties  $                   -    $                    -  $            606,835 

As  at January 1, 2017 (unaudited) Level  1 Level  2 Level  3 
Investment properties  $                   -    $                    -  $            385,034 

There have been no transfers between levels during the year.  

The fair value of Portfolio’s investment properties is considered to be at Level 3 in the hierarchy, as significant 
unobservable inputs are required to determine fair value.  

12. Risk management:  

In the normal course of business, the Portfolio is exposed to a number of risks from its use of financial instruments. 
These risks, and the actions taken to manage them, are as follows:  

(a) Credit risk and economic dependence: 

The Portfolio’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each tenant. 

The Portfolio is exposed to credit risk in the event of non-payment of rent and recoveries by its tenants. This risk 
is mitigated by obtaining advance deposits and initiating a prompt collection process. The amount of rents and 
recoveries receivables at December 31, 2018 was $84 (December 31, 2017 - $23; January 1, 2017 - $906) which 
included $67 of past due amounts. The amount of unbilled receivables at December 31, 2018 was $4,855 
(December 31, 2017 - $339; January 1, 2017 - $349) (note 5). 

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Portfolio earned approximately 46.33% of its revenue from a single 
tenant (2017 – 54.17%).  

(b) Interest rate risk: 

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that the value of, or cash flows related to, a financial instrument will 
fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates. The Portfolio is exposed to interest rate risk from the 
interest rate differentials between the market rate and the rates used on these financial instruments. Mortgages 
payable and other loans bear interest at fixed rates, except for the component of the CITI loan that is variable in 
the amount of $300,000 but for which the Portfolio has entered into an interest rate cap to reduce the interest 
rate exposure (note 6(c)); therefore, the Portfolio is not exposed to significant interest rate risk.  

Based on the outstanding balance of the bank loans and loans owing to PIRET USA at December 31, 2018, the 
impact of a 100 basis point change will increase or decrease the Portfolio’s interest expense or earnings by $1,282 
annually (2017 - $1,062). 
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12. Risk management (continued):  

(c) Liquidity risk: 

Real property investments tend to be relatively illiquid, with the degree of liquidity generally fluctuating in relation 
to demand for and the perceived desirability of such investments. Such illiquidity may limit the Portfolio’s ability 
to vary its portfolio promptly in response to changing economic or investment conditions. If the Portfolio were 
required to liquidate a real property investment, the proceeds might be significantly less than the aggregate 
carrying value of such property. 

Management diligently monitors the repayment dates of the repayment dates of the Portfolio’s mortgages. The 
mortgage due dates range from 2024 to 2027, with a weighted average remaining term of 6.5 years (December 
31, 2017 – 6.3 years, January 1, 2017 – 6.6 years). 

13. Related party transactions: 

In connection with property acquisitions, the Portfolio has thirty-one loans owing to PIRET USA totaling $283,168 
(December 31, 2017 - $283,168, January 1, 2017 - $185,968) (note 6(b)(iii)). As at December 31, 2018, interest owing 
to PIRET USA on the loans totaled $42,371 (December 31, 2017 - $27,777, January 1, 2017 - $15,714). 

As at December 31, 2018, included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is a balance of $1,810 (December 31, 
2017 - $1,258, January 1, 2017 - $529) for invoices paid on behalf of the Portfolio by entities under common ownership. 
Amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no scheduled terms of repayment. 

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Portfolio incurred management fees in the amount of $1,539 (December 
31, 2017 - $1,365). It is in Management’s opinion that the management fees are in line with current market rates. 

14. Leases: 

Management on behalf of the Portfolio has entered into leases on the property portfolio. The commercial property 
leases typically have lease terms between 3 to 25 years and include renewal options with rental rates according to 
prevailing market conditions. As at December 31, 2018, 61% (2017 – 66%) of the Portfolio’s gross leasable area relates 
to properties leased to single tenants. 

Future minimum rental revenues under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 

December 31, December 31,
2018 2017

(unaudited)
Within 1 year  $                              36,459  $                              35,681 
Years  2 – 5 118,620 121,039
Greater than 5 years 37,559 44,331

 $                            192,638  $                            201,051 

 
15. Commitments, guarantees and contingencies: 

As at December 31, 2018, the Portfolio has two investment properties subject to non-cancellable long-term land leases 
in which the underlying land is owned by a third party and leased to the Portfolio. Unless the lease term is extended, 
the land will return to the owner at the expiration of the lease term.  

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Portfolio recognized land lease expense of $3,556 (2017 - $3,373) and the 
remaining term of the Portfolio's land leases is 38 to 48 years.  
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15. Commitments, guarantees and contingencies (continued): 

Future minimum lease payments related to the land leases are as follows: 

December 31, December 31,
2018 2017

(unaudited)
Within 1 year  $                   3,556  $                   3,556 
Years  2 – 5 14,855 14,438
Greater than 5 years 237,037 241,011

 $               255,448  $               259,005 

 
 On August 18, 2017, the Portfolio acquired 84.7 acres of land located in Wilmer, Texas, as a future development site. 
Upon acquisition, there was a commitment to spend $2,005 on municipal infrastructure improvements, of which the 
Portfolio was to be responsible for $872. Subsequently, the contract was increased to $1,832. As of December 31, 
2018, $351 remains outstanding. 

16. Supplementary cash flow information: 

2018
2017

(unaudited)

Changes  in non-cash working capi ta l :

Increase in amounts  receivable and other assets  $                  (2,363)  $                 (849)

Increase in renta l  depos i ts                           167                       219 

Increase/(decrease) in accounts  payable and accrued l iabi l i ties                        5,167                     (757)

 $                    2,971  $              (1,387)

Years ended December 31,

 
17.  Segment reporting: 

The Portfolio only owns industrial properties in the USA. Accordingly, the Portfolio has a single reportable segment for 
disclosure purposes in accordance with IFRS. 

18. Subsequent event: 

On January 31, 2020, BPP Pristine U.S. Parent LLC, Blackstone Property Partners (Supplemental Account) C L.P., 
Blackstone Pristine Property Co-Investment Partners L.P. and PIRET US IC Debt Holder LLC entered into an agreement 
to sell the membership interest in and intercompany loans of Pristine US, the indirect owner of the Portfolio for an 
aggregate purchase price of $730,000. The closing of the sale is expected to occur in late Q1 2020, with an option to 
extend to early Q2 2020. 
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BPP Pristine U.S. LLC 
Condensed Consolidated Interim Statements of Financial Position 
(Unaudited) 

September 30, December 31,
2019 2018

Investment properties  (note 5)  $               796,495  $            720,230 
                  796,495                720,230 

Amounts  receivable and other assets  (note 6)                       6,344                    7,080 
Cash held in trust                          726                       726 
Cash                     14,570                  12,468 

                    21,640                  20,274 
 $               818,135  $            740,504 

Lease l iabi l i ty (note 18)  $                 84,465  $                      -   
Mortgages  payable and other loans  (note 7)                   185,042                482,481 
Preferred uni ts  of subs idiary (note 8)                          125                       125 
Renta l  depos i ts                          410                       504 

                  270,042                483,110 

Accounts  payable and accrued l iabi l i ties                     16,866                  16,586 
Mortgages  payable and other loans  – current portion (note 7)                   299,225                    3,156 
Renta l  depos i ts  – current portion                          208                         75 

316,299 19,817
586,341 502,927

                  231,794                237,577 
 $               818,135  $            740,504 

Subsequent event (note 23)

See accompanying notes  to the condensed consol idated interim financia l  s tatements .

Current liabilities:

Equity (note 9)

(thousands of US dollars)

ASSETS
Non-current assets:

Current assets:

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities:
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BPP Pristine U.S. LLC 
Condensed Consolidated Interim Statements of Net (Loss) Earnings and Comprehensive (Loss) Income 
(Unaudited) 

Nine months 
ended 

September 30

For the period from 
commencement 

of operations  on
May 25, 2018 to 

September 30
(thousands of US dollars) 2019 2018 2019 2018

Revenues:
Renta l  and recoveries  $  13,748  $  12,890  $        40,983  $                    17,878 

Property operating expenses:
Insurance 109             94 335 119
Management fees  (note 16) 432           140 1,304 196
Operating costs 314        1,181 1,058 1,637
Property taxes          (151)             65 10,322 847

704        1,480 13,019 2,799

Net operating income 13,044      11,410 27,964 15,079

Other (expenses) income:
Genera l  and adminis trative (note 10)            (74)              (7)                (245)                               (7)
Fa i r va lue adjustments  to investment properties  (note 5)       (8,240)        8,738           (13,149)                          8,669 
Fa i r va lue adjustments  to financia l  ins truments  (note 7)              -               24                  (16)                           (143)

      (2,703)       (2,475)              2,438                        (2,515)
Specia l  transaction costs  (note 4)              -              (11)                (433)                      (20,591)

    (11,017)        6,269           (11,405)                      (14,587)

Net earnings (loss) before net finance expense        2,027      17,679            16,559                             492 
Finance income (note 11)              -                -                       7                                 3 
Finance expense (note 11)       (7,695)       (6,316)           (22,178)                      (18,279)
Net finance expense       (7,695)       (6,316)           (22,171)                      (18,276)

(Loss) earnings before income taxes       (5,668)      11,363             (5,612)                      (17,784)
Income tax expense (note 20)            (49)            (25)                (171)                             (89)

Net (loss) earnings and comprehensive (loss) income  $   (5,717)  $  11,338  $         (5,783)  $                  (17,873)

See accompanying notes  to the condensed consol idated interim financia l  s tatements .

Three months ended 
September 30

IFRIC 21 fa i r va lue adjustment to investment properties  
(note 5)
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BPP Pristine U.S. LLC 
Condensed Consolidated Interim Statements of Changes in Equity 
(Unaudited)  

(thousands of US dollars, except unit 
references)

Common Units 
Outstanding

Preferred Units 
Outstanding

Contributed 
Capital

Accumulated 
Deficit Total Equity

Equity, December 31, 2018        523,632,102                   100  $         257,806  $      (20,229)  $          237,577 
Loss for the period                         -                        -                         -              (5,783)                (5,783)
Equity, September 30, 2019        523,632,102                   100  $         257,806  $      (26,012)  $          231,794 

Equity, commencement of operations  
on May 25, 2018                         -                        -    $                   -    $               -    $                    -   
Ini tia l  contributions  (note 9)        509,483,810                   100             246,926                   -                246,926 
Contributions  (note 9)          14,148,292                      -                 10,880                   -                  10,880 
Loss  for the period                         -                        -                         -            (17,873)              (17,873)
Dis tributions                          -                        -                         -              (2,203)                (2,203)
Equity, September 30, 2018        523,632,102                   100  $         257,806  $      (20,076)  $          237,730 

See accompanying notes  to the condensed consol idated interim financia l  s tatements
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BPP Pristine U.S. LLC 
Condensed Consolidated Interim Statements of Cash Flows 
(Unaudited) 

Nine months 
ended 

September 30,

For the 
period from 

commencement 
of operations  on

May 25, 2018 to 
September 30,

(thousands of US dollars) 2019 2018 2019 2018

Operating activities:
Net (loss) earnings  $   (5,717)  $ 11,338  $           (5,783)  $            (17,873)
Items not involving cash:

Amortization of mark to market mortgage adjustment            139           158                    416                       158 
Amortization of other loan transaction costs         1,092           890                 3,664                    1,245 
Fair value adjustments to investment properties (note 5)         8,240      (8,738)               13,149                  (8,669)
IFRIC 21 fair value adjustment to investment properties 
(note 5)         2,703        2,475               (2,438)                    2,515 
Fair value adjustments to financial instruments (note 7)                -              (24)                       16                       143 
Straight l ine rent adjustment          (581)         (191)               (1,528)                      (253)

Net change in non-cash working capital (note 21)       (2,480)           185                 5,615                      (253)
Net finance expense, excluding amortization (note 11)         6,464        5,268               18,091                  16,873 
Payment of land lease l iabil ity          (889)               -                 (2,667)                           -   
Interest paid       (6,319)      (5,329)             (19,398)                (15,262)
Interest received                -                 -                           7                            3 
Net cash provided from (used in) operating activities         2,652        6,032                 9,144                (21,373)

Financing activities:
Repayment of mortgages          (527)         (509)               (1,566)                      (677)
Other loan advances, net of repayments       (1,524)     20,473               (1,524)                  20,473 
Payment of mortgage and loan transaction costs                -           (436)                        -                        (436)
Initial contributions of equity                -                 -                          -                 246,926 
Proceeds from issuance of common units (note 9)                -                 -                          -                    10,880 
Distributions paid to unitholders (note 9)                -        (2,203)                        -                    (2,203)
Net cash (used in) provided from financing activities       (2,051)     17,325               (3,090)               274,963 

Investing activities:
Business combination, net of cash acquired (note 4)                -                 -                          -                (199,152)
Acquisition of investment properties (note 5)                -      (40,294)                     (28)                (40,297)
Capital additions to investment properties (note 5)       (1,032)            (65)               (3,924)                        (68)
Additions to land held for future development (note 5)               (7)         (568)                        -                        (568)
Net cash used in investing activities       (1,039)    (40,927)               (3,952)              (240,085)

Net change in cash          (438)    (17,570)                 2,102                  13,505 
Cash, beginning of period      15,008     31,075               12,468                           -   

Cash, end of period  $  14,570  $ 13,505  $          14,570  $             13,505 

See accompanying notes  to the condensed consol idated interim financia l  s tatements

Three months ended 
September 30,

 



BPP Pristine U.S. LLC 
Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements  
(Unaudited) 
(amounts, except unit references, expressed in thousands of US dollars) 
Three months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, nine months ended September 30, 2019 and period from commencement of 
operations on May 25, 2018 to September 30, 2018 
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1. Reporting entity: 

BPP Pristine U.S. LLC (“Pristine US”) is a limited liability company formed under the Delaware Limited Liability Company 
Act (6 Del. C. 18-101, et seq). Pristine US was created by and amongst BPP Pristine U.S. Parent LLC (“Blackstone”),  BPP 
Pristine Holdings GP Limited, Blackstone Property Partners (Supplemental Account) C Limited Partnership, and 
Blackstone Pristine Property Co-Investment Partners Limited Partnership (“Ivanhoe”), (each individually a “Member” 
and collectively “the Members”) pursuant to the Limited Liability Company Agreement dated January 5, 2018, and as 
amended and restated on May 24, 2018.  

Pristine US was established for the purposes of indirectly holding industrial properties located in the United States. 
(“US”). Pristine US’s principal business office is located at 910-925 W Georgia St, Vancouver, BC, V6C 3L2. 

There were no activities from January 5, 2018 to May 25, 2018, the date of commencement of operations (“May 25, 
2018”). Accordingly, no operations or cash flows for the period prior to commencement of operations have been 
reported.  

2. Basis of presentation: 

(a) Basis of presentation and statement of compliance: 

These condensed consolidated interim financial statements have been presented in accordance with International 
Accounting Standards (“IAS”) 34, Interim Financial Reporting. These condensed consolidated interim financial 
statements do not include all the information required for annual financial statements prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and should be read in conjunction with Pristine US’s 
audited financial statements as at December 31, 2018. 

These condensed consolidated interim financial statements were authorized for issue by the Directors of Pristine 
US on February 14, 2020.  

(b) Basis of measurement: 

These condensed consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except 
for the following material items in the condensed consolidated interim statements of financial position: 

• investment properties are measured at fair value; and 

• derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value. 

The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 2(d). 

(c) Functional and presentation currency: 

These condensed consolidated interim financial statements are presented in US dollars, which is Pristine US’s 
functional currency. 

(d) Use of estimates and judgments: 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires Pristine US to make judgments, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of income, expenses, 
assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and judgments that are critical to the determination of the amounts reported are set out in note 
2(d) of Pristine US’s audited consolidated financial statements for the period from May 25, 2018 to December 31, 
2018. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies: 

Except as described below, the accounting policies applied by Pristine US in these interim financial statements are the 
same as those applied by Pristine US in its annual consolidated financial statements for the period from May 25, 2018 
to December 31, 2018. 

Pristine US adopted IFRS 16 Leases (“IFRS 16”) on January 1, 2019. 

IFRS 16 sets out a new model for lease accounting, replacing IAS 17 Leases (“IAS 17”). Pristine US has investment 
properties located on land which is leased. Under IAS 17, these leases were accounted for as operating leases and the 
related lease payments were expensed. Under IFRS 16, a right-of-use (“ROU”) asset and a land lease liability have been 
recorded along with the corresponding financing charges. The ROU asset is accounted for as investment property, as 
these land leases meet the definition of investment property under IAS 40, Investment Property. 

Impact of IFRS 16: 

Under IFRS 16, Pristine US assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition of a lease. A 
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of 
time in exchange for consideration. 

Pristine US recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use assets 
are initially measured at the amount of the lease liability plus any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee. The right-
of-use asset is subsequently measured at fair value. Adjustments may also be required for lease incentives, payments 
at or prior to commencement and restoration obligation. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments payable over the lease term, 
discounted at the rate implicit in the lease, or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, Pristine US’s incremental 
borrowing rate. The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 
It is remeasured when there are changes in the following: i) in the lease term; ii) Pristine US’s assessment of whether 
it will exercise a purchase option; iii) a change in an index or a change in the rate used to determine the payments; and 
iv) amounts expected to be payable under residual value guarantees. 

IFRS 16 was applied using the modified retrospective approach effective January 1, 2019, under which the cumulative 
effect of initial application was recognized as at January 1, 2019. The information presented for 2018 has not been 
restated and remains as previously reported under IAS 17. On initial application, Pristine US elected to record the right-
of-use assets based on the corresponding lease liability. Right-of-use assets and lease obligations of $83,850, associated 
with land leases, were recorded as at January 1, 2019. 

January 1,

2019

Operating lease commitments  disclosed at December 31, 2018  $                   255,448 

Discounted us ing interest rates  impl ici t in the leases  at January 1, 2019 5.2%

Lease l iabi l i ties  at January 1, 2019  $                     83,850 
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4.  Business combination: 

On May 24, 2018, pursuant to a plan of arrangement, all of the issued and outstanding trust units of Pure Industrial 
Real Estate Trust (“PIRET”), the former indirect parent of PIRET USA Inc. (“PIRET USA”), a subsidiary of Pristine US, were 
acquired by an affiliate of Blackstone Property Partners (“Blackstone”) and Ivanhoe Cambridge (“Ivanhoe”), a subsidiary 
of Caisse de depot et placement du Quebec (“CDPQ”) (the “Arrangement”). Following the Arrangement, Blackstone 
and Ivanhoe individually and together formed a number of new entities and underwent a series of capitalization 
transactions, including equity and obtaining new external financing. These new entities, together with a number of 
existing PIRET subsidiaries, entered into a series of common control restructuring transactions including the transfers 
of equity or partnership interests in PIRET’s existing property portfolio and all related assets and liabilities, pursuant to 
a restructuring agreement dated May 24, 2018 (the “Restructuring”). The Restructuring resulted in certain liabilities 
transferred from PIRET and its subsidiaries to be repaid concurrently with net proceeds of the new financing obtained. 
In addition, the Restructuring resulted in seven loans of which PIRET USA is the borrower, totaling $146,645, to be 
transferred to new lenders affiliated with both Blackstone and Ivanhoe. Two loans were fully repaid totaling $58,969 
and one loan was partially repaid totaling $21,043 (note 7(b)(iii)). As a result of the Restructuring, PIRET’s indirect 
interest in PIRET USA was transferred to Pristine US and certain existing subsidiaries of PIRET USA were transferred to 
newly formed subsidiaries of PIRET USA (the “US Acquisition”). The US Acquisition is being accounted for as a business 
combination following the guidance under IFRS 3 – Business Combinations. 

The purchase consideration represents the capitalization of Pristine US of $246,926. 

The purchase price equation is based on the aggregate fair value of the assets and liabilities transferred under the US 
Acquisition, including assumed mortgages and interest rate swaps totaling $193,615 and new financing obtained of 
$278,000, net of deferred financing costs of $7,109 and loan interest rate cap of $258 (note 7).   

As a result of the Restructuring on May 24, 2018, US Pristine concurrently repaid certain assumed liabilities of PIRET 
USA including mortgages payable and other loans totaling $148,916. Special transaction costs of $20,591 were 
recognized on the condensed consolidated interim statements of net (loss) earnings and comprehensive (loss) income  
related to the Restructuring for the period from May 25, 2018 to September 30, 2018, and an additional $433 were 
recognized during the nine months ended September 30, 2019. 

 The purchase price equation is summarized as follows:  

Investment Properties ("Initial Portfolio")  $           659,924 
Amounts receivable and other assets 5,061                  
Cash held in trust 8,726                  
Cash 47,774                
Mortgages payable and other loans (464,248)            
Preferred units of subsidiary (125)                    
Rental deposits (448)                    
Accounts payable and accrued liabil ities (9,738)                 
Net assets acquired  $           246,926 

Consideration:
Cash 246,926             
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5.  Investment properties: 

September 30, December 31,

2019 2018

Income producing properties 785,387$                         707,970$                           

Land held for future development (b) 11,108                             12,260                               

796,495$                         720,230$                           

 
As at September 30, 2019, Pristine US’s 27 investment properties are comprised of 26 income producing properties 
that are leased to third parties, and two standalone parcels of land held for future development (December 31, 2018 – 
27 investment properties comprised of 26 income producing properties that are leased to third parties, and two 
standalone parcels of land held for future development). 

Ba lance, beginning of period 720,230$                         -$                                      

Acquis i tions  - Ini tia l  Portfol io -                                   659,924                             

Acquis i tions  (a) 28                                    48,317                               

Capi ta l  additions  5,160                               1,139                                 

Land held for future development (b) (1,152)                              2,088                                 

Additions  to Right-of-use land lease assets  (c)(note 3) 83,850                             -                                    

Stra ight l ine rent adjustment 1,528                               461                                    
Fa i r va lue adjustment to investment properties  (d) (13,149)                            8,301                                 

796,495$                         720,230$                           

IFRIC 21 property tax (asset)/l iabi l i ty adjustment (2,438)                              6,047                                 

IFRIC 21 fa i r va lue adjustment to investment properties  (e) 2,438                               (6,047)                               

Ba lance, end of period 796,495$                         720,230$                           

Nine months ended 
September 30, 2019

For the period from 
commencement of 

operations on 
May 25, 2018 to 

December 31, 2018

 
(a) Acquisitions: 

On August 30, 2018, Pristine US completed the acquisition of a building in Fort Worth, Texas, a 657,043 square 
foot (“sf”) distribution centre, for a total purchase price of $48,000 plus standard closing costs and adjustments of 
$317. 
 

(b) Land held for future development: 

As part of the Initial Portfolio, Pristine US acquired an 84.7 acres parcel of land located in Dallas suburb of Wilmer, 
Texas. As at September 30, 2019, Pristine US completed all required municipal infrastructure improvements and 
the related note payable was forgiven (note 7(b)(ii)) and $1,047 of land was reduced.  
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5.  Investment properties (continued): 
 

(c) Right of use assets: 

Pristine US has long-term land leases affecting two investment properties. Land leases expire (excluding any non-
automatic renewal periods) in 2027 and 2047 with lives of 7 and 27 years, respectively with both of the leases 
containing non-automatic renewal options, extending the average life of the leases to 37 and 47 years, 
respectively, including these non-automatic renewal options. 
 

(d) Fair value adjustment to investment properties: 

Pristine US obtains independent appraisals such that all of the properties will be externally appraised annually. 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2019, Pristine US obtained independent appraisals for all of its 26 
(December 31, 2018 – 26) income producing properties. The appraisals were performed by accredited independent 
appraisers with recent experience in the location and category of the investment property being valued. Pristine 
US reviewed each appraisal and ensured that the assumptions used were reasonable and the final fair value 
amount reflected those assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of the properties. 

Pristine US undertakes its own internal valuation process and reviews specific indicators (i.e. market conditions, 
discount rate changes, etc.) to determine whether a change in fair value has occurred. In arriving at their estimates 
of fair values, Pristine US and the independent appraisers have used their market knowledge and professional 
judgment and did not rely solely on historical transactional comparisons. 

(i) Fair value adjustments to investment properties: 

Nine months ended 
September 30, 

For the period from 
commencement of 
operations on May 

25, 2018 to 
September 30, 

2019 2018 2019 2018

Standard acquis i tion costs -$               (294)$         (28)$                      (297)$                       
Va luation ga in/(loss ) on 
investment properties 3,761         9,223         (173)                      9,219                        

Stra ight l ine renta l  revenue (581)           (191)           (1,528)                   (253)                         
Fa i r va lue adjustment to Right-of-
use land lease asset (11,420)      -             (11,420)                 -                          

(8,240)$      8,738$       (13,149)$               8,669$                      

Three months ended 
September 30,
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5.  Investment properties (continued): 

(d) Fair value adjustment to investment properties (continued): 

(ii)       Significant valuation assumptions: 

The significant assumptions made to determine the fair values of the investment properties are set out 
below: 

Discount rate 
(Income approach 
– discounted cash 

flow method)

Capitalization rate 
(Income approach – 

overall capitalization 
rate method)

Terminal Rate 
(Income approach – 

overall capitalization 
rate method)

Price per square foot 
(Direct comparison 

approach)

September 30, 2019

Maximum 8.75% 6.99% 6.75% $286.78 

Minimum 6.00% 2.68% 5.00% $45.40 

Weighted average 7.04% 5.31% 6.12% $107.54 

December 31, 2018

Maximum 8.25% 7.25% 7.75% $293.11 

Minimum 5.00% 4.00% 4.50% $43.74 

Weighted average 6.96% 5.78% 6.20% $107.43 
 

Investment properties as at September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018 have been valued using the overall 
capitalization rate (“OCR”) method, the discounted cash flow method and in certain select cases, using the 
market comparable method. In applying the OCR method, the stabilized net operating income is capitalized 
at the appropriate capitalization rate and from this value, estimated future significant capital expenditures 
impacting the properties have been deducted. In applying the discounted cash flow method, the expected 
future cash flows are discounted, generally over a term of 10 years, including a terminal value based on the 
application of the weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) to estimated year 11 net operating income. In 
applying the market comparable method, a dollar value per square foot, or in case of land, dollar value per 
acre, is observed for transactions in markets where Pristine US holds similar investment properties, and 
extrapolated to estimate the fair value of the investment property. 

Fair values are most sensitive to changes in capitalization rates. At September 30, 2019, a 0.25% increase in 
the weighted average capitalization rate would decrease the fair value of investment properties by $33,069 
(December 31, 2018 - $29,853) and a 0.25% decrease in the weighted average capitalization rate would 
increase the fair value of investment properties by $36,680 (December 31, 2018 - $32,664). 

(e) IFRIC 21 adjustments: 

Under IFRIC 21, property taxes are recognized when the obligating event occurs, which falls on various dates 
throughout the given reporting year for the properties owned and operated. For the period ended 
September 30, 2019, Pristine US recognized a $2,438 property tax asset (December 31, 2018 - $6,047 
property tax liability) adjustment which increases the carrying value of investment properties and a 
corresponding fair value gain of $2,438 (December 31, 2018 – loss of $6,407), resulting in a net impact of 
$nil to the carrying value of investment properties. 
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6.  Amounts receivable and other assets: 

September 30, December 31,
2019 2018

Rents  and recoveries  receivable  $                       1,240  $                          978 
Unbi l led recoveries  receivable 3,742 4,855
Prepaid expenses 1,034 1,075
Other 328 172

 $                       6,344  $                       7,080 

 
Other assets include receivables from entities under common control owed to Pristine US. 

7.  Mortgages payable and other loans: 

The mortgages payable and other loans consist of the following: 

September 30, December 31,
2019 2018

Mortgages  payable (a), net of unamortized financing costs  and
  mark to market mortgage adjustments  $                   123,904  $                   125,054 
Other loans  (b), net of unamortized financing costs                       360,363                       360,599 
Loan interest rate caps  (c)                                 -                                (16)

                      484,267                       485,637 
Less  current portion                       299,225                           3,156 
Non-current portion  $                   185,042  $                   482,481 

 
(a) Mortgages payable: 

As part of the Restructuring (note 4), Pristine US assumed six mortgages which were measured at fair value on 
initial recognition. Included in mortgages payable as at September 30, 2019 is the unamortized mark to market 
adjustment of $3,093 (December 31, 2018 - $3,509) on six mortgages, which is being amortized over the remaining 
term of the related mortgages using the effective interest rate method. 

Mortgages payable are recorded at amortized cost and bear a weighted average effective interest rate of 4.01% 
as at September 30, 2019 (December 31, 2018 – 4.02%). 

At September 30, 2019, investment properties with a fair value of $299,500 (December 31, 2018 - $293,790) were 
pledged as security against the mortgages payable. 

The amount of mortgages payable at September 30, 2019 was $123,904 (December 31, 2017 - $125,054).  
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7.  Mortgages payable and other loans (continued): 

(a) Mortgages payable (continued): 

Scheduled principal repayments and maturities, as at September 30, 2019, to be made on the mortgages payable 
over the next five years and thereafter, and the corresponding weighted average effective interest rates are as 
follows: 

As at September 30

2019                             -    $                   531  $                    -    $                      531 
2020                             -   2,406                        -   2,406
2021                             -   2,826                        -   2,826
2022                             -   2,925                        -   2,925
2023                             -   3,028                        -   3,028
Thereafter 4.01% 5,132 110,149 115,281

4.01%  $              16,848  $          110,149  $               126,997 
                    (3,093)
 $               123,904 

Weighted Average 
Effective Interest 

Rate

Scheduled 
Principa l  

Repayments
Principa l  

Maturi ties
Tota l  

Repayments

Unamortized mark to market mortgage adjustment

 
(b) Other loans: 

(i) On May 25, 2018, Pristine US entered into an interest only $278,000 loan facility secured by 13 properties 
with an aggregate fair value of $398,800 (December 31, 2018 - $399,999). The loan consists of $232,000 
(“CITI loan”) and $46,000 (“Mezzanine loan”). The CITI loan bears interest at LIBOR plus 1.50%. The 
Mezzanine loan bears interest at LIBOR plus 4.5% (note 7(c)). On the fourth extension term, the interest 
rate will increase by 0.15%. The loan facility has a two-year term with an initial maturity date of June 9, 2020 
with an option to extend for five successive terms of one year. 

On August 30, 2018, Pristine US acquired an investment property in Fort Worth, Texas, and as a result 
increased its borrowing on the CITI loan by $22,000. All other terms and conditions on the existing loan 
remain unchanged. 

The loan outstanding as at September 30, 2019 is $300,000 (December 31, 2018 - $300,000). As at 
September 30, 2019, the related unamortized financing costs are $3,021 (December 31, 2018 - $5,368). 

(ii) As a result of the Restructuring, Pristine US assumed a promissory note payable in connection with land 
located in Wilmer, Texas. As Pristine US performs municipal infrastructure improvements, the promissory 
note payable is reduced. The promissory note is secured by the land located in Wilmer, Texas and was non-
interest bearing. In August 2018, the note converted to an interest bearing note at a rate of 12.00%.  

During the nine months ended September 30, 2019 Pristine US completed all required infrastructure 
improvements and the promissory note of $1,047 (note 5(b)) was discharged. 
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7.  Mortgages payable and other loans (continued): 

(b) Other loans (continued):  

(iii) In connection with the Restructuring, seven loans of which PIRET USA is the borrower, totaling $146,645, 
were transferred to new lenders BPP Pristine Holdings L.P., Blackstone Pristine Property Co-Investment 
Partners L.P. and Blackstone Property Partners (Supplemental Account) C L.P. The outstanding principal 
amounts of the loans as at the Restructuring date were allocated to the new lenders at the rates of 59.544%, 
38.394% and 2.062%, respectively. During the period from May 25, 2018 to December 31, 2018, two loans 
were fully repaid. 

On September 14, 2018, BPP Pristine Holdings L.P. transferred its 59.544% share of the loans to Blackstone 
Property Partners Lower Fund 1 L.P. 

The loans bear interest between 6.50% and 7.30% and mature between 2026 and 2027. The loans 
outstanding as at September 30, 2019 are $63,384 (December 31, 2018 - $64,908). 

Scheduled principal repayments and maturities, as at September 30, 2019, to be made on the other loans payable 
over the next five years and thereafter, and the corresponding weighted average effective interest rates are as 
follows: 

As at September 30

2019                             -    $                   200  $                    -    $                      200 
2020 5.46% 1,724              300,000 301,724
2021                             -   1,724                        -   1,724
2022                             -   1,724                        -   1,724
2023                             -   1,724                        -   1,724
Thereafter 7.13% 5,172 51,117 56,289

5.76%  $              12,268  $          351,117  $               363,385 
                    (3,022)
 $               360,363 

(1) Pri s tine US entered into a  loan interest rate cap. See note 7(c).

Weighted Average 
Effective Interest 

Rate(1)

Scheduled 
Principa l  

Repayments
Principa l  

Maturi ties
Tota l  

Repayments

Unamortized loan transaction costs

 
(c) Loan interest rate caps: 

On May 25, 2018, Pristine US entered into an interest rate cap on the CITI and Mezzanine loans with an outstanding 
notional amount of $278,000 to reduce the impact of fluctuating interest rates and to cap the underlying LIBOR 
rate to 3.50%. On August 30, 2018, in connection with the increase in the CITI loan (note 7(b)(i)), the interest rate 
cap was also increased by $29,700 to an outstanding notional amount of $307,700. 

As at September 30, 2019, the fair value asset of the loan interest rate cap is $nil (December 31, 2018 - $16). 
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7.  Mortgages payable and other loans (continued): 

(c) Loan interest rate caps (continued):  

The net loss resulting from the change in fair value of this derivative contract for the three months ended 
September 30, 2019 and 2018, nine months ended September 30, 2019 and the period from May 25, 2018 to 
September 30, 2018 is as follows: 

September 30, December 31,
9 months ended 

September 30,

For the period from 
commencement of

operations  on May 25, 
2018 to September 30,

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
 $                        -    $                       16  $              -    $            (24)  $                  16  $                                   143 

Fair value asset Net loss (gain) on derivative contracts

3 months ended
September 30,

 
8.  Preferred units of subsidiary: 

The preferred units of PIRET USA consist of 125 preferred units at $1,000 per unit. On consolidation, the preferred units 
of PIRET USA are reflected as a liability of Pristine US. 

The preferred units are non-voting preferred units, Unitholders holding preferred units are entitled to receive dividends 
from PIRET USA at a per annum rate equal to 12.5% payable on June 30 and December 31 of each year. Unitholders 
holding preferred units will be allocated such return in priority to any allocations or distributions to all other classes 
and series of units of PIRET USA. However, after payment of such return to unitholders holding preferred units, 
preferred unitholders are not otherwise entitled to share in the income of PIRET USA. 

PIRET USA may redeem the preferred units at any time, for a price equal to $1,000 per preferred unit, plus accumulated 
and unpaid distribution. PIRET USA had no redemptions during the nine months ended September 30, 2019 (period 
from May 25, 2018 to September 30, 2018 – nil). 

Due to the fixed distributions and preferred treatment for the preferred units, they meet the definition of a liability. In 
addition, Pristine US does not expect to redeem any preferred units within the next year. Thus, the preferred units are 
classified as non-current liabilities. 

9.  Equity: 

(a) Authorized: 

The equity of Pristine US consists of an unlimited number of common and preferred units. 

(b) Issued: 

On May 25, 2018, Pristine US issued 509,483,810 common units and 100 preferred units to its four Members for 
aggregate gross proceeds of $246,926. 

On June 13, 2018, Pristine US issued 14,148,292 common units to three Members for aggregate gross proceeds of 
$10,880. 
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9.  Equity (continued): 

(c) Allocation of net income or loss: 

Pristine US’s net income or loss will be allocated in proportion to the Members’ respective ownership of units. 

(d) Distribution policy: 

At the time or times determined by the Directors, the Directors will cause Pristine US to distribute any cash held 
by it that is not reasonably necessary for the operation of Pristine US. Cash available for distribution will be 
distributed to the Members of Pristine US in proportion to their respective ownership of units, with accrued 
distributions on preferred units being paid out in priority to distributions paid on common units. 

For the nine months ended September 30, 2019, Pristine US did not make any distributions (period from May 25, 
2018 to December 31, 2018 – $2,203). 

10.  General and administrative expenses: 

General and administrative expenses consist of the following: 

Nine months 
ended 

September 30,

For the period from 
commencement of 
operations  on May 

25, 2018 to 
September 30,

2019 2018 2019 2018

Profess ional  fees  $                    68  $                      3  $                  231  $                             2 

Other expenses 6 4 14 5

Tota l  $                    74  $                      7  $                  245  $                             7 

Three months ended September 30,

 
Other expenses include bank charges and penalties. 

11.  Finance income and finance expenses: 

Nine months 
ended 

September 30,

For the period from 
commencement of 

operations  on May 25, 
2018 to September 30,

2019 2018 2019 2018
Finance income
Interest  $                 -    $               -    $                    7  $                                     3 
Finance expense
Mortgage interest  $            1,109  $         1,127  $             3,339  $                              1,807 
Other loan interest and fees 4,258 4,141 11,477 15,069
Land lease interest expense 1,097                   -   3,282                                        -   
Amortization expense on mortgage and 
other loans 1,231 1,048 4,080 1,403

 $            7,695  $         6,316  $           22,178  $                            18,279 

Three months ended 
September 30,
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12.  Fair value of financial instruments: 

The fair value of a financial instrument is the estimated amount of consideration that could be agreed upon in an arm’s-
length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act. In certain 
circumstances, however, the fair value may be based on other observable current market transactions in the same 
instrument, without modification or on a valuation technique using market-based inputs. The fair values of Pristine 
US’s assets and liabilities were determined as follows: 

(a) Current assets and liabilities: 

The carrying amounts for cash, cash held in trust, amounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, 
rental deposits, and other loans approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature of these items. 

(b) Mortgages payable and other loans: 

The fair values of mortgages payable and other loans have been calculated based on discounted future cash flows 
using discount rates that reflect current market conditions for instruments having similar terms and conditions 
(Level 2). Discount rates are either provided by lenders or are observable in the open market. 

Carrying Amount Fair Value Carrying Amount Fa i r Va lue
Mortgages payable and other loans
(including interest rate swaps)  $            484,267  $      487,290  $              485,637  $        479,189 

September 30, 2019 December 31, 2018

 
13.  Capital management: 

Pristine US defines capital as the aggregate of equity and long-term debt. The term “long-term debt” means any 
financial liabilities of Pristine US beyond one year from the balance sheet date. Pristine US’s objective in managing 
capital are to maintain a level of capital that complies with debt restrictions of its investors; complies with existing debt 
covenants; and funds its business strategies. 

For the CITI loan and Mezzanine loan, Pristine US is required by the loan agreements to maintain a debt yield above 
5.50% on the combined borrowings of the CITI and Mezzanine loans and 6.59% on the CITI loan alone. As at September 
30, 2019, Pristine US is in compliance with these covenants. 

14.  Fair value hierarchy: 

Fair value measurements recognized in the condensed consolidated interim financial statements of financial position 
are categorized in accordance with the following levels: 

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); 

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market date (unobservable inputs). 

Each type of fair value is categorized based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
in its entirety. 
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14.  Fair value hierarchy (continued): 

The following table classifies assets and liabilities measured at fair value according to the three-level hierarchy. 

As at September 30, 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Investment properties  $                   -    $                    -  $            796,495 

As  at December 31, 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Investment properties  $                   -    $                    -  $            720,230 
Loan interest rate caps  asset                       -                          16                          -   

 
There have been no transfers between levels during the period. 

The fair value of Pristine US’s investment properties is considered to be at Level 3 in the hierarchy, as significant 
unobservable inputs are required to determine fair value. 

15.  Risk management: 

In the normal course of business, Pristine US is exposed to a number of risks from its use of financial instruments. These 
risks, and the actions taken to manage them, are as follows: 

(a) Credit risk and economic dependence: 

Pristine US’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each tenant. 

Pristine US is exposed to credit risk in the event of non-payment of rent and recoveries by its tenants. This risk is 
mitigated by obtaining advance deposits and initiating a prompt collection process. The amount of rents and 
recoveries receivables at September 30, 2019 is $1,240 (December 31, 2018 - $978), which include $1,132 
(December 31, 2018 - $88) of past due amounts. The amount of unbilled receivables at September 30, 2019 is 
$3,742 (December 31, 2018 - $4,855). 

For the nine months ended September 30, 2019, Pristine US earned approximately 44.31% (period from May 25 
to September 30, 2018 – 47.39%) of its revenue from a single tenant in California, Florida, Illinois, Louisiana, New 
Jersey, North Carolina and Texas.  

(b) Interest rate risk: 

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that the value of, or cash flows related to, a financial instrument will 
fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates. Pristine US is exposed to interest rate risk from the interest 
rate differentials between the market rate and the rates used on these financial instruments. Mortgages payable 
and other loans bear interest at fixed rates, except for the component of the CITI loan that is variable in the amount 
of $300,000 but for which Pristine US has entered into an interest rate cap to reduce the interest rate exposure 
(note 7(c)); therefore Pristine US is not exposed to significant interest rate risk. 

Based on the outstanding balance of the bank loans at September 30, 2019, the impact of a 100 basis points change 
will increase or decrease Pristine US’s interest expense or earnings by $220 annually (December 31, 2018 - $220). 
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15.  Risk management (continued): 

(c) Liquidity risk: 

Real property investments tend to be relatively illiquid, with the degree of liquidity generally fluctuating in relation 
to demand for and the perceived desirability of such investments. Such illiquidity may limit Pristine US’s ability to 
vary its portfolio promptly in response to changing economic or investment conditions. If Pristine US were required 
to liquidate a real property investment, the proceeds to Pristine US might be significantly less than the aggregate 
carrying value of such property. 

Pristine US diligently monitors the repayment dates of its mortgages. The mortgage due dates range from 2024 to 
2027, with a weighted average remaining term of 5.75 years (December 31, 2018 – 6.5 years). 

16.  Related party transactions: 

In connection with the Restructuring (note 4), seven loans of which PIRET USA is the borrower totaling $146,645 were 
transferred to new lenders BPP Pristine Holdings L.P., Blackstone Pristine Property Co-Investment Partners L.P. and 
Blackstone Property Partners (Supplemental Account) C L.P. The outstanding principal amounts of the loans as at the 
Restructuring date were allocated to the new lenders at the rates of 59.544%, 38.394% and 2.062%, respectively. 
During the period from May 25, 2018 to December 31, 2018 two loans were fully repaid. 

On September 14, 2018, BPP Pristine Holdings L.P. transferred its 59.544% share of the loans to Blackstone Property 
Partners Lower Fund 1 L.P. 

The loans bear interest between 6.50% and 7.30% and mature between 2026 and 2027. The principal amount held by 
the borrowers are as follows: 

September 30, 2019 December 31, 2018
Blackstone Property Partners  Lower Fund 1 L.P.  $                       37,741  $                       38,649 
Blackstone Pris tine Property Co-Investment Partners  L.P.                           24,336                           24,921 
Blackstone Property Partners  (Supplementa l  Account) C L.P.                             1,307                             1,338 

 $                       63,384  $                       64,908 
 

For the nine months ended September 30, 2019, Pristine US recognized interest on these loans of $3,443 (period from 
May 25, 2018 to September 30, 2018 - $1,845). 

As at September 30, 2019, included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is a balance of $2,770 (December 31, 
2018 - $3,387) for invoices paid on behalf of Pristine US by entities under common ownership. Amounts are unsecured, 
non-interest bearing and have no scheduled terms of repayment. 

For the nine months ended September 30, 2019, Pristine US incurred management fees in the amount of $920 (period 
from May 25, 2018 to September 30, 2018 - $66). It is in Pristine US’s opinion that the management fees charged are 
in line with current market rates. 
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17.  Leases: 

Pristine US enters into leases on its property portfolio. The commercial property leases typically have lease terms 
between 3 to 25 years and include renewal options with rental rates according to prevailing market conditions. At 
September 30, 2019, 64% (December 31, 2018 – 61%) of Pristine US’s properties’ gross leasable area are leased to 
single tenants. 

Future minimum rental revenues under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 

September 30, December 31,
2019 2018

Within 1 year  $                           37,985  $                    36,459 
Years  2 – 5 125,387 118,620
Greater than 5 years 26,121 37,559

 $                         189,493  $                  192,638 

 
18.  Lease liability: 

As at September 30, 2019, Pristine US has two investment properties subject to non-cancellable long-term land leases 
in which the underlying land is owned by a third party and leased to Pristine US.  Unless the lease term is extended, the 
land will return to the owner at the expiration of the lease term. 

The contractual undiscounted cash flows for lease obligations are as follows: 

September 30, December 31, 

2019 2018

Within 1 year  $                       3,556  $                       3,556 

Years  2 – 5 15,168 14,855

Greater than 5 years 234,056 237,037

Tota l  undiscounted lease obl igations  $                   252,780  $                   255,448 

 
On transition to IFRS 16, the weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities recognized under 
IFRS 16 was 5.20%. 

For the nine months ended September 30, 2019, Pristine US recognized land lease interest expense of $3,282 (period 
from May 25, 2018 to September 30, 2018 - $nil). As at September 30, 2019, the remaining term of Pristine US’s land 
leases range from 37 to 47 years.  

19.  Commitments, guarantees and contingencies: 

As at September 30, 2019, Pristine has issued one letter of credit relating to construction and development in the 
amount of $64 (December 31, 2018 - $64). 
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20.  Income taxes: 

The distributions received by Pristine US from PIRET USA for the period from May 25, 2018 to September 30, 2018 were 
treated as a non-taxable return of capital as PIRET USA did not have any current or accumulated earnings and profits 
for US federal income tax purposes in the period ended. Accordingly, Pristine US was not subject to federal income tax 
on such distributions. 

Additionally, Pristine US believes PIRET USA has met all requirements to be a U.S. REIT and as such generally is not 
expected to be subject to U.S. federal income tax on its taxable income to the extent such income (if any) is distributed 
as a dividend to its shareholders annually. Current income tax expense consists of PIRET USA’s estimated state taxes. 

21.  Supplementary cash flow information: 

Nine months 
ended 

September 30,

For the period from 
commencement of 

operations  on 
May 25, 2018 to 
September 30,

2019 2018 2019 2018

Changes  in non-cash working capi ta l :
(Increase)/decrease in amounts  receivable and 
other assets  $   (1,466)  $   (2,196)  $              736  $                       (1,180)

Increase in renta l  depos i ts              40            145                    39                                225 
(Decrease)/increase in accounts  payable and 
accrued l iabi l i ties       (1,054)         2,236               4,840                                702 

 $   (2,480)  $        185  $           5,615  $                          (253)

Three months ended 
September 30,

 
22.  Segment reporting: 

Pristine US only owns industrial properties in the US. Accordingly, Pristine US has a single reportable segment for 
disclosure purposes in accordance with IFRS. 

23.  Subsequent event: 

On January 31, 2020, BPP Pristine U.S. Parent LLC, Blackstone Property Partners (Supplemental Account) C L.P., 
Blackstone Pristine Property Co-Investment Partners L.P. and PIRET US IC Debt Holder LLC entered into an agreement 
to sell the membership interest in and intercompany loans of Pristine US for an aggregate purchase price of $730,000. 
The closing of the sale is expected to occur in late Q1 2020, with an option to extend to early Q2 2020. 
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Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statements  

(In U.S. dollars)

WPT INDUSTRIAL REAL ESTATE 
INVESTMENT TRUST 

As at and for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 
and year ended December 31, 2018
(Unaudited) 



WPT INDUSTRIAL REAL ESTATE 
INVESTMENT TRUST 

Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Financial Position                   
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)
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September 30, 2019 
(Unaudited)

WPT 
Industrial 

Real Estate 
Investment 

Trust

BPP 
Pristine 

U.S. Notes
Pro forma 

adjustments Total

Assets 

Non-current assets: 

Investment properties $ 1,549,438 $ 712,645 5(a) $ 17,355 $ 2,279,438 

Intangible assets and goodwill 20,831 - - 20,831 

Investment in equity accounted 
venture

2,691 - - 2,691 

 Other non-current assets 237   -   -   237 

 Right-of-use asset -  83,850  5(b) 615  84,465 

1,573,197 796,495 17,970 2,387,662 

Current assets: 

Amounts receivable 3,734 5,310 5(c) (5,310) 3,734 

Prepaid expenses and deposits 1,952 1,034 5(c) (1,034) 1,952 

Restricted cash 1,659 726 5(c) (726) 1,659 

  Cash and cash equivalents 17,303   14,570   5(c)   (14,570)   17,303 

24,648   21,640   (21,640)   24,648 

Total assets $ 1,597,845 $ 818,135     $ (3,670) $ 2,412,310 

Liabilities and Unitholders' Equity 

Non-current liabilities: 

Bank indebtedness 452,966 - 5(d) 453,660 906,626 

Mortgages payable 225,386 121,658 5(d) (64,157) 282,887 

Other loans -  63,384  5(d)  (63,384)  - 

Class B units 24,350 - - 24,350 

Derivative instruments 11,520 - - 11,520 

Deferred tax liability, net 3,138 - - 3,138 

  Security deposits 2,271   410   5(c)   -   2,681 

 Lease Liability -  84,465  -  84,465 

 Preferred units of subsidiary -  125  -  125 

719,631 270,042 326,119 1,315,792 

Current liabilities: 

Mortgages payable  87,680 2,246 5(d) (1,533) 88,393 

Other loans -  296,979  5(d) (296,979)  - 

Amounts payable and accrued 
liabilities

38,853   17,074   5(c)   (16,866)   39,061 

Distributions payable 3,627 - 5(e) 1,059 4,686 

130,160   316,299   (314,319)   132,140 

Total liabilities 849,791 586,341 11,941 1,448,073 

Total equity 748,054 231,794 5(e) (15,611) 964,237 

Total liabilities and net parent 
investment

$ 1,597,845 $ 818,135     $ (3,670) $ 2,412,310 

See accompanying notes to proforma consolidated financial statements.
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Nine months ended September 30, 2019 
(Unaudited)

WPT 
Industrial 

Real Estate 
Investment 

Trust

BPP 
Pristine 

U.S. Notes
Pro forma 

adjustments Total

Investment properties revenue $ 83,247 $ 40,983 $                - $    124,830 

Management fee revenue 3,086   -   -   3,086 

86,333 40,983 - 127,316 

Expenses (income): 

Investment properties operating  
expenses

25,180 13,019 - 38,199 

Fair value adjustment to  
investment properties

(51,500) 13,149 - (38,351) 

Fair value adjustment to investment  
properties - IFRIC 21

(3,026) (2,438) - (5,464) 

General and administrative 12,201 416 - 12,617 

Transaction costs -  433  5(g)  (433)  - 

Amortization of intangible assets 1,890 - - 1,890 

Fair value adjustment to Class B 
units

2,471 - - 2,471 

Fair value adjustment to derivative 
instruments

8,750 16 5(f) (16) 8,750 

Finance costs 19,290   22,171   5(f)   (7,460)   34,001 

Net income and comprehensive  
Income (loss) before income taxes

71,077 (5,783) 7,909 73,203 

Deferred income tax recovery 
(expense)

542 - - 542 

Net income (loss) and comprehensive  
income (loss)

$ 71,619 $ (5,783)     $        7,909   $      73,745 

See accompanying notes to proforma consolidated financial statements
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Year ended December 31, 2018 
(Unaudited) 

WPT 
Industrial 

Real Estate 
Investment 

Trust

Combined 
U.S. 

Portfolio Notes
Pro forma 

adjustments Total

Investment properties revenue $ 92,454 $ 51,440 $                - $      143,894 

Management fee revenue 2,790   -     -   2,790 

95,244 51,440 - 146,684 

Expenses (income): 

Investment properties operating  
expenses

24,127 17,155 - 41,282 

Fair value adjustment to  
investment properties

(24,280) (60,881) - (85,161) 

Fair value adjustment to  
investment properties - IFRIC 21

511 257 - 768 

General and administrative 10,571 - - 10,571 

Transaction costs related to  
internalization

8,560 - - 8,560 

Amortization of intangible assets 1,565 - - 1,565 

Fair value adjustment to Class B  
Units

677 - - 677 

Fair value adjustment to derivative  
instruments

2,770 - - 2,770 

Finance costs 20,703   30,902   5(f)   (12,602)   39,003 

Net income and comprehensive income  
before income taxes

50,040 64,007 12,602 126,649 

Deferred income tax recovery 606 - - 606 

Net income and comprehensive  
income 

$ 50,646 $ 64,007       $      12,602   $      127,255 

See accompanying notes to proforma consolidated financial statements.
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1. General information:

WPT Industrial Real Estate Investment Trust (the "REIT") is an unincorporated, open-ended real 

estate investment trust established pursuant to a Declaration of Trust dated March 4, 2013, under 

the laws of the Province of Ontario as amended and restated on April 26, 2013.  

The REIT was formed for the purpose of acquiring, developing, and owning primarily industrial 

investment properties, located in the United States, with a particular focus on warehouse and 

distribution investment properties.  

The REIT’s units are listed and publicly traded in Canada on the Toronto Stock Exchange ("TSX"), 

under the symbol “WIR.U” in U.S. dollars and under the symbol “WIR.UN” in Canadian dollar, and 

in the U.S. on the OTCQX marketplace under the symbol “WPTIF” in U.S. dollar. The registered 

office of the REIT is at 199 Bay Street, Suite 4000, Toronto, Ontario.  

As at September 30, 2019, the REIT owned a portfolio of investment properties comprised of 73 

industrial properties, one office property, and two industrial properties through an equity accounted 

joint venture, located in 18 states in the U.S. and is the developer and manager of three industrial 

properties.  

2. Basis of presentation: 

The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management 

for incorporation into the offering of 16,728,400 subscription receipts, relating to the anticipated 

acquisition of 26 industrial properties and one land parcel located throughout the United States (the 

“Acquisition Properties”), within BPP Pristine U.S. LLC (the “BPP Pristine U.S.”) from BPP Pristine 

U.S. Parent LLC, Blackstone Property Partners (Supplemental Account) C L.P., Blackstone Pristine 

Property Co-Investment Partners L.P.  and PIRET US IC Debt Holder LLC (collectively the 

“Vendors”), pursuant to which the REIT will indirectly acquire (i) all of the issued and outstanding 

membership interest in BPP Pristine U.S. and (ii) certain intercompany loans made by the Vendors 

to PIRET USA Inc.  PIRET USA Inc. is the wholly owned subsidiary of BPP Pristine U.S., and wholly 

owns all of the Acquisition Properties.  The intercompany loan receivables are expected to be 

redeemed against the underlying intercompany loans at PIRET USA Inc. at the time of the 

acquisition.  
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The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements have been prepared from the financial 

statements of both the REIT and BPP Pristine U.S. as at and for the nine month period ended 

September 30, 2019. The pro forma consolidated balance sheet gives effect to the acquisition as if 

it had occurred on September 30, 2019. The pro forma consolidated statements of net income and 

comprehensive income give effect to the acquisition as if it had occurred on January 1, 2019.   

For the unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 

December 31, 2018, management relied on combined carve-out financial statements from the 

dates that these properties were acquired and operated together as a business, including (i) the 

period from January 1, 2018 through May 24, 2018, when the Acquired Properties were owned by 

Pure Industrial Real Estate Investment Trust and (ii) from May 25, 2018 to December 31, 2018 

when BPP Pristine U.S. acquired the Acquisition Portfolio from Pure Industrial Real Estate 

Investment Trust (the “Combined U.S. Portfolio”).   

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of BPP Pristine U.S. and 

its subsidiaries including PIRET USA Inc.  Both BPP Pristine U.S. and PIRET USA Inc. are 

expected to have elected to be taxed as REITs for U.S. income tax purposes prior to the acquisition. 

(a) Statement of compliance: 

The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements have been prepared by 

management of the REIT on a consistent basis with the accounting policies disclosed in note 

3 of the REIT’s consolidated financial statements.  The unaudited pro forma consolidated 

financial statements incorporate the principal accounting policies used to prepare the REIT’s 

financial statements. The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements are not 

necessarily indicative of the results that would have actually occurred had the transactions been 

consummated at the dates indicated, nor are they necessarily indicative of future operating 

results or the financial position of the REIT. 

(b) Basis of measurement  

The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical 

cost basis except for investment properties and certain financial instruments which are 

recorded at fair value in accordance with the REIT’s accounting policies set forth in Note 3.  
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The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of U.S. 

dollars, unless otherwise noted, which is the functional currency of the REIT and its 

subsidiaries.  

(c) Judgements and estimates 

In the application of the REIT’s accounting policies, management is required to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and 

the amounts reported in these unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements and 

related notes to the unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements. The estimates and 

associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 

considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and 

underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are 

accounted for prospectively.  

Judgements are made in the selection and assessment of the REIT’s accounting policies. 

Estimates are used mainly in determining the measurement of recognized transactions and 

balances. Estimates are based on historical experience and other factors, including 

expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

Judgement and estimates are often interrelated. Judgements and estimates are continually re-

evaluated to ensure they remain appropriate. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized 

in the period in which the estimates are revised and in future periods affected.    

3. Significant accounting policies 

The accounting policies used in the preparation of the unaudited pro forma consolidated financial 

statements are consistent with those described in Notes 2 and 3 to the audited consolidated 

financial statements of the REIT as at and for the year ended December 31, 2018 and Note 2 to 

the unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements of the REIT as at for the nine 

months ended September 30, 2019. The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements 

have been compiled from, and should be read in conjunction with, these financial statements. 
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4. Revenues 

There was one tenant that accounted for 14.6% and 16.6% of the proforma investment property 

revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and year ended December 31, 2018, 

respectively. 

5. Pro forma adjustments: 

On January 31, 2020, the REIT entered into a purchase and sale agreement to acquire the BPP 

Pristine U.S. Portfolio with closing anticipated on or around March 31, 2020, for a purchase price 

of $730,000 (exclusive of closing and transaction costs). The acquisition will be funded by the 

proceeds from an offering of 16,728,400 subscription receipts of the REIT at a price of $14.35 per 

unit for proceeds of $231,930 (inclusive of underwriter fees of $8,122 and estimated offering 

expenses of $852), the assumption of mortgage debt and proceeds from the REIT’s unsecured 

credit facility (the “Credit Facility”).  

a. Investment Properties: 

The REIT adjusted the acquired investment properties to the total purchase price of 

$730,000 which represent the total purchase price of the BPP Pristine U.S. adjusted for 

the step up in value of the acquired properties from their carrying value (exclusive of 

estimated closing and transaction costs of approximately $18,790).  The REIT has 

identified possible capital expenditure totaling approximately $10,017 that would need to 

be addressed following the acquisition.  The REIT intends to fund these costs through 

draws on the Credit Facility as they occur. All other future capital expenditure requirements 

are expected to be funded from cash flow from operations and draws on the Credit Facility. 

b. Right-of-use asset: 

At the time of acquisition, the REIT will measure its right-of-use assets at an amount equal 

to the lease liability. The REIT adjusted the right-of-use asset to match the lease liability 

recorded. The REIT does not anticipate any material changes to the remaining lease 

liability as at the acquisition date. 
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c. Working capital: 

Adjustments for the various assets acquired and liabilities assumed, which are not 

expected to be acquired as part of the acquisition.  No adjustments were made to security 

deposits which are required to be maintained throughout the term of existing leases. The 

REIT expects to record certain assets acquired and liabilities assumed on a pro-rata basis 

for timing differences from on-going operating activity at the time of the acquisition. 

d. Debt: 

As part of the acquisition, the REIT assumed approximately $58,215 in mortgages payable, 

with $713 recorded under current liabilities.  The remaining mortgages payable were 

adjusted from the statement of financial position.   

To partially fund the acquisition, the REIT is estimating to draw $453,800 (inclusive of 

estimated transaction and closing costs of approximately $9,816) against the Credit 

Facility.  The bank indebtedness has been adjusted on the statement of financial position 

to reflect the REIT’s use of funds for the acquisition.  

e. Equity: 

The REIT adjusted equity for proceeds from an offering of 16,728,400 subscription receipts 

at a price of $14.35 per unit for proceeds of $231,930 (inclusive of underwriter fees of 

$8,122 and estimated offering expenses of $852).  Equity was also adjusted to remove the 

equity from the previous owners totaling $226,807.  The REIT also adjusted distributions 

payable to account for the subscription receipts on the statement of financial position. 

f. Finance costs: 

Finance costs have been adjusted by $7,480 and $12,602 for the nine months ended 

September 30, 2019 and the year ended December 31, 2018, respectively, to reflect the 

unaudited pro forma debt balances described in 5(d) above.  Finance costs were calculated 

using the REIT’s average borrowing rates of 3.82% and 3.52% for the nine months ended 

September 30, 2019 and the year ended December 31, 2018, respectively.  
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g. Transaction costs: 

Transaction costs have been reduced by $433 for the nine months ended September 30, 

2019.  The transaction costs were related to the Vendor’s acquisition of the Acquisition 

Properties in 2018.  
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Short Form Base Shelf Prospectus 

No securities regulatory authority has expressed an opinion about these securities and it is an offence to claim otherwise.  

This short form prospectus constitutes a public offering of these securities only in those jurisdictions where they may be lawfully offered for sale and therein only by 
persons permitted to sell such securities. These securities have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “U.S. 
Securities Act”) or the securities laws of any state of the United States. Accordingly, these securities may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the 
account or benefit of any, U.S. persons (as such term is defined in Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act), except pursuant to transactions exempt from registration 
under the U.S. Securities Act and applicable state securities laws. This short form prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy any of 
these securities within the United States. See “Plan of Distribution”.  

Information has been incorporated by reference in this prospectus from documents filed with securities commissions or similar authorities in Canada. Copies of the 
documents incorporated herein by reference may be obtained on request without charge from the secretary of WPT Industrial Real Estate Investment Trust at its head 
offices located at 199 Bay Street, Suite 4000, Toronto, ON, M5L 1A9, Canada, telephone (612) 800-8503, Attention: Chief Operating Officer, General Counsel & 
Secretary and are also available electronically at www.sedar.com (“SEDAR”). 

SHORT FORM BASE SHELF PROSPECTUS 

New Issue and Secondary Offering December 5, 2019 

 

WPT INDUSTRIAL REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST 

US$1,000,000,000 

Trust Units  
Debt Securities 

Subscription Receipts 
Warrants 

 Units 

WPT Industrial Real Estate Investment Trust (the “REIT”) may from time to time offer and issue the following securities: (i) trust units of 
the REIT (“Trust Units”); (ii) senior or subordinated unsecured debt securities of the REIT (collectively, “Debt Securities”); (iii) 
subscription receipts (“Subscription Receipts”); (iv) warrants (“Warrants”); and (v) securities comprised of more than one of Trust Units, 
Debt Securities, Subscription Receipts and/or Warrants, offered together as a unit (“Units” and, collectively with Trust Units, Debt 
Securities, Subscription Receipts and Warrants, the “Securities”), or any combination thereof, having an offer price of up to 
US$1,000,000,000 in aggregate (or the equivalent thereof, at the date of issue, in any other currency or currencies, as the case may be) at 
any time during the 25-month period that this short form base shelf prospectus (including any amendments hereto, the “Prospectus”) 
remains valid.  The Securities offered hereby may be offered separately or together, in separate series, in amounts, at prices and on terms 
to be set forth in one or more prospectus supplements (each a “Prospectus Supplement”). Certain current or future holders of Trust Units 
(the “Selling Unitholders”) may also offer and sell Trust Units pursuant to this Prospectus.  

The material specific terms of any offering of Securities will be set forth in the applicable Prospectus Supplement and may include, without 
limitation, where applicable: (i) in the case of Trust Units, the person offering the Trust Units (the REIT and/or the Selling Unitholder(s)), 
the number of Trust Units being offered and the offering price; (ii) in the case of Debt Securities, the specific designation of the Debt 
Securities, aggregate principal amount of the Debt Securities being offered, the currency or the currency unit for which the Debt Securities 
may be purchased, the maturity date, interest provisions, authorized denominations, covenants, events of default, any terms for redemption 
at the option of the REIT or the holder, any exchange or conversion terms, and any other material specific terms; (iii) in the case of 
Subscription Receipts, the number of Subscription Receipts being offered, the offering price, the terms, conditions and procedures for the 
exchange of the Subscription Receipts into or for Securities or other securities and any other material specific terms; (iv) in the case of 
Warrants, the number of such Warrants offered, the offering price, the terms, conditions and procedures for the exercise of such Warrants 
into or for Securities or other securities, and any other material specific terms; and (v) in the case of Units, the number of Units being 
offered, the offering price, the terms of the Securities comprising the Units, and any other material specific terms. A Prospectus Supplement 
may include specific variable terms pertaining to the Securities that are not within the alternatives and parameters described in this 
Prospectus. 

All shelf information permitted under applicable securities legislation to be omitted from this Prospectus will be contained in one or more 
Prospectus Supplements that will be delivered to purchasers together with this Prospectus, unless an exemption from the prospectus delivery 
requirements has been granted. Each Prospectus Supplement will be incorporated by reference into this Prospectus as of the date of such 
Prospectus Supplement and only for the purposes of the offering of the Securities covered by that Prospectus Supplement. 
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This Prospectus does not qualify for issuance Debt Securities, or Securities convertible or exchangeable into, or exercisable for, Debt 
Securities, in respect of which the payment of principal and/or interest may be determined, in whole or in part, by reference to one or 
more underlying interests including, for example, an equity or debt security, a statistical measure of economic or financial performance 
including, but not limited to, any currency, consumer price or mortgage index, or the price or value of one or more commodities, indices 
or other items, or any other item or formula, or any combination or basket of the foregoing items. For greater certainty, this Prospectus 
may qualify for issuance Debt Securities, or Securities convertible or exchangeable into, or exercisable for, Debt Securities, (i) in respect 
of which the payment of principal and/or interest may be determined, in whole or in part, by reference to published rates of a central 
banking authority or one or more financial institutions, such as a prime rate or bankers’ acceptance rate, or to recognized market 
benchmark interest rates, and/or (ii) convertible into or exchangeable for other Securities. 

The Securities may be sold to or through underwriters or dealers purchasing as principals, by the REIT or, in the case of the Trust Units, by 
the REIT and/or Selling Unitholder(s), to one or more purchasers directly pursuant to applicable statutory exemptions, or through agents 
designated by the REIT and/or Selling Unitholder(s), as the case may be, from time to time. The Securities may be sold from time to time 
in one or more transactions at fixed prices or not at fixed prices, such as market prices prevailing at the time of sale (including, without 
limitation, sales deemed to be “at-the-market distributions” as defined in National Instrument 44-102 – Shelf Distributions (“NI 44-102”), 
including sales made directly on the TSX or other existing trading markets for the Securities), prices related to such prevailing market prices 
or prices to be negotiated with purchasers, which prices may vary as between purchasers and during the period of distribution of the 
Securities. In the event that the REIT determines to pursue an “at-the-market” offering in Canada, the REIT shall apply for the applicable 
exemptive relief from Canadian securities regulatory authorities. The Prospectus Supplement relating to a particular offering of Securities 
will identify the person offering the Securities (the REIT and/or, in the case of Trust Units, the Selling Unitholder(s)), each underwriter, 
dealer or agent engaged in connection with the offering and sale of the Securities, as well as the method of distribution and the terms of the 
offering of such Securities, including the initial offering price (in the event the offering is a fixed price distribution), the manner of 
determining the offering price(s) (in the event the offering is not a fixed price distribution), the net proceeds to the REIT or, in the case of 
Trust Units, to the REIT and/or Selling Unitholder(s) and, to the extent applicable, any fees, discounts or any other compensation payable 
to underwriters, dealers or agents and any other material terms. See “Plan of Distribution”. 

In connection with any offering of the Securities (unless otherwise specified in the relevant Prospectus Supplement), the underwriters or 
agents may, subject to applicable law, over-allocate or effect transactions that stabilize or otherwise affect the market price of the offered 
Securities at a level other than that which might otherwise prevail on the open market.  Such transactions, if commenced, may be interrupted 
or discontinued at any time. See “Plan of Distribution”. 

The REIT is an unincorporated, open-ended real estate investment trust governed by the laws of the Province of Ontario pursuant to an 
amended and restated declaration of trust dated April 26, 2013, as further amended or amended and restated from time to time (the 
“Declaration of Trust”). The currently issued and outstanding Trust Units are listed and posted for trading on the Toronto Stock Exchange 
(the “TSX”) under the symbol “WIR.U”. The closing price of the Trust Units on the TSX on December 4, 2019, the last trading day prior 
to the filing of this Prospectus, was US$14.17. Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Prospectus Supplement, Debt Securities, 
Warrants, Subscription Receipts and Units will not be listed on any securities exchange. There is no market through which these 
Securities may be sold and purchasers may not be able to resell any Debt Securities, Warrants, Subscription Receipts and Units 
purchased under this Prospectus. This may affect the pricing of these Securities in the secondary market, the transparency and 
availability of trading prices, the liquidity of these Securities, and the extent of issuer regulation. See “Risk Factors”, as well as the 
“Risk Factors” section of the applicable Prospectus Supplement. 

Owning the Securities may subject you to tax consequences both in Canada and the United States. You should read the tax discussion, if 
any, in any applicable Prospectus Supplement. This Prospectus or any applicable Prospectus Supplement may not describe these tax 
consequences fully. A return on a purchaser’s investment in Trust Units is not comparable to the return on an investment in a fixed income 
security. The recovery of a purchaser’s initial investment is at risk, and the anticipated return on a purchaser’s investment is based on many 
performance assumptions. Although the REIT intends to make distributions to holders of Trust Units (each, a “Unitholder”), these 
distributions may be reduced or suspended. The actual amount distributed will depend on numerous factors including the financial 
performance of the REIT’s properties, debt covenants and other contractual obligations, working capital requirements and future capital 
requirements, all of which are subject to a number of risks. The market value of the Trust Units may decline if the REIT is unable to pay or 
reduces its distributions in the future, and that decline may be material. It is important for a purchaser of Trust Units, or securities exercisable 
for, or convertible or exchangeable into Trust Units, to consider the particular risk factors described in the “Risk Factors” section of this 
Prospectus (including the risks identified in the REIT’s documents or portions of documents, that are incorporated by reference into this 
Prospectus, to the extent not superseded) and the risks identified in the applicable Prospectus Supplement, that may affect the REIT and its 
business, the real estate industry and Securities, and therefore the stability of distributions that a purchaser of Trust Units, or securities 
exercisable for, or convertible or exchangeable into Trust Units, receives. 

The REIT’s head and registered office is located at 199 Bay Street, Suite 4000, Toronto, ON, M5L 1A9, Canada.  The REIT is not a trust 
company and is not registered under applicable legislation governing trust companies as it does not carry on or intend to carry on the 
business of a trust company. The Trust Units are not “deposits” within the meaning of the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation Act and 
are not insured under the provisions of that statute or any other legislation. 
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No underwriter or dealer has been involved in the preparation of this Prospectus or performed any review of the contents of this 
Prospectus.  
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GENERAL MATTERS 

In this Prospectus, references to the “REIT” refer to WPT Industrial Real Estate Investment Trust and its subsidiaries 
on a consolidated basis. 

References to U.S. dollars, “$” or “US$” are to U.S. currency and references to Canadian dollars or “Cdn$” are to 
Canadian currency. 

NOTICE CONCERNING FORWARD–LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Prospectus contains “forward-looking information” as defined under Canadian securities laws (collectively, 
“forward-looking statements”) which reflect management’s expectations regarding objectives, plans, goals, strategies, 
future growth, results of operations, performance, business prospects and opportunities of the REIT. The words “plans”, 
“expects”, “does not expect”, “scheduled”, “estimates”, “intends”, “anticipates”, “does not anticipate”, “projects”, “believes”, 
or variations of such words and phrases (including negative variations) or statements to the effect that certain actions, events 
or results “may”, “will”, “could”, “would”, “might”, “occur”, “be achieved”, or “continue” and similar expressions identify 
forward-looking statements. Some of the specific forward‐looking statements in this Prospectus include, but are not limited 
to statements regarding the objectives and strategic focus of the REIT, the REIT's pursuit of acquisition, development and 
investment opportunities, future distributions by the REIT and statements relating to lease terms, termination and future 
maintenance and leasing expenditures. 

Forward‐looking statements are necessarily based on a number of estimates, beliefs and assumptions that are inherently 
subject to significant business, economic and competitive uncertainties and contingencies which could cause actual results to 
differ materially from those that are disclosed in such forward‐looking statements. While considered reasonable by management 
of the REIT as at the date of this Prospectus, any of these estimates, beliefs or assumptions could prove to be inaccurate, and as 
a result, the forward‐looking statements based on those estimates, beliefs or assumptions could be incorrect. The REIT’s 
estimates, beliefs and assumptions, which may prove to be incorrect, include the various estimates, beliefs and assumptions set 
forth herein, and include but are not limited to, the desirability of investment properties in the distribution subsector of the U.S. 
industrial real estate market to investors, including the industrial investment properties in the REIT’s portfolio, key trends and 
continued and increased demand within the industrial investment property real estate market, the future growth potential of the 
REIT and its properties, anticipated amounts of expenses, results of operations, future prospects and opportunities, the 
demographic and industry trends remaining unchanged, no change in legislative or regulatory matters, future levels of 
indebtedness, the tax laws in both Canada and the U.S. as currently in effect remaining unchanged, current levels of volatility in 
the demand for space in the distribution sub‐segment remaining unchanged, the continued availability of capital, the current 
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economic conditions remaining unchanged and increased tenant demand for industrial investment properties and declining 
vacancy rates in the markets in which the REIT’s investment properties are located. 

When relying on forward-looking statements to make decisions, the REIT cautions readers not to place undue 
reliance on these statements, as forward-looking statements involve significant risks and uncertainties and should not be read 
as guarantees of future performance or results, and will not necessarily be accurate indications of whether or not the times at 
or by which such performance or results will be achieved, if achieved at all. A number of factors could cause actual results 
to differ materially from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements, including but not limited to those factors 
discussed or referenced under “Risk Factors”. 

These forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this Prospectus. Except as expressly required by 
applicable law, the REIT assumes no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a 
result of new information, future events or otherwise. All forward-looking statements in this Prospectus are qualified by these 
cautionary statements. 

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 

As at the date hereof, the following documents filed with the securities commissions or similar authorities in each 
of the provinces of Canada are specifically incorporated by reference into and form an integral part of this Prospectus: 

(a) the audited consolidated financial statements of the REIT and accompanying notes for the years ended 
December 31, 2018 and 2017, together with the auditor’s report thereon; 

(b) management’s discussion and analysis of the results of operations and financial condition of the REIT for the 
years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017; 

(c) the unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements of the REIT and accompanying notes for 
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 (“Interim Financial Statements”); 

(d) management’s discussion and analysis of the results of operations and financial condition of the REIT for the 
three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 (“Interim MD&A”); 

(e) the annual information form of the REIT dated March 25, 2019 for the year ended December 31, 2018; 

(f) the management information circular of the REIT dated April 5, 2019 for the annual meeting of Unitholders 
held on May 9, 2019;  

(g) the material change report of the REIT dated April 15, 2019 announcing the completion of the acquisition of 
a portfolio of 13 industrial buildings and three land parcels located in multiple markets in the United States 
(the “Infill Logistics Portfolio”) for a purchase price of US$226 million; and 

(h) the business acquisition report of the REIT dated June 10, 2019 and filed on June 11, 2019, relating to the 
acquisition of the Infill Logistics Portfolio. 

Any documents of the type described in Item 11.1 of Form 44-101F1 — Short Form Prospectus Distributions which 
are filed by the REIT with the securities commissions or similar authorities in the provinces of Canada subsequent to the date 
of this Prospectus and during the term of this Prospectus shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference in this Prospectus. 

Any template version of any “marketing materials” (as such term is defined in National Instrument 44-101 Short 
Form Prospectus Distributions (“NI 44-101”)) filed after the date of a Prospectus Supplement and before the termination of 
the distribution of the Securities offered pursuant to such Prospectus Supplement (together with this Prospectus) is deemed 
to be incorporated by reference in such Prospectus Supplement. 

A Prospectus Supplement containing the specific terms in respect of any Securities and the offering thereof will be 
delivered (except in cases where an exemption from such delivery requirements has been obtained), together with this 
Prospectus, to purchasers of such Securities and will be deemed to be incorporated into this Prospectus for the purposes of 
securities legislation as of the date of the Prospectus Supplement, but only for the purposes of the distribution of the Securities 
to which such Prospectus Supplement pertains. 
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Any statement contained herein or in a document (or part of a document) incorporated or deemed to be 
incorporated by reference herein shall be deemed to be modified or superseded, for the purposes of this Prospectus, 
to the extent that a statement contained herein or in any other currently or subsequently filed document (or part of a 
document) which also is, or is deemed to be, incorporated by reference herein modifies or supersedes such statement. 
The modifying or superseding statement need not state that it has modified or superseded a prior statement or include 
any other information set forth in the document that it modifies or supersedes. The making of a modifying or 
superseding statement shall not be deemed an admission for any purposes that the modified or superseded statement, 
when made, constituted a misrepresentation, an untrue statement of a material fact or an omission to state a material 
fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to make a statement not misleading in light of the circumstances 
in which it was made. Any statement so modified or superseded shall thereafter neither constitute, nor be deemed to 
constitute, a part of this Prospectus, except as so modified or superseded. 

Upon a new interim financial report and related management’s discussion and analysis of the REIT being filed with 
the applicable securities regulatory authorities during the currency of this Prospectus, the previous interim financial report 
and related management’s discussion and analysis of the REIT most recently filed shall be deemed no longer to be 
incorporated by reference into this Prospectus for purposes of future offers and sales of Securities hereunder. Upon new 
annual financial statements and related management’s discussion and analysis of the REIT being filed with the applicable 
securities regulatory authorities during the currency of this Prospectus, the previous annual financial statements and related 
management’s discussion and analysis of the REIT and the previous interim financial report and related management’s 
discussion and analysis of the REIT most recently filed shall be deemed no longer to be incorporated by reference into this 
Prospectus for purposes of future offers and sales of Securities hereunder. Upon a new annual information form of the REIT 
being filed with the applicable securities regulatory authorities during the currency of this Prospectus, notwithstanding 
anything herein to the contrary, the following documents shall be deemed no longer to be incorporated by reference into this 
Prospectus for purposes of future offers and sales of Securities hereunder: (i) the previous annual information form; (ii) 
material change reports filed by the REIT prior to the end of the financial year in respect of which the new annual information 
form is filed; (iii) business acquisition reports filed by the REIT for acquisitions completed prior to the beginning of the 
financial year in respect of which the new annual information form is filed; and (iv) any information circular of the REIT 
filed prior to the beginning of the REIT’s financial year in respect of which the new annual information form is filed. Upon 
a new management information circular prepared in connection with an annual general meeting of the REIT being filed with 
the applicable securities regulatory authorities during the currency of this Prospectus, the previous management information 
circular prepared in connection with an annual general meeting of the REIT shall be deemed no longer to be incorporated by 
reference into this Prospectus for purposes of future offers and sales of Securities hereunder. 

CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION OF THE REIT 

Since September 30, 2019, being the date of the REIT’s most recently completed financial statements, there have 
been no material changes in the capitalization of the REIT except as disclosed in the table below.  

The following table sets forth, as at September 30, 2019, (i) the consolidated capitalization of the REIT and (ii) the pro 
forma consolidated capitalization of the REIT after giving effect to changes in indebtedness and the issuance of Trust Units to a 
syndicate of underwriters on a bought deal basis.   

 
As at September 30, 2019 

(US$000s) 

As at September 30, 2019 
(unaudited—pro forma adjustments) 

(US$000s) 
Indebtedness   
Mortgages Payable  $313,066 $313,066 

Revolving Facility $179,746 $98,746 (2) 
Term Loans $273,220 $273,220 
Class B Units(1) $24,350 $24,350 
   

Unitholders’ Equity $748,054 $841,394(3) 
Units 57,292,838 64,376,838(3) 

(Authorized — unlimited)   
   

Total Capitalization ..........................  $1,538,436 $1,550,776 
____________________ 
Notes: 
(1) Class B limited partnership units of the Partnership (“Class B Units”), each Class B Unit exchangeable for Units on a one for one basis. 
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(2)  US$98,746,000 outstanding, including US$1,254,000 of deferred financing costs.  The difference from the as reported numbers at September 30, 2019 
is due to a pay down on the facility of US$81,000,000. 

(3) The difference from the as reported numbers at September 30, 2019 is due to the issuance of 6,160,000 Trust Units at a price of US$13.80 per Trust 
Unit to a syndicate of underwriters on a bought deal basis for net cash proceeds to the REIT of approximately US$81,158,000 on October 29, 2019 
and the exercise in full of the over-allotment option in connection therewith resulting in the issuance of 924,000 Units at a price of US$13.80 per Trust 
for net cash proceeds to the REIT of approximately US$12,183,000 on November 27, 2019.  

BUSINESS OF THE REIT 

The REIT is an unincorporated, open-ended real estate investment trust established pursuant to a declaration of trust 
under the laws of the Province of Ontario. The REIT acquires, develops, manages and owns industrial properties located in the 
United States, with a particular focus on warehouse and distribution industrial real estate. WPT Industrial, LP (the “Partnership”), 
the REIT’s primary operating subsidiary, indirectly owns a portfolio of properties across 18 states in the United States consisting 
of approximately 23.1 million square feet of gross leasable area, comprised of 75 industrial properties and one office property. 

The objectives of the REIT are to: (i) provide Unitholders with an opportunity to invest in a portfolio of institutional-
quality industrial properties in U.S. markets, with a particular focus on warehouse and distribution industrial real estate; (ii) 
provide Unitholders with predictable, sustainable and growing cash distributions on a tax-efficient basis; (iii) enhance the 
value of the REIT’s portfolio and maximize the long-term value of the Trust Units through the active management of the 
REIT’s investment properties; (iv) significantly expand and diversify the asset base of the REIT through strategic acquisitions 
and development of stabilized, high quality and well-located industrial properties located in U.S. markets; and (v) increase 
Unitholder value and returns through leverage gained from management and performance fees generated from third-party 
assets under management. 

Further information regarding the REIT and its business is set out in the materials incorporated by reference in this 
Prospectus. 

The REIT evaluates business and growth opportunities and continues to consider a number of acquisition, investment 
and disposition opportunities and joint venture arrangement to achieve its business and growth strategies. In the normal 
course, the REIT may have outstanding non-binding letters of intent and/or conditional agreements or may otherwise be 
engaged in discussions with respect to potential acquisitions and financing of new assets, the refinancing of existing assets, 
potential dispositions, establishment of new joint venture arrangements, the viability and status of its joint venture 
arrangements, and changes to its capital structure, each of which, individually or in the aggregate, may or may not be material. 
However, there can be no assurance that any of these discussions will result in a definitive agreement and, if they do, what 
the terms or timing of any acquisition, investment or disposition would be or that such acquisition, investment or disposition 
will be completed by the REIT. The REIT expects to continue to actively pursue acquisition and investment opportunities 
during the period that this Prospectus remains valid. 

DESCRIPTION OF TRUST UNITS 

For a description of the general terms and provisions of the Trust Units, see the description thereof in the REIT’s 
current annual information form incorporated by reference into this Prospectus.   

The REIT currently pays cash distributions on the Trust Units on a monthly basis on or about the last day of each 
month, but such distributions are determined by the REIT’s trustees in their discretion. 

The REIT has adopted a distribution policy, as permitted under its Declaration of Trust, pursuant to which the REIT 
makes pro rata monthly cash distributions to Unitholders and, through a subsidiary limited partnership of the REIT, to holders 
of class B limited partnership units of such limited partnership, if any. Pursuant to the Declaration of Trust, the REIT’s 
trustees have full discretion respecting the timing and amounts of distributions including the adoption, amendment or 
revocation of any distribution policy. 

DESCRIPTION OF DEBT SECURITIES 

The following sets forth certain general terms and provisions of the Debt Securities. The particular terms and 
provisions of Debt Securities offered pursuant to a Prospectus Supplement, and the extent to which the general terms and 
provisions described below may apply to such Debt Securities, will be described in such Prospectus Supplement. The 
following description and any description of Debt Securities in the applicable Prospectus Supplement does not purport to be 
complete and is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference to the applicable indenture and, if applicable, collateral 
arrangements relating to such Debt Securities. 
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The Debt Securities will be direct unsecured obligations of the REIT and will be senior or subordinated indebtedness 
of the REIT, as described in the relevant Prospectus Supplement. The senior Debt Securities will rank equal in right of payment 
to all other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness of the REIT. The subordinated Debt Securities will be subordinated in 
right of payment to the prior payment in full of the senior Debt Securities and all other senior indebtedness of the REIT.  

The Debt Securities will be issued under one or more indentures between the REIT and a financial institution to 
which the Trust and Loan Companies Act (Canada) applies or a financial institution organized under the laws of any province 
of Canada and authorized to carry on business as a trustee under applicable provincial legislation and one or more other 
trustees or co-trustees (each, a “Debenture Trustee”), as supplemented and amended from time to time (each a “Trust 
Indenture” and, collectively, the “Trust Indentures”). The statements made hereunder relating to any Trust Indenture and 
the Debt Securities to be issued thereunder are summaries of certain anticipated provisions thereof and do not purport to be 
complete and are subject to, and are qualified in their entirety by reference to, all provisions of the applicable Trust Indenture. 

Each applicable Prospectus Supplement will set forth the terms and other information with respect to the Debt Securities 
being offered thereby, including without limitation, where applicable: (i) the designation, aggregate principal amount and 
authorized denominations of such Debt Securities; (ii) the currency or currency units for which the Debt Securities may be 
purchased and the currency or currency unit in which the principal and any interest is payable (in either case, if other than 
Canadian dollars); (iii) the percentage of the principal amount at which such Debt Securities will be issued; (iv) the date or dates 
on which such Debt Securities will mature; (v) the rate or rates per annum at which such Debt Securities will bear interest (if 
any), or the method of determination of such rates (if any); (vi) the dates on which such interest will be payable and the record 
dates for such payments; (vii) the Debenture Trustee under the Trust Indenture pursuant to which the Debt Securities are to be 
issued; (viii) any redemption term or terms under which such Debt Securities may be defeased; (ix) whether such Debt Securities 
are to be issued in registered form, “book-entry only” form, bearer form or in the form of temporary or permanent global 
securities and the basis of exchange, transfer and ownership thereof; (x) any exchange or conversion terms; (xi) whether such 
Debt Securities will be subordinated to other liabilities of the REIT; (xii) any sinking or purchase fund provisions; (xiii) any 
material risk factors associated with the Debt Securities; and (xiv) any other material specific terms. 

DESCRIPTION OF SUBSCRIPTION RECEIPTS 

The following sets forth certain general terms and provisions of the Subscription Receipts.  The particular terms and 
provisions of the Subscription Receipts offered pursuant to a Prospectus Supplement, and the extent to which the general 
terms described below apply to those Subscription Receipts, will be described in such Prospectus Supplement.  The following 
description and any description of Subscription Receipts in the applicable Prospectus Supplement does not purport to be 
complete and is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference to the applicable subscription receipt agreement and, if 
applicable, collateral arrangements and depositary arrangements relating to such Subscription Receipts.  

The Subscription Receipts will be issued under one or more subscription receipt agreements. The REIT may issue 
Subscription Receipts that may be exchanged by the holders thereof for Securities or other securities upon the satisfaction of 
certain conditions.  

Each applicable Prospectus Supplement will set forth the terms and other information with respect to the Subscription 
Receipts being offered thereby, including without limitation, where applicable: (i) the number of Subscription Receipts; (ii) the 
price at which the Subscription Receipts will be offered; (iii) conditions to the exchange of Subscription Receipts for Securities 
or other securities and the consequences of such conditions not being satisfied; (iv) the terms and procedures for the exchange 
of the Subscription Receipts into or for Securities or other securities; (v) the number of Securities or other securities that may be 
issued or delivered upon exchange of each Subscription Receipt; (vi) the dates or periods during which the Subscription Receipts 
may be exchanged for Securities or other securities; (vii) whether the Subscription Receipts and underlying Securities or other 
securities will be issued in fully registered or “book-entry only” form; (viii) any other rights, privileges, restrictions and 
conditions attaching to the Subscription Receipts; (ix) any material risk factors associated with the Subscription Receipts and 
underlying Securities or other securities; and (x) any other material specific terms and conditions of the Subscription Receipts.  

DESCRIPTION OF WARRANTS 

The following sets forth certain general terms and provisions of the Warrants.  The particular terms and provisions 
of the Warrants offered pursuant to a Prospectus Supplement, and the extent to which the general terms described below 
apply to those Warrants, will be described in such Prospectus Supplement.  The following description and any description of 
Warrants in the applicable Prospectus Supplement does not purport to be complete and is subject to and qualified in its 
entirety by reference to the applicable warrant agreement and, if applicable, collateral arrangements and depositary 
arrangements relating to such Warrants.  
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Each series of Warrants will be issued under a separate indenture in each case between the REIT and a warrant agent 
determined by the REIT.  Each applicable Prospectus Supplement will set forth the terms and other information with respect 
to the Warrants being offered thereby, including without limitation, where applicable: (i) the title or designation of the 
Warrants; (ii) the number of Warrants offered and the offering price; (iii) the number of Securities or other securities of the 
REIT purchasable upon exercise of the Warrants and the procedures for exercise; (iv) the exercise price of the Warrants; (v) 
the dates or periods during which the Warrants are exercisable and when they expire; (vi) the designation and terms of any 
other securities with which the Warrants will be offered, if any, and the number of Warrants that will be offered with each 
such security; (vii) the material income tax consequences of owning, holding and disposing of the Warrants; (viii) any 
minimum or maximum amounts of Warrants that may be exercised at any one time; (ix) whether the Warrants will be issued 
in fully registered or “book-entry only” form; (x) any material risk factors associated with the Warrants; and (xi) any other 
material terms and conditions of the Warrants including, without limitation, transferability and adjustment terms and whether 
the Warrants will be listed on a stock exchange. Prior to the exercise of their Warrants, holders of Warrants will not have any 
of the rights of holders of the underlying securities issuable upon exercise of the Warrants. 

DESCRIPTION OF UNITS 

The following sets forth certain general terms and provisions of the Units. The particular terms and provisions of 
the Units offered pursuant to a Prospectus Supplement, and the extent to which the general terms described below apply to 
those Units, will be described in such Prospectus Supplement.  The following description and any description of Units in the 
applicable Prospectus Supplement does not purport to be complete and is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference 
to any agreement, collateral arrangements and depositary arrangements relating to such Units.  

Units are a security comprised of more than one of the other Securities described in this Prospectus offered together 
as a “Unit”. A Unit is typically issued so that the holder thereof is also the holder of each Security included in the Unit.  Thus, 
the holder of a Unit will have the rights and obligations of a holder of each Security comprising the Unit. The unit agreement, 
if any, under which a Unit is issued may provide that the Securities comprising the Unit may not be held or transferred 
separately at any time or at any time before a specified date.  

Each applicable Prospectus Supplement will set forth the terms and other information with respect to the Units being 
offered thereby, including without limitation, where applicable: (i) the designation and terms of the Units and of the Securities 
comprising the Units, including whether and under what circumstances those Securities may be held or transferred separately; 
(ii) any provisions for the issuance, payment, settlement, transfer or exchange of the Units or of the Securities comprising the 
Units; (iii) whether the Units will be issued in fully registered, “book-entry only” or global form; (iv) any material risk factors 
associated with the Units; and (v) any other material terms and conditions of the Units. 

PRIOR SALES 

Prior sales of the Securities will be provided as required in a Prospectus Supplement with respect to the issuance of 
Securities pursuant to such Prospectus Supplement.  

PRICE RANGE AND TRADING VOLUME 

Trading prices and volume of the Securities will be provided, as required, in each Prospectus Supplement to this 
Prospectus.  

EARNINGS COVERAGE RATIOS 

Earnings coverage ratios will be provided as required in the Prospectus Supplement with respect to the issuance of 
Debt Securities pursuant to this Prospectus.  

USE OF PROCEEDS 

The use of proceeds of the sale of Securities will be described in the Prospectus Supplement relating to the specific 
issuance of Securities. The REIT will not receive any proceeds from any sale of Trust Units by the Selling Unitholder(s). 

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION 

The Securities may be sold to or through underwriters or dealers purchasing as principals, by the REIT or, in the case 
of the Trust Units, by the REIT and/or Selling Unitholder(s), to one or more purchasers directly pursuant to applicable statutory 
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exemptions, or through agents designated by the REIT or, in the case of the Trust Units, by the REIT and/or Selling Unitholder(s), 
from time to time. The Securities may be sold from time to time in one or more transactions at fixed prices or not at fixed prices, 
such as market prices prevailing at the time of sale (including, without limitation, sales deemed to be “at-the-market 
distributions” as defined in NI 44-102, including sales made directly on the TSX or other existing trading markets for the 
Securities), prices related to such prevailing market prices or prices to be negotiated with purchasers, which prices may vary as 
between purchasers and during the period of distribution of the Securities. In the event that the REIT determines to pursue an 
“at-the-market” offering in Canada, the REIT shall apply for the applicable exemptive relief from Canadian securities regulatory 
authorities. The Prospectus Supplement relating to a particular offering of Securities will identify the person offering the 
Securities (the REIT and/or, in the case of Trust Units, the Selling Unitholder(s)), each underwriter, dealer or agent engaged in 
connection with the offering and sale of the Securities, as well as the method of distribution and the terms of the offering of such 
Securities, including the initial offering price (in the event the offering is a fixed price distribution), the manner of determining 
the offering price(s) (in the event the offering is not a fixed price distribution), the net proceeds to the REIT or, in the case of 
Trust Units, to the REIT and/or Selling Unitholder(s) and, to the extent applicable, any fees, discounts or any other compensation 
payable to underwriters, dealers or agents and any other material terms. Only underwriters so named in the Prospectus 
Supplement are deemed to be underwriters in connection with the Securities offered thereby. 

If underwriters purchase Securities from the REIT as principal, the Securities will be acquired by the underwriters 
for their own account and may be resold from time to time in one or more transactions, including negotiated transactions, at 
a fixed public offering price or at varying prices determined at the time of sale, at market prices prevailing at the time of sale 
or at prices related to such prevailing market prices. The obligations of the underwriters to purchase such Securities as 
principal will be subject to certain conditions precedent, and the underwriters will be obligated to purchase all the Securities 
offered by the Prospectus Supplement if any of such Securities are purchased.  Any public offering price and any discounts 
or concessions allowed or re-allowed or paid to underwriters, dealers or agents may be changed from time to time. 

The Securities may also be sold (i) directly by the REIT or, in the case of the Trust Units, by the REIT and/or Selling 
Unitholder(s), pursuant to applicable statutory exemptions, at such prices and upon such terms as agreed to by the REIT and/or 
Selling Unitholders(s), as applicable, and the purchaser or (ii) through agents designated by the REIT and/or Selling Unitholders, 
as applicable, from time to time.  Any agent involved in the offering and sale of the Securities in respect of which this Prospectus 
is delivered will be named, and any commissions payable by the REIT and/or the Selling Unitholder(s), as applicable, to such 
agent will be set forth, in the Prospectus Supplement. Unless otherwise indicated in the Prospectus Supplement, any agent would 
be acting on a best efforts basis for the period of its appointment. 

The REIT and/or the Selling Unitholder(s), as applicable, may agree to pay the underwriters a commission for 
various services relating to the issue and sale of any Securities offered hereby.  Any such commission will be paid out of the 
general funds of the REIT.  Underwriters, dealers and agents who participate in the distribution of the Securities may be 
entitled under agreements to be entered into with the REIT and/or the Selling Unitholder(s) to indemnification by the REIT 
against certain liabilities, including liabilities under securities legislation, or to contribution with respect to payments which 
such underwriters, dealers or agents may be required to make in respect thereof. 

Any initial offering of Debt Securities, Warrants, Subscription Receipts or Units will be a new issue of securities 
with no established trading market. Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Prospectus Supplement, Debt Securities, 
Warrants, Subscription Receipts or Warrants will not be listed on any securities exchange. Certain dealers may make a market 
in these Securities, but will not be obligated to do so and may discontinue any market making at any time without notice. No 
assurance can be given that any dealer will make a market in these Securities or as to the liquidity of the trading market, if 
any, for these Securities. 

In connection with any offering of the Securities (unless otherwise specified in a Prospectus Supplement), the 
underwriters or agents subject to applicable law, over-allocate or effect transactions that stabilize or otherwise affect the 
market price of the offered Securities at a level other than that which might otherwise prevail on the open market.  Such 
transactions, if commenced, may be interrupted or discontinued at any time. 

SELLING UNITHOLDERS 

Trust Units may be sold under this Prospectus by way of secondary offering by one or more Selling Unitholders. The 
Prospectus Supplement for or including any offering of Trust Units by one or more Selling Unitholders will include the following 
information, to the extent required by applicable securities laws:  

• the names of the Selling Unitholder(s);  
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• the number or amount of Trust Units owned, controlled or directed by each Selling Unitholder;  

• the number or amount of Trust Units being distributed for the account of each Selling Unitholder;  

• the number or amount of Trust Units to be owned by the Selling Unitholder(s) after the distribution and the 
percentage that number or amount represents of the total number of outstanding Trust Units;  

• whether the Trust Units are owned by the Selling Unitholder(s) both of record and beneficially, of record only, 
or beneficially only;  

• the date or dates the Selling Unitholder(s) acquired the Trust Units;  

• if the Selling Unitholder(s) acquired any Trust Units in the 12 months preceding the date of the applicable 
Prospectus Supplement, the cost thereof to the securityholder in the aggregate and on an average cost per 
security basis;  

• if the Selling Unitholder is an associate or affiliate of another person or company named as a principal holder 
of voting securities in the REIT’s information circular, the material facts of the relationship; and 

• if the Selling Unitholder resides outside of Canada or is incorporated, continued or otherwise organized under 
the laws of a foreign jurisdiction, the disclosure required by Item 1.11 of Form 44-101F1 – Short Form 
Prospectus will be included in the applicable Prospectus Supplement and the Selling Unitholder will file a non-
issuer’s submission to jurisdiction form with the applicable Prospectus Supplement. 

CERTAIN INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS 

The applicable Prospectus Supplement may describe certain Canadian federal income tax considerations generally 
applicable to investors described therein of purchasing, holding and disposing of applicable Securities, including, in the case of 
an investor who is not a resident of Canada, Canadian non-resident withholding tax considerations. 

The applicable Prospectus Supplement may also describe certain U.S. federal income tax considerations generally 
applicable to the purchase, holding and disposition of the applicable Securities by an investor who is a United States person, 
including, to the extent applicable, certain relevant U.S. federal income tax rules pertaining to capital gains and ordinary 
income treatment, whether or not the issuer will be considered a passive foreign investment company (and if so, the tax 
consequences to a United States securityholder), backup withholding and the foreign tax credit, and any consequences relating 
to securities payable in a currency other than U.S. dollars, issued at an original discount for U.S. federal income tax purposes 
or containing early redemption provisions or other special terms. 

RISK FACTORS 

Prospective investors in a particular offering of the Securities should carefully consider the risk listed below, in 
addition to information contained in the Prospectus Supplement relating to that offering and the information incorporated by 
reference herein for the purposes of that offering, including the risks identified in the REIT’s then-current annual information 
form, as well as the REIT’s then-current annual management’s discussion and analysis and interim management’s discussion 
and analysis, if applicable. 

No Market for the Securities 

There is currently no trading market for any Debt Securities, Warrants, Subscription Receipts or Units that may be 
offered. No assurance can be given that an active or liquid trading market for these securities will develop or be sustained. If 
an active or liquid market for these Securities fails to develop or be sustained, the prices at which these Securities trade may 
be adversely affected. Whether or not these Securities will trade at lower prices depends on many factors, including liquidity 
of these Securities, prevailing interest rates and the markets for similar securities, the market price of the Trust Units, general 
economic conditions and the REIT’s financial condition, historic financial performance and future prospects. 
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ENFORCEMENT OF JUDGMENTS AGAINST FOREIGN PERSONS OR COMPANIES 

Each of Scott T. Frederiksen, the REIT’s Chief Executive Officer and a Trustee, Judd K. Gilats, the REIT’s Chief 
Financial Officer, and Milo D. Arkema, a Trustee, resides outside of Canada. Each of Scott T. Frederiksen, Judd K. Gilats, 
and Milo D. Arkema has appointed Blakes Extra-Provincial Services Inc., 199 Bay Street, Suite 4000, Toronto, ON, M5L 
1A9, Canada, as their agent for service of process.  

Purchasers are advised that it may not be possible for investors to enforce judgments obtained in Canada against any 
person or company that is incorporated, continued or otherwise organized under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction or resides 
outside of Canada, even if the party has appointed an agent for service of process. 

AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR 

The REIT’s auditor is KPMG LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, in Toronto, Ontario. KPMG LLP has 
confirmed that they are independent with respect to the REIT within the meaning of the relevant rules and related 
interpretations prescribed by the relevant professional bodies in Canada and any application legislation or regulations. 

The Infill Logistics Portfolio’s auditor is KPMG LLP, in Minneapolis, Minnesota. KPMG LLP has confirmed that 
they are independent with respect to the Infill Logistics Portfolio within the meaning of the relevant rules and related 
interpretations prescribed by the relevant professional bodies in Canada and any application legislation or regulations. 

The transfer agent and registrar for the Trust Units is Computershare Investor Services Inc. at its principal office 
located in Toronto, Ontario. 

  EXEMPTIONS 

Pursuant to a decision of the Autorité des marchés financiers dated November 20, 2019, we were granted relief from 
the requirement that the Interim Financial Statements and the Interim MD&A, which are incorporated by reference in the 
preliminary Prospectus, be in both the French and English languages. This relief was conditional upon us filing French 
versions of these documents no later than the date of filing the final Prospectus. 

PURCHASERS’ STATUTORY RIGHTS 

Securities legislation in certain of the provinces of Canada provides purchasers with the right to withdraw from an 
agreement to purchase securities. This right may be exercised within two business days after receipt or deemed receipt of a 
prospectus and any amendment. In several of the provinces, the securities legislation further provides a purchaser with remedies 
for rescission or, in some jurisdictions, revisions of the price or damages if the prospectus and any amendment contains a 
misrepresentation or is not delivered to the purchaser, provided that the remedies for rescission, revisions of the price or damages 
are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province. The 
purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province for the particulars of 
these rights or consult with a legal adviser.  

In addition, original Canadian purchasers of Subscription Receipts, Warrants (unless the Warrants are reasonably 
regarded by the REIT as incidental to the applicable offering as a whole) or convertible or exchangeable Debt Securities (or 
Securities comprised partly thereof) will have a contractual right of rescission against the REIT in respect of the conversion, 
exchange or exercise of the Subscription Receipt, Warrant or the convertible or exchangeable Debt Security. The contractual 
right of rescission will be further described in any applicable Prospectus Supplement, but will, in general, entitle such original 
purchasers to receive the amount paid for, including the amount paid, if any, upon conversion, exchange or exercise of, the 
applicable convertible, exchangeable or exercisable security upon surrender of the underlying securities acquired thereby, in 
the event that this Prospectus (as supplemented or amended) contains a misrepresentation, provided that: (i) the conversion, 
exchange or exercise takes place within 180 days of the date of the purchase of the convertible, exchangeable or exercisable 
security under this Prospectus; and (ii) the right of rescission is exercised within 180 days of the date of the purchase of the 
convertible, exchangeable or exercisable security under this Prospectus.  

In an offering of Subscription Receipts, Warrants or convertible or exchangeable Debt Securities (or Securities 
comprised partly thereof), investors are cautioned that the statutory right of action for damages for a misrepresentation 
contained in the prospectus is limited, in certain provincial securities legislation, to the price at which Subscription Receipts, 
Warrants or convertible or exchangeable Debt Securities (or Securities comprised partly thereof) are offered to the public 
under the prospectus offering. This means that, under the securities legislation of certain provinces, if the purchaser pays 



 

10 

additional amounts upon the conversion, exchange or exercise of the security, those amounts may not be recoverable under 
the statutory right of action for damages that applies in those provinces. The purchaser should refer to any applicable 
provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province for the particulars of this right of action for damages or 
consult with a legal adviser.



 

C-1 

CERTIFICATE OF THE REIT  

December 5, 2019 

This short form prospectus, together with the documents incorporated in this prospectus by reference, will, as of the 
date of the last supplement to this prospectus relating to the securities offered by this prospectus and the supplement(s), 
constitute full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities offered by this prospectus and the 
supplement(s) as required by the securities legislation of each of the provinces of Canada. 

 

(Signed) Scott T. Frederiksen  (Signed) Judd K. Gilats 
Chief Executive Officer  Chief Financial Officer 

 

On behalf of the Board of Trustees 

 

(Signed) Louie DiNunzio  (Signed) Pamela Spackman 
Trustee  Trustee 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 


